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Financial Highlights
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Net Sales $ 1,994.5 $ 1,894.7 $ 1,762.2 $ 1,417.2 $ 922.1

Net (loss) income  (596.7)  (434.0)  46.8  55.8  15.5

Diluted (loss) EPS $ (11.72) $ (8.77) $ 1.03 $ 1.61 $ 0.48

Diluted EPS, as adjusted  0.02  0.39  1.26  1.83  1.27

Note: See page 9 for reconciliation to U.S. GAAP fi nancial results.

Spectrum Brands is a global consumer products company. 

Our portfolio of leading brands includes products in the 

battery, specialty pet supply, lawn and garden, shaving and 

grooming, personal care, household insect control and 

portable lighting categories. These products are sold by the 

world’s top 25 retailers and are available in more than one 

million retail stores in more than 120 countries around the 

world. Headquartered in Atlanta, we have approximately 

7,100 employees worldwide. Spectrum Brands’ shares trade 

on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol SPC.

Spectrum Brands

Seated (left to right): Tony Genito, Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Offi cer; Kent Hussey, Chief Executive Offi cer. 
Standing (left to right): Dave Lumley, President, Global Batteries & 
Personal Care and Co-Chief Operating Offi cer; Amy Yoder, President, 
United Industries; John Heil, President, Global Pet Supplies and 
Co-Chief Operating Offi cer. 

Corporate and Shareholder Information

Executive Offices
Six Concourse Parkway
Suite 3300
Atlanta, GA 30328
(770) 829-6200

Transfer Agent/Shareholder Services
BNY Shareowner Services is the transfer agent for the 
Company’s common stock and is responsible for maintaining 
shareholder account records. Inquiries regarding account 
records, address changes, stock transfers, lost certifi cates, 
or other related issues should be directed to:

BNY Shareowner Services
480 Washington Blvd.
Jersey City, NJ 07310
(800) 777-3694
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner

Certifications
On May 23, 2007, in accordance with Section 303A.12 
of the Listed Company Manual, our Chief Executive 
Offi cer certifi ed to the New York Stock Exchange that he 
was not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE 
corporate governance listing standards as of such date. 
In addition, on December 14, 2007, our Chief Executive 
Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer each fi led a certifi cation 
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act relating to 
the quality of the Company’s public disclosure as exhibits 
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 
year 2007. 

Forward-Looking Information
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements which 
are subject to change. Actual results could differ materially. 
Risks and uncertainties which could cause results to differ are 
detailed in Item 1A in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended September 30, 2007, and other fi lings 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

Additional Information
Financial and other information about Spectrum Brands, 
including a direct link to the Company’s fi lings with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, is available on 
Spectrum Brands’ website at www.spectrumbrands.com. 
Investors may also request information about Spectrum 
Brands or printed copies of documents at (770) 829-6200 
or at investorrelations@spectrumbrands.com.

Stock Exchange Listing
Spectrum Brands’ common stock is listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “SPC.” The following 
table sets forth the reported high and low prices per share 
of the common stock as reported on the New York Stock 
Exchange composite transactions reporting system for each 
fi scal quarter of 2007 and 2006:

Fiscal 2007   High  Low

Quarter ended September 30, 2007 $ 6.93 $ 3.77
Quarter ended July 1, 2007 $ 8.64 $ 6.26
Quarter ended April 1, 2007 $ 12.50 $ 4.62
Quarter ended December 31, 2006 $ 11.33 $ 7.59

Fiscal 2006   High  Low

Quarter ended September 30, 2006 $ 12.82 $ 6.00
Quarter ended July 2, 2006 $ 21.84 $ 11.85
Quarter ended April 2, 2006 $ 22.42 $ 17.34
Quarter ended January 1, 2006 $ 23.70 $ 16.00

We have not declared or paid, and do not anticipate paying, 
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We intend to 
retain any future earnings for reinvestment in our business. 
In addition, the terms of our credit facility and the indentures 
governing our outstanding senior subordinated notes restrict 
our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders. 

Designed and produced by Corporate Reports Inc./Atlanta     www.corporatereport.com
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A Letter to Our Shareholders
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To Our Shareholders:

My message to you this year is one of confi dence and optimism about 

the future of Spectrum Brands. This sentiment is based on two factors. 

First, we have reinvented the business for profi t and growth. The right 

organizational framework, the right cost structure and the right 

management team are now in place thanks to major restructuring 

initiatives during fi scal 2007. As a result, a more accountable, agile 

and competitive Spectrum has emerged with our businesses better 

positioned to generate profi table growth in the future. The second 

reason for my optimism is based on our businesses and brands 

themselves. Key indicators across all three businesses in all three 

major geographic markets are largely stable and positive – a fi rst 

in quite some time. Though market conditions change constantly, 

our brand fundamentals – from manufacturing and distribution to 

product development and market position – are solid. As a result, 

we are confi dent in the ability of our brands to more fully realize 

their potential going forward. Simply put:  our hard work is working.
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“ Spectrum’s portfolio of brands is better aligned with its customer 

base, competing from a stronger position and operating in a 

more productive way than at any time in recent history.”

Business Structure 
Goals Achieved
As many of you know, Spectrum diversifi ed 

signifi cantly in 2005 by acquiring United 

Industries and Tetra, which added a pet 

supply and a home and garden business 

to our portfolio. These acquisitions repre-

sented the achievement of a key strategic 

milestone, but one that brought with it a 

number of challenges. Since then, a major 

goal has been to develop an organizational 

structure that capitalizes on the unique 

operating attributes of each business in 

the most effi cient manner possible. After 

some missteps during 2006, this goal was 

realized in 2007 with the completion of 

a reorganization plan that established 

three product-focused, free-standing 

business segments: Global Batteries & 

Personal Care, Global Pet Supplies and 

Home & Garden. 

As part of this reorganization, we 

undertook a series of initiatives 

that streamlined management and 

eliminated more than $50 million 

in overhead costs. Executive changes 

were made, as appropriate, to ensure 

that effective leadership was in place in 

key positions. Today, with eleven years 

of personal perspective from within 

the Company, I can assure you that 

Spectrum’s portfolio of brands is better 

aligned with its customer base, competing 

from a stronger position and operating 

in a more productive way than at any time 

in recent history. 

Restructuring Produces 
Positive Results
The effectiveness of our initiatives became 

truly apparent in the second half of fi scal 

2007. After a diffi cult fi rst six months, 

our performance trajectory turned positive 

mid-year. In the fourth quarter, we 

recorded top-line growth in all of our 

businesses across all geographies, with the 

Kent J. Hussey

Chief Executive Offi cer
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“ Debt reduction remains a key priority in order to strengthen our 

capital structure and achieve more fl exibility to invest long-term 

in our businesses.”

SPECTRUM BRANDS |  2007  ANNUAL  REPORT    3

exception of outdoor lawn and garden 

products, which experienced one of the 

worst weather-related seasons in years. 

Equally as important, EBITDA, during 

the second half of fi scal 2007, improved 

by $40 million, or 28 percent, over the 

previous year. This improvement was 

driven by sales volume growth as well 

as the benefi ts from our restructuring 

initiatives. Though full-year results 

(highlighted on the inside front cover 

of this report) were not acceptable, we 

believe results in the second half of the 

year are more indicative of our true busi-

ness potential for the foreseeable future 

and we see many encouraging trends.

After several years of losing market 

share to private label products, our 

European battery business appears to 

be stabilizing, with a cost structure and 

a distribution system better aligned with 

the retail marketplace. In Latin America, 

we remain the market leader in batteries 

with strong double-digit sales growth 

in 2007. And in North America, the 

Rayovac brand is on the move again, 

with numerous exciting marketing ini-

tiatives, including an exclusive three-year 

license with the Walt Disney Company. 

Under this agreement, Rayovac will be 

the exclusive battery sold in all Disney 

parks and resorts, and gains the right 

to use Disney characters on package 

and in advertising, merchandising and 

promotions – a strong validation of 

Rayovac’s quality from one of the world’s 

best-known consumer brands.

Our Global Pet Supplies business 

continues to demonstrate good momen-

tum. Companion pet care product sales 

generated double-digit growth in 2007, 

driven by successful brand extensions 

and increased distribution of key brands. 

Aquatic products continue to enjoy 

strong growth in Europe and Asia. 

Our strategy of expanding our diverse 

portfolio of brands across our existing 

global distribution footprint is working 

well. Remington personal care products 

generated year-over-year sales growth 

of 13 percent in 2007, largely fueled by 

strong sales across Europe and Latin 

America. We also launched a limited 

lineup of companion animal pet supply 

products across our international Tetra 

customer base, mirroring our successful 

Remington strategy, and we expect signif-

icant growth from this initiative in the 

next several years.

Despite a wet spring and dry summer 

that adversely impacted top-line growth, 

operational execution within our Home & 

Garden business improved dramatically 

during fi scal 2007 and, in fact, Spectrum 

Brands was recognized by Lowe’s as the 

most improved vendor in the category for 

the year. We believe we are positioned 

for signifi cant profi tability improvement 

in fi scal 2008 if weather trends return 

to more normal patterns.

 

Capital Structure 
Remains a Priority 
While we are pleased with our progress 

in the marketplace, our signifi cant debt 

level remains a challenge. In March 2007, 

we successfully negotiated a $1.6 billion 

senior credit facility and refi nanced 

$350 million in senior subordinated 

debt. Later in the year we retired $200 

million of senior term debt and closed 

a $225 million asset-based revolving 

credit facility for working capital needs. 

These refi nancing efforts resulted in a 

more fl exible debt structure that we 

believe will meet our liquidity needs for 

the foreseeable future. 

However, our Company is still highly 

leveraged. Debt reduction remains a key 

priority in order to strengthen our capital 

structure and achieve more fl exibility to 

invest long-term in our businesses. 

To this end, we divested the Canadian 

division of our Home & Garden business 

in November and used the proceeds to 

pay down debt. 
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“ After two years of relentless focus on cost control, we plan to be 

a more outwardly-focused company in 2008, with a new emphasis 

on profi table growth.”

In addition, we continue to explore 

options for the sale of our remaining 

Home & Garden business, which is 

accounted for as a discontinued operation. 

While the current state of the credit 

markets is a signifi cant impediment near-

term, we are optimistic that plans to divest 

a strategic asset can be completed success-

fully once credit markets improve.

Working Smarter for 
Profi table Growth
In fi scal 2007, we accomplished our goal 

to reorganize the Spectrum organization 

into three product-focused, free-standing 

business segments: Global Batteries & 

Personal Care, Global Pet Supplies and 

Home & Garden. In 2008, our goal is to 

move forward by implementing smarter 

business practices throughout the 

Company. After two years of relentless 

focus on cost control, we plan to be a more 

outwardly-focused company in 2008, with 

a new emphasis on profi table growth. We 

are implementing an aggressive SKU 

optimization and rationalization program 

to realize further effi ciencies. As part of 

this process, we expect to exit unprofi table 

or marginally profi table contracts or 

relationships that do not meet minimum 

ROI and profi t contribution hurdles. We 

will not rule out exiting part of a business, 

even if it means forsaking revenue, in order 

to enhance overall profi tability. 

Finally, in the midst of all the 

restructuring and reorganization of the 

past two years, it is important for us to 

remember that Spectrum possesses an 

enviable portfolio of brands. These brands 

enjoy high household name recognition, 

compete in large and growing markets, 

command competitive market positions 

and are sold by the world’s most respected 

retailers in more than 120 countries. It 

is a great foundation upon which to build 

a successful future that will reward our 

shareholders. We appreciate your support 

and look forward to sharing this future 

with you as our hard work continues to 

pay off.

Sincerely,

Kent J. Hussey

Chief Executive Offi cer
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Global Batteries
Realizing new effi ciencies

Our battery products span North 

America, Europe and Latin America 

where we are among the top three 

players in each region. In Europe, 

the premium-positioned VARTA is 

the second largest alkaline battery 

brand. In North America, Rayovac 

is the number three brand with a 

well-defi ned value proposition; and 

in Latin America, the Rayovac brand 

dominates the battery market. Our 

product portfolio spans a wide variety 

of consumer batteries including 

alkaline, zinc carbon, hearing aid, 

rechargeable batteries and chargers. 

In addition, Rayovac and VARTA market 

a line of portable lighting products 

such as fl ashlights and lanterns.

Personal Care
Innovating new products

Our Remington brand is one of the 

leading names in electric shaving and 

grooming and personal care products 

including men’s and women’s shavers, 

beard and mustache trimmers, body 

trimmers, nose and ear trimmers, 

hair dryers, straightening irons, styling 

irons and hairsetters. A continuous 

pipeline of innovative new products 

ensures leading market share posi-

tions. In North America, Remington 

is the market leader in grooming 

products and women’s shavers and 

holds the number two position in 

men’s shavers. In Australasia and 

in the U.K., Remington is the market 

leader in grooming products and 

one of the top two hair care brands. 

Global Pet Supplies
Expanding retail distribution

Spectrum is one of the largest players 

in the world in specialty pet supplies, 

historically among the fastest growing 

consumer product categories. In the 

aquatics category, Tetra is the top 

global premium brand name. Tetra 

products include fi sh food and water 

treatments, aquariums, fi lters, heaters, 

pumps and other aquatic supplies. 

Our companion pet products include 

treats, clean up and training aid 

products, health and grooming aids 

and bedding. These are marketed 

under brands such as 8in1, Dingo 

and Nature’s Miracle. Spectrum pet 

supplies enjoy broad distribution 

throughout North America, Europe 

and Japan.

Home & Garden
Focusing on the domestic market

Cutter, Repel, Hot Shot, Spectracide, 

Vigoro, Sta-Green – These are just 

some of the household names in our 

Home & Garden portfolio of branded 

consumer products. Generally, these 

products are used for lawn and plant

growth, weed and insect control and

insect repellent, which combined, repre-

sents an estimated $3 billion market 

in North America. Retail distribution 

includes home improvement centers, 

mass merchandisers, hardware stores, 

grocery stores and drug chains. Within 

these retail locations, Spectrum products 

are typically positioned as the value 

brand and occupy a strong number 

two position in each product category 

in which they compete. 

Business Segments
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Hard at Work: A Conversation with Kent Hussey

You have been with the Company eleven years. 

What fresh thinking do you bring to your new 

role as CEO?

I started with the Company as CFO and then spent 

many years as COO, so I know our Company inside 

and out and understand the issues that each business 

faces. With a fi nance and operations background, 

I bring a fresh focus on profi tability and bottom-line 

performance, not just top-line growth. In terms of 

management philosophy, I am team oriented and place 

a lot of emphasis on hiring the right people and trusting 

them to do their job. My goal is to build a more 

transparent organization with open internal and 

external communication. Finally, my focus is on the 

long term – I fi rmly believe that if you make the right 

long-term decisions, the fi nancial results will take 

care of themselves. 

What has been the biggest challenge to achieving 

the right business organization and cost structure 

for Spectrum?

The operations infrastructure put in place after the 

2005 acquisitions failed to produce the results we 

hoped for. Our organizational structure, designed to 

support all our brands and product categories through 

an integrated matrix system, was ineffi cient. Costs 

simply got ahead of revenues. In fact, after a year of 

signifi cant integration challenges, we came to the 

conclusion that autonomous business organizations 

were actually more effective. While we have a portfolio 

of consumer brands, our products have some fairly 

signifi cant differences. The distribution of fertilizer 

differs materially from the distribution of aquatic 

supplies, for example. On the other hand, batteries 

and electric shavers have quite a few distribution 

synergies. The trick has been to identify and capitalize 

on true efficiencies, while preserving the unique 

attributes of each brand from a competitive perspective. 

Accountability was another important objective. With 

all direct costs to run our businesses embedded in the 

business segments rather than at the corporate level, 

we provide management with vital information to 

measure results, and ultimately to make the right 

decisions to grow and improve profi tability at each 

of our businesses.

Q.

A.

Q.

A.
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Kent J. Hussey 

Chief Executive Offi cer
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What is the trade-off between selling an asset 

with growth potential versus improving your 

capital structure?

The decision to sell a strategic asset is always a diffi cult 

one. Each of our businesses is attractive and each has 

solid growth prospects. However, the reality is that 

Spectrum has a highly leveraged capital structure. It 

is simply not prudent or fair to our businesses to rely 

on a strategy of “growing our way out” of this highly 

leveraged position. If capital constraints prevent 

us from investing in our businesses to realize their 

inherent value, then keeping them all is self-defeating. 

Asset divestiture is a tough choice, but we believe it will 

prove to be the right strategic choice for Spectrum.

While you work to complete a divestiture, does the 

Company have the resources necessary to operate?

We do not view liquidity as an issue for the Company. 

At year-end we had $70 million in cash and an undrawn 

$225 million asset-based revolver facility. In combi-

nation with cash generated from operations, we believe 

we have the resources to operate all of Spectrum’s 

businesses for the foreseeable future without an asset 

sale. The real issue is long-term growth and fiscal 

responsibility. We would prefer to invest in growth 

rather than debt service. And, because markets are 

inevitably cyclical, we believe a more stable capital 

structure positions the Company to better weather 

challenging economic conditions. 

What does it mean to operate Home & Garden 

as a discontinued operation? Does it receive 

less support than your other businesses?

Discontinued operation is a designation made for 

accounting purposes only. Since we continue to market 

Home & Garden in an effort to sell this business, it must 

be accounted for as such. From a business perspective, 

however, Home & Garden has been a great turnaround 

story for us. An entirely new management team was 

put in place in 2007, and did a terrific job working 

out integration issues that plagued the business in 2006. 

On-time and customer fi ll rates, for instance, have 

returned to 95 percent or better. By every operational 

measure, Home & Garden is performing at industry-

standard levels today. Unfortunately, we cannot 

control the weather, which hampered fi nancial 

performance this past season. The investments have 

been made, however, to position Home & Garden as 

a formidable competitor when conditions improve.

Going forward, which metrics will investors fi nd 

most helpful to measure Spectrum’s progress? 

Our view is that investors should pay less attention 

to top-line growth and more attention to segment 

profi tability and adjusted EBITDA. Many of the 

restructuring initiatives undertaken in the past 

two years will continue to show benefi ts in 2008. 

We also have made investments in growing our 

businesses that should begin to accrue to the bottom 

line. Remington, for instance, has spent signifi cantly 

to build distribution in Europe and Latin America. 

In fact, Remington’s sales outside of North America 

have nearly doubled since we bought the brand in 

2003. Over the coming year, we should see more of 

this investment benefi t the bottom line. Our number 

one operating goal is to make Spectrum Brands more 

profi table, and we are in a great position to make this 

a reality in 2008.

Q.

A.

Q.

A.

Q.
A.

Q.
A.
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Board of Directors and Executive Offi cers

Board of Directors 

John D. Bowlin

Chairman of the Board

Former President and Chief Executive Offi cer 

of Miller Brewing Company
(Member of the audit committee and the nominating and corporate 

governance committee)

Kent J. Hussey

Chief Executive Offi cer

Charles A. Brizius

Managing Director of Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P.

William P. Carmichael

Former Senior Managing Director, Succession Fund; 

former Senior Vice President of Sara Lee Corporation
(Chairperson of the audit committee and member of the 
compensation committee)

John S. Lupo

Principal in the consulting fi rm Renaissance Partners, LLC; 

former Executive Vice President, Sales and Marketing,

Bassett Furniture Industries, Inc. 
(Member of the compensation committee and the nominating and 
corporate governance committee)

Scott A. Schoen

Co-President of Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P.

Thomas R. Shepherd

Chairman, TSG Equity Partners, LLC
(Chairperson of the compensation committee and 
member of the audit committee)

Barbara S. Thomas

Former interim CEO, Ocean Spray Company; 

former President, Warner-Lambert Consumer Healthcare
(Chairperson of the nominating and corporate governance committee 
and member of the audit committee)

Executive Officers

Kent J. Hussey

Chief Executive Offi cer

Anthony L. Genito

Executive Vice President and 

Chief Financial Offi cer

David R. Lumley

President, Global Batteries & Personal Care 

and Co-Chief Operating Offi cer

John A. Heil

President, Global Pet Supplies

and Co-Chief Operating Offi cer

Amy J. Yoder

President, United Industries
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Spectrum Brands

2007 Financial Review 

Reconciliation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
Spectrum Brands, Inc. and Subsidiaries

The Company believes adjusting for unusual items in the Company’s results provides useful information regarding the Company’s 
ability to service its indebtedness and facilitates investors’ and analysts’ ability to evaluate the Company’s operations excluding these 
unusual items. However, the following factors should be considered in evaluating such measures: Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share 
(i) should not be considered in isolation, (ii) is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”), (iii) should not be construed as an alternative or a substitute for diluted earnings per share in analyzing 
the Company’s operating performance, (as determined in accordance with GAAP) and (iv) should not be used as an indicator of the 
Company’s operating performance. Additionally, because all companies do not calculate Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share in a 
uniform fashion, the calculations presented herein may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share
Impact of Unusual Items within the Statements of Operations: 

(All information in millions, except per share amounts)    2007  2006  2005  2004  2003

Diluted Net (Loss) Earnings Per Share   $ (11.72) $ (8.77) $ 1.03 $ 1.61 $ 0.48
Unusual Items:
Unusual items within gross profit and operating expenses, net of tax(1) (2) (3)(4)    5.62  8.51  0.61  0.21  0.73
Non-operating expense, net of tax(5)    –  (0.10)   –  –  0.06
Adjustment to deferred tax assets valuation allowance(6)    2.49  0.38  –   –  –
Discontinued operations, net of tax(7)    3.63  0.37  (0.38)   0.10  –

Adjusted Diluted Net Earnings Per Share   $ 0.02 $ 0.39  $ 1.26 $ 1.83  $ 1.27

(1)  The Company recorded restructuring and related charges within gross profit and operating expenses during Fiscal 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
reflecting: (i) a global restructuring announced in January 2007, (ii) the rationalization of manufacturing, packaging and distribution processes, (iii) the 
realignment of manufacturing capacities, (iv) restructuring of the Company’s administrative functions, and (v) acquisition-related inventory valuation 
charges. For more information see Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 16 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2)  In Fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded an impairment charge for certain goodwill and intangible assets written off as a result of the Company’s SFAS 142 
impairment evaluation. For more information see Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 2(i) in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3)  In Fiscal 2007, the Company recognized financing charges associated with a refinancing of the Company’s debt. For more information see Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and Note 7 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4)  In Fiscal 2007, the Company incurred professional and consulting fees in connection with the potential sale of the Company’s Home and Garden business 
discontinued effective October 1, 2006. For more information see Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

(5)  In Fiscal 2006, the Company recorded a gain on the sale of certain manufacturing facilities. In Fiscal 2003, the Company recorded non-operating expenses 
relating to the write-off of debt issuance costs.

(6)  In Fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded a non-cash charge to increase the valuation allowance against certain net deferred tax assets. For more 
information see Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 10 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(7)  For Fiscal 2007, 2006, 2005 and 2004, reflects the respective loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax. For more information see Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 The following selected historical fi nancial data is derived from our audited consolidated fi nancial statements. Only our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 and our Consolidated Statements of Operations, Consolidated Statements of 
Shareholders’ Equity (Defi cit) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 
September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As of October 1, 2005, we began 
reporting the results of operations of Nu-Gro Pro and Tech as discontinued operations. Additionally, we began reporting the results of 
operations of our Home and Garden Business as discontinued operations as of October 1, 2006. Therefore, the presentation of all 
historical continuing operations has been changed to exclude Nu-Gro Pro and Tech and our Home and Garden Business. The following 
selected fi nancial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated fi nancial statements and notes thereto and the information 
contained in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere herein.

 Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

(in millions, except per share data) 2007(1) 2006(2) 2005(3) 2004(4) 2003(5)

Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales $ 1,994.5 $ 1,894.7 $ 1,762.2 $ 1,417.2 $ 922.1
Gross profi t  736.3  707.2  675.3  606.1  351.5
Operating (loss) income(6)  (161.5)  (319.1)  154.1  156.2  59.6
(Loss) income from continuing operations 
 before income taxes  (356.4)  (438.1)  45.1  90.5  23.0
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax(7)  (184.6)  (18.5)  17.2  (0.4)  –
Net (loss) income(8)(9)  (596.7)  (434.0)  46.8  55.8  15.5
Restructuring and related charges – cost of goods sold $ 31.3 $ 22.5 $ 10.5 $ (0.8) $ 21.1
Restructuring and related charges – operating expenses  59.7  12.2  6.2  12.2  11.5
Other (income) expense, net(10)  (0.3)  (3.9)  1.4  –   (0.6)
Interest expense $ 195.2 $ 123.0 $ 107.6 $ 65.7 $ 37.2

Per Share Data:
Net (loss) income per common share:
 Basic  $ (11.72) $ (8.77) $ 1.07 $ 1.67 $ 0.49
 Diluted  (11.72)  (8.77)  1.03  1.61  0.48
Average shares outstanding:
 Basic   50.9  49.5  43.7  33.4  31.8
 Diluted  50.9  49.5  45.6  34.6  32.6

Cash Flow and Related Data:
Net cash (used) provided by operating activities $ (36.0) $ 44.5 $ 216.6 $ 96.1 $ 76.2
Capital expenditures(11)  22.1  54.9  56.7  26.9  26.1
Depreciation and amortization 
 (excluding amortization of debt issuance costs)(11)  77.4  70.5  57.3  40.6  35.0

Balance Sheet Data (at fi scal year end):
Cash and cash equivalents $ 69.9 $ 28.4 $ 29.9 $ 14.0 $ 105.6
Working capital(12)  779.4  397.2  490.6  251.9  269.8
Total assets  3,211.4  3,549.3  4,022.1  1,634.2  1,543.1
Total long-term debt, net of current maturities  2,416.9  2,234.5  2,268.0  806.0  870.5
Total debt  2,460.4  2,277.2  2,307.3  829.9  943.4

Total shareholders’ equity  (103.8)  452.2  842.7  316.0  202.0

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (Continued)

Spectrum Brands, Inc.

(1)  Fiscal 2007 includes restructuring and related charges – cost of goods sold of $31.3 million, and restructuring and related charges – operating expenses 
of $59.7 million. See Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K for further discussion. 

(2)  Fiscal 2006 includes restructuring and related charges – cost of goods sold of $22.5 million, and restructuring and related charges – operating expenses 
of $12.2 million. See Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K for further discussion. 

(3)  Fiscal 2005 selected financial data was impacted by two significant acquisitions completed during the fiscal year. The United acquisition was completed 
on February 7, 2005 and the Tetra acquisition was completed on April 29, 2005. See further discussion of these acquisitions in Item 1: Business, and in 
Note 17, Acquisitions, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

  Fiscal 2005 includes restructuring and related charges – cost of goods sold of $10.5 million, and restructuring and related charges – operating expenses 
of $6.2 million. See Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K for further discussion. 

(4)  Fiscal 2004 selected financial data was impacted by two acquisitions completed during the fiscal year. The Ningbo Baowang Battery Company, Ltd. 
acquisition was completed on March 31, 2004 and the Microlite acquisition was completed on May 28, 2004. 

   Fiscal 2004 includes restructuring and related charges – cost of goods sold of $(0.8) million, and restructuring and related charges – operating expenses 
of $12.2 million. See Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K for further discussion. 

(5)  Fiscal 2003 selected financial data was impacted by two acquisitions completed during the fiscal year. The VARTA acquisition was completed on October 
1, 2002 and the Remington acquisition was completed on September 30, 2003. 

  Fiscal 2003 includes restructuring and related charges – cost of goods sold of $21.1 million, and restructuring and related charges – operating expenses of 
$11.5 million. Fiscal 2003 also includes a non-operating expense of $3.1 million discussed in (9) below. 

(6)  During Fiscal 2007 and Fiscal 2006, pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” 
(“SFAS 142”), issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), we, with the assistance of independent third-party valuation specialists, 
conducted our annual impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. As a result of these analyses we recorded non-cash pretax 
impairment charges of approximately $238 million and $433.0 million in Fiscal 2007 and Fiscal 2006, respectively. See the “Critical Accounting Policies 
– Valuation of Assets and Asset Impairment” section of Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
as well as Note 2(i), Significant Accounting Policies – Intangible Assets, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for further details on these impairment charges. 

(7)  Fiscal 2007 loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes a non-cash pretax impairment charge of approximately $169 million to reduce the 
carrying value of certain assets, principally consisting of goodwill and intangible assets, relating to our Home and Garden Business in order to reflect the 
estimated fair value of this business. See Note 5, Assets Held for Sale, and Note 11, Discontinued Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information relating to this impairment charge. 

(8)  Fiscal 2007 income tax expense of $55.7 million includes a non-cash charge of approximately $180.1 million which increased the valuation allowance 
against certain net deferred tax assets. 

(9)  Fiscal 2006 income tax benefit of $22.7 million includes a non-cash charge of approximately $29.3 million which increased the valuation allowance 
against certain net deferred tax assets. 

(10)  Fiscal 2006 includes a $7.9 million net gain on the sale of our Bridgeport, Connecticut manufacturing facility, acquired as part of the Remington acquisi-
tion and subsequently closed in Fiscal 2004, and our Madison, Wisconsin packaging facility, which was closed in our fiscal year ended September 30, 2003 
(“Fiscal 2003”). 

    SFAS No. 145, “Recission of FASB Statement Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections” (“SFAS 145”) addresses, 
among other things, the income statement presentation of gains and losses related to debt extinguishments and requires such expenses to no longer be treated 
as extraordinary items, unless the items meet the definition of extraordinary per Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 30. We adopted SFAS 
145 on October 1, 2002. As a result, in Fiscal 2003 we recorded a non-operating expense of $3.1 million for the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs 
associated with the replacement of our previous credit facility in October 2002. 

(11) Amounts reflect the results of continuing operations only. 

(12)  Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities. Fiscal 2007 working capital includes assets held for sale of $564.2 million related to 
our Home and Garden Business which has been designated as discontinued operations. See Note 5, Assets Held for Sale, of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information relating to assets held for sale. 
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The following is management’s discussion of the fi nancial 
results, liquidity and other key items related to our performance. 
This section should be read in conjunction with the “Selected 
Financial Data” and our Consolidated Financial Statements and 
related Notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifi ed to conform to 
the current year presentation. All references to 2007, 2006 and 
2005 refer to fi scal year periods ended September 30, 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively. 

Introduction 
We are a global branded consumer products company with 

positions in seven major product categories: consumer batteries; 
pet supplies; electric shaving and grooming; electric personal 
care; portable lighting; lawn and garden; and household insect 
control. In the third quarter of Fiscal 2006, we engaged advisors 
to assist us in exploring possible strategic options, including 
divesting certain assets, in order to sharpen our focus on strate-
gic growth businesses, reduce our outstanding indebtedness and 
maximize long-term shareholder value. In connection with this 
undertaking, during the fi rst quarter of Fiscal 2007 we approved 
and initiated a plan to sell our Home and Garden Business. As a 
result, we have designated certain assets and liabilities related to 
our Home and Garden Business as held for sale and have desig-
nated our Home and Garden Business as discontinued operations. 
Therefore, the presentation herein of the results of continuing 
operations has been changed to exclude the Home and Garden 
Business for all periods presented. See Note 5, Assets Held for 
Sale, and Note 11, Discontinued Operations, of Notes to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for additional information on our assets held for sale 
and discontinued operations. We remain committed to selling 
our Home and Garden Business. 

In August 2007, we announced plans to pursue the potential 
sale of another strategic asset; however, we subsequently deter-
mined to postpone the sale process due to recent challenging 
conditions in the credit markets. 

In Fiscal 2007, we began managing our business in three 
reportable segments: (i) Global Batteries & Personal Care; (ii) 
Global Pet Supplies; and (iii) our Home and Garden Business. 
The presentation of all historical segment reporting herein has 
been reclassifi ed to conform to this segment structure. 

Our continuing operations include the worldwide manufac-
turing and marketing of alkaline, zinc carbon and hearing aid 
batteries, as well as aquariums and aquatic supplies, and the 
designing and marketing of rechargeable batteries, battery-
powered lighting products, electric shavers and accessories, 
grooming products and hair care appliances. Our continuing 
operations utilize manufacturing and product development 
facilities located in the United States, Europe, China and 
Latin America. Our continuing operations also include the 

manufacturing and marketing of specialty pet supplies in 
North America. Through our Home and Garden Business, 
which we have designated as discontinued operations, we 
manufacture and market lawn fertilizers, herbicides, insecti-
cides and repellents in North America. 

We sell our products in approximately 120 countries through a 
variety of trade channels, including retailers, wholesalers and 
distributors, hearing aid professionals, industrial distributors 
and OEMs and enjoy strong name recognition in our markets 
under the Rayovac, VARTA and Remington brands, each of 
which has been in existence for more than 80 years, and under 
the Tetra, 8 in 1 and various other brands. Our Home and Garden 
Business enjoys strong name recognition under the Spectracide 
and Cutter brands, among others. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impair-
ment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), long-lived 
assets to be disposed of by sale are recorded at the lower of their 
carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. During Fiscal 2007, 
we recorded a non-cash pretax charge of $169 million in discon-
tinued operations to reduce the carrying value of certain assets, 
principally consisting of goodwill and intangible assets, related 
to the Home and Garden Business in order to refl ect the esti-
mated net proceeds to be realized from selling this business. 
Such estimated net proceeds were based on a range of estimated 
sales values, taking into account current market conditions, 
provided by independent third-party advisors. Actual proceeds 
received, if and when a sale is consummated, may vary from the 
estimated net proceeds. 

On January 25, 2006, we sold the fertilizer technology and 
professional fertilizer products businesses of Nu-Gro, the Canadian 
division of our Home and Garden Business (“Nu-Gro Pro and 
Tech”), to Agrium Inc. for net proceeds of approximately $83 mil-
lion. Proceeds from the sale were used to reduce outstanding debt. 
As a result of the sale, effective as of October 1, 2005, we began 
reporting the results of operations of Nu-Gro Pro and Tech as 
discontinued operations. The presentation herein of the results of 
continuing operations has been changed to exclude Nu-Gro Pro 
and Tech for all periods presented. See Note 11, Discontinued 
Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional 
information regarding this divestiture. 

On September 27, 2007, we signed a defi nitive agreement to 
sell the remainder of Nu-Gro to a new company formed by Roy-
Cap Merchant Banking Group and Clarke Inc. The transaction 
closed on November 1, 2007. We estimate that our Fiscal 2008 
peak seasonal borrowing needs will be reduced by approximately 
$45 million as a result of cash proceeds from the transaction and 
the elimination of the working capital requirement for Nu-Gro 
in the 2008 lawn and garden selling season. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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SFAS 142 requires companies to test goodwill and indefi nite-
lived intangible assets for impairment annually, or more often if 
an event or circumstance indicates that an impairment loss may 
have been incurred. In Fiscal 2007 and 2006, we, with the assis-
tance of independent third-party valuation specialists, tested our 
goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets and, as a result of 
this testing, we recorded non-cash pretax impairment charges of 
approximately $238 million and $433 million in Fiscal 2007 and 
2006, respectively. Future cash expenditures will not result from 
these impairment charges. There were no impairment charges 
recognized in Fiscal 2005 as a result of our testing. See “Critical 
Accounting Policies – Valuation of Assets and Asset Impairment” 
below as well as Note 2(i), Signifi cant Accounting Policies and 
Practices – Intangible Assets, of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
further details on these impairment charges. 

Our fi nancial performance is infl uenced by a number of fac-
tors including: general economic conditions; foreign exchange 
fl uctuations; trends in consumer markets; our overall product 
line mix, including pricing and gross margin, which vary by 
product line and geographic market; pricing of raw materials 
and commodities; fuel prices; and our general competitive posi-
tion, especially as impacted by our competitors’ advertising and 
promotional activities and pricing strategies. 

Cost Reduction Initiatives 
We continually seek to improve our operational effi ciency, 

match our manufacturing capacity and product costs to market 
demand and better utilize our manufacturing resources. We 
have undertaken various initiatives to reduce manufacturing 
and operating costs. 

Fiscal 2007. In connection with our announcement that we 
would manage our business in three vertically integrated, product-
focused reporting segments, our costs related to research and 
development, manufacturing management, global purchasing, 
quality operations and inbound supply chain, which had previ-
ously been included in our corporate reporting segment are now 
included in each of the operating segments on a direct-as-incurred 
basis. In connection with these changes we undertook a number 
of cost reduction initiatives, primarily headcount reductions, at 
the corporate and operating segment levels (the “Global Realign-
ment Initiatives”), including a headcount reduction of approxi-
mately 150 employees. 

We have also implemented a series of initiatives within our 
Global Batteries & Personal Care business segment in Latin 
America to reduce operating costs (the “Latin America Initia-
tives”). These initiatives include the reduction of certain manufac-
turing operations in Brazil and the restructuring of management, 
sales, marketing and support functions. As a result, we reduced 
headcount in Latin America by approximately 100 employees. 

Fiscal 2006. As a result of our continued concern regarding 
the European economy and the continued shift by consumers 
from branded to private label alkaline batteries, we announced a 
series of initiatives in the Global Batteries & Personal Care seg-
ment in Europe to reduce operating costs and rationalize our 
manufacturing structure (the “European Initiatives”). These ini-
tiatives include the reduction of certain operations at our Ellwan-
gen, Germany packaging center and relocating those operations 
to our Dischingen, Germany battery plant, transferring private 
label battery production at our Dischingen, Germany battery 
plant to our manufacturing facility in China and restructuring 
the sales, marketing and support functions. As a result, we have 
reduced headcount in Europe by approximately 350 employees, 
or 24%. 

Fiscal 2005. In connection with the acquisitions of United 
and Tetra in 2005, we announced a series of initiatives to opti-
mize the global resources of the combined United and Spectrum 
companies. These initiatives included: integrating all of United’s 
home and garden business’ administrative services, sales and 
customer service functions into our North America headquar-
ters in Madison, Wisconsin; converting all of our information 
systems to SAP; consolidating United’s manufacturing and dis-
tribution locations in North America; rationalizing the North 
America supply chain; and consolidating United’s pet supply 
businesses and Tetra’s administrative, manufacturing and dis-
tribution facilities. In addition, certain corporate fi nance func-
tions were shifted to our global headquarters in Atlanta, 
Georgia. 

As previously disclosed, effective October 1, 2006, we refl ected 
the operations of our Home and Garden Business as discontin-
ued operations. See Note 5, Assets Held for Sale, and Note 11, 
Discontinued Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
additional information on our assets held for sale and discontin-
ued operations. As a result, as of October 1, 2006, initiatives to 
integrate the activities of our Home and Garden Business into 
our operations in Madison, Wisconsin have been suspended as 
we focus on separating this discontinued business from our 
continuing operations. 

Our integration activities within Global Pet Supplies are sub-
stantially complete as of September 30, 2007. Global Pet Supplies 
integration activities consisted primarily of the rationalization of 
manufacturing facilities and the optimization of the distribution 
network. As a result of these integration initiatives, two pet sup-
plies facilities were closed in 2005, one in Brea, California, and 
the other in Hazleton, Pennsylvania; one pet supply facility was 
closed in 2006 in Hauppauge, New York; and one pet supply 
facility was closed in Fiscal 2007 in Moorpark, California. 

In 2005, we also announced the closure of a zinc carbon 
manufacturing facility in France. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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Meeting Consumer Needs Through Technology and Development 
We continue to focus our efforts on meeting consumer needs 

for our products through new product development and tech-
nology innovations. Research and development efforts associ-
ated with our electric shaving and grooming products allow us to 
deliver unique cutting systems to the market. Research and 
development efforts associated with our electric personal care 
products allow us to deliver our customers products that save 
them time, provide salon alternatives and enhance their in-home 
personal care options. We are continuously pursuing new inno-
vations for our shaving, grooming and hair care products, including 
foil and rotary shaver improvements, trimmer enhancements 
and technologies that deliver skin and hair care benefi ts. 

During Fiscal 2007, we introduced a new men’s shaving 
system designed for young men, called “Code,” which is specifi -
cally targeted to the transitional skin of teenagers and young 
adults. We also introduced the world’s fi rst electric shaver with 
a disposable head, called “CleanExchange” that we believe 
provides a closer and more comfortable male shaving experi-
ence and will also establish a consistent recurring revenue 
stream on a per-customer basis, atypical for the electric razor 
market. Advancements in shaver blade coatings continued to 
be signifi cant with further introductions of Titanium, Nano-
Diamond, Nano-Silver and Tourmaline on a variety of prod-
ucts, which allow us to continue to launch new products or 
product enhancements into the marketplace. 

During Fiscal 2006, we introduced a new men’s shaving plat-
form, including such new features as ComfortSelect and improved 
ComfortFlex, designed to improve the comfort and closeness of 
the shaving experience. In the lawn and garden category, we 
introduced Mulch with Weed Stop, the fi rst premium landscape 
mulch with weed preventer, the Smart Seeder, the fi rst ready-to-
use combination grass seed container and spreader, and the only 
termite killing stakes product for the do-it-yourself market. 

During Fiscal 2005, we launched a new self-cleaning women’s 
shaver, the world’s fi rst vacuuming haircut kit with a built-in 
vacuum and a new product line-up of hair dryers, setters and 
stylers under the “All-That” platform. Also, during Fiscal 2005, 
we brought to market a new self-repairing, self-spreading grass 
seed using RTF (Rhizomatous Tall Fescue) technology under 
the Vigoro and Expert Gardener brands. In the household insect 
control category, we introduced a new product during Fiscal 
2005 called Cutter Advanced™ Insect repellant. Cutter Advanced 
introduced Picaridin as an active ingredient, the only non-DEET 
alternative recommended by the Centers for Disease Control 
and Prevention. 

Competitive Landscape 
We compete in seven major product categories. Our continuing 

operations include the following fi ve major product categories: 
consumer batteries; pet supplies; electric shaving and grooming; 
electric personal care products; and portable lighting. Our dis-
continued operations include the lawn and garden and household 
insect control product categories that are sold through our Home 
and Garden Business. 

The consumer battery product category consists of non-
rechargeable alkaline or zinc carbon batteries in cell sizes of AA, 
AAA, C, D and 9-volt, and specialty batteries, which include 
rechargeable batteries, hearing aid batteries, photo batteries and 
watch/calculator batteries. Most consumer batteries are mar-
keted under one of the following brands: Rayovac/VARTA, 
Duracell, Energizer or Panasonic. In addition, some retailers 
market private label batteries, particularly in Europe. The 
majority of consumers in North America and Europe purchase 
alkaline batteries. The Latin America market consists primarily 
of zinc carbon batteries but is gradually converting to higher-
priced alkaline batteries as household disposable income grows. 

We believe that we are the largest worldwide marketer of 
hearing aid batteries and that we continue to maintain a lead-
ing global market position. We believe that our close relation-
ship with hearing aid manufacturers and other customers, as 
well as our product performance improvements and packaging 
innovations, position us for continued success in this category. 

Our Global Pet Supplies business comprises aquatics equipment 
(aquariums, fi lters, pumps, etc.), aquatics consumables (fi sh food, 
water treatments and conditioners, etc.) and specialty pet products 
for dogs, cats, birds and other small domestic animals. The pet 
supply market is extremely fragmented, with no competitor hold-
ing a market share greater than 20%. We believe that our brand 
positioning, including the leading global aquatics brand in Tetra, 
our diverse array of innovative and attractive products and our 
strong retail relationships and global infrastructure will allow us 
to remain competitive in this fast-growing industry. 

We also operate in the shaving and grooming and personal 
care product category, consisting of electric shavers and acces-
sories, electric grooming products and hair care appliances. 
Electric shavers include men’s and women’s shavers (both rotary 
and foil design) and electric shaver accessories consisting of 
shaver replacement parts (primarily foils and cutters), pre-shave 
products and cleaning agents. Electric shavers are marketed 
primarily under one of the following global brands: Remington, 
Braun and Norelco. Electric grooming products include beard 
and mustache trimmers, nose and ear trimmers, body groomers 
and haircut kits and related accessories. Hair care appliances 
include hair dryers, straightening irons, styling irons and hair-
setters. Europe and North America account for the majority of 
our worldwide product category sales. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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Products in our lawn and garden category are sold through 
our Home and Garden Business, which we have classifi ed as 
discontinued operations. The Home and Garden Business manu-
factures and markets lawn and garden care products, including 
fertilizers, herbicides, outdoor and indoor insect control prod-
ucts, rodenticides, plant foods, potting soil and other growing 
media and grass seed. The Home and Garden Business operates 
in the U.S. market under the brand names Spectracide, Cutter, 
Garden Safe and Schultz. The Home and Garden Business also 
has exclusive brand arrangements for our Vigoro brand at The 
Home Depot, for our Sta-Green brand at Lowe’s and for our 
Expert Gardener brand at Wal-Mart. The Home and Garden 
Business’ marketing position is primarily that of a value brand, 
enhanced and supported by innovative products and packaging 
to drive sales at the point of purchase. The Home and Garden 
Business’ primary competitors in the lawn and garden category 
include The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company and Central Garden & 
Pet Company. Our primary competitor in the outdoor and indoor 
insect control products category is S.C. Johnson & Son, Inc. 

The following factors contribute to our ability to succeed in 
these highly competitive product categories: 

•  Strong Diversifi ed Global Brand Portfolio. We have a global 
portfolio of well-recognized consumer product brands. We 
believe that the strength of our brands positions us to extend 
our product lines and provide our retail customers with 
strong sell-through to consumers. 

•  Strong Global Retail Relationships. We have well-established 
business relationships with many of the top global retailers, 
distributors and wholesalers, which have assisted us in our 
efforts to expand our overall market penetration and pro-
mote sales. 

•  Expansive Distribution Network. We distribute our products 
in approximately 120 countries through a variety of trade 
channels, including retailers, wholesalers and distributors, 
hearing aid professionals, industrial distributors and OEMs. 

•  Innovative New Products, Packaging and Technologies. We 
have a long history of product and packaging innovations in 
each of our seven product categories and continually seek to 
introduce new products both as extensions of existing product 
lines and as new product categories. 

•  Experienced Management Team. Our management team has 
substantial consumer products experience. On average, each 
senior manager has more than 20 years of experience at 
Spectrum, VARTA, Remington or other branded consumer 
product companies such as Regina, Newell Rubbermaid, 
H.J. Heinz, Schering-Plough and Chemtura. 

Seasonal Product Sales 
On a consolidated basis our fi nancial results are approximately 

equally weighted between quarters; however, certain of our prod-
ucts experience seasonal sales fl uctuations. Sales in the battery, 
electric shaving and grooming and electric personal care product 
categories, particularly in North America, tend to be seasonal, 
with purchases of such products by consumers concentrated in 
the December holiday season. Pet supplies and personal care 
sales remain fairly constant throughout the year. Demand for our 
lawn and garden and household insect control products sold 
through the Home and Garden Business, which we have desig-
nated as discontinued operations, typically peaks during the fi rst 
six months of the calendar year (Spectrum’s second and third fi s-
cal quarters). The seasonality of our sales during the last three 
fi scal years is as follows: 

Percentage of Annual Sales 

  Fiscal Year Ended
 September 30, 

Fiscal Quarter Ended   2007  2006 2005

December 28% 30% 28%
March 22% 22% 20%
June 22% 22% 25%
September 28% 26% 27%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2007, Compared to 
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006 

Highlights Of Consolidated Operating Results 
During Fiscal 2007, we approved and initiated a plan to sell our 

Home and Garden Business and as a result, we have designated our 
Home and Garden Business as discontinued operations. Conse-
quently, the results of our Home and Garden Business for Fiscal 
2007 are presented in our Consolidated Statements of Operations 
as discontinued operations. The results of our Home and Garden 
Business in Fiscal 2006 and 2005 have been reclassifi ed to conform 
to the Fiscal 2007 classifi cation. In addition, during Fiscal 2006, 
we designated Nu-Gro Pro and Tech as discontinued operations 
consistent with our decision to sell these businesses. Consequently, 
the results of Nu-Gro Pro and Tech for Fiscal 2006 are refl ected in 
our Consolidated Statements of Operations as discontinued opera-
tions. The results of Nu-Gro Pro and Tech in Fiscal 2005 have been 
reclassifi ed to conform to the Fiscal 2006 classifi cation. Unless 
specifi cally stated otherwise, all discussions in this section regard-
ing Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 operating results refl ect results 
only from our continuing operations. See Note 11, Discontinued 
Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional 
information on our discontinued Home and Garden Business and 
Nu-Gro Pro and Tech businesses. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.

Net Sales. Net sales for Fiscal 2007 increased to $1,995 million 
from $1,895 million in Fiscal 2006, a 5% increase. The following 
table details the principal components of the change in net sales 
from Fiscal 2006 to Fisca1 2007 (in millions): 

  Net Sales

Fiscal 2006 Net Sales    $1,895
 Increase in Global Pet Supplies sales   11
 Increase in Global Batteries & Personal Care 
  Remington branded product sales   37
 Decrease in Global Batteries & Personal Care 
  alkaline battery sales    (17)
 Foreign currency impact, net   66
 Other, net    3

Fiscal 2007 Net Sales    $1,995

Consolidated net sales by product line for Fiscal 2007 and 
2006 are as follows (in millions): 

  Fiscal Year 

        2007 2006 

Product Line Net Sales
Consumer batteries   $ 882 $ 861
Pet supplies   563 543
Electric shaving and grooming  268 252
Electric personal care   187 151
Portable lighting   95 88

Total net sales to external customers  $1,995 $1,895

Global consumer battery sales increased $21 million, or 2%, 
primarily driven by a favorable foreign exchange impact of $37 mil-
lion coupled with growth in Latin America due to favorable pric-
ing, volume growth and product mix. This increase was tempered 
by declines in alkaline battery sales in North America, as a result 
of lost distribution, coupled with declines in alkaline battery 
sales in Europe which were driven by (i) the continued shift in 
distribution channels from electronic specialty and photo stores 
to deep discount and food retail channels and (ii) the continued 
shift in product mix due to consumer preferences for lower-
priced private label batteries. Both issues are more fully discussed 
in “Segment Results” below. Sales of portable lighting products in 
Fiscal 2007 increased $7 million, or 8%, driven by new product 
launches. The increase in electric shaving and grooming sales of 
$16 million, or 6%, is primarily attributable to distribution expan-
sion in our Latin America and European markets. The strong 
increase in electric personal care sales of $37 million, or 25%, was 
due to our increased market share. We experienced double digit 
percentage growth in electric personal care sales in all geographic 
regions. The $20 million, or 4%, increase in pet supplies sales was 
primarily due to growth in companion animal sales, driven by our 
Dingo brand, coupled with the introduction of companion animal 
products to the European market. 

Gross Profi t. Gross profi t for Fiscal 2007 was $736 million 
versus $707 million for Fiscal 2006. Our gross profi t margin for 
Fiscal 2007 decreased to 36.9% from 37.3% in Fiscal 2006. 

Higher zinc prices, a key raw material in the production of our 
batteries, reduced Fiscal 2007 gross profi t by approximately $13 mil-
lion, net of our hedges, when compared to Fiscal 2006. Included 
in Fiscal 2007 and Fiscal 2006 were restructuring and related 
charges of approximately $31 million, and $23 million, respec-
tively. These restructuring and related charges were associated 
with the various cost cutting initiatives in connection with our 
global realignment announced in January 2007, ongoing inte-
gration activities of our Global Pet Supplies, which are substan-
tially complete, and the rationalization of our Global Batteries & 
Personal Care European and Latin American manufacturing 
organizations. See “Restructuring and Related Charges” below, 
as well as Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, of Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding our 
restructuring and related charges. Higher battery pricing in 
North America and Latin America contributed positively to gross 
profi t margin but was offset by higher commodity costs. We do 
not currently anticipate additional restructuring charges. 

Operating Expense. Operating expenses for Fiscal 2007 
totaled $898 million versus $1,026 million for Fiscal 2006. This 
$128 million decrease in operating expenses for Fiscal 2007 ver-
sus Fiscal 2006 was primarily driven by a decrease of $195 mil-
lion in impairment charges. Impairment charges in Fiscal 2007 
were $238 million versus $433 million in Fiscal 2006. In both 
Fiscal 2007 and Fiscal 2006 the impairment charges were non-
cash charges and related to the write down of the carrying value 
of goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets to fair value in 
accordance with SFAS 142. See “Goodwill and Intangibles 
Impairment” below, as well as Note 2(c), Signifi cant Accounting 
Policies and Practices – Intangible Assets, of Notes to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for additional information regarding these non-cash 
impairment charges. Offsetting the decrease in impairment 
charges were (i) increases in advertising and marketing expenses 
in Fiscal 2007 of approximately $8 million to support our new 
Remington, Rayovac and VARTA marketing campaigns, (ii) 
increases in restructuring and related charges of approximately 
$48 million, rising to $60 million in Fiscal 2007 from $12 mil-
lion in Fiscal 2006 and (iii) increases resulting from the write 
off of professional fees during Fiscal 2007, which totaled 
approximately $4 million and are included in general and 
administrative expense, in connection with our strategic deci-
sion to dispose of our Home and Garden Business. The restruc-
turing and related charges incurred in Fiscal 2007 were 
primarily attributable to various cost reduction initiatives in 
connection with our global realignment announced in January 
2007, ongoing integration of our Global Pet Supplies and ratio-
nalization of our Global Batteries & Personal Care European 
and Latin America manufacturing support, sales and marketing 
organizations. The restructuring and related charges incurred in 
Fiscal 2006 were primarily attributable to the ongoing integra-
tion of our Global Pet Supplies and rationalization of our Global 

FIN_wpc.indd   16 2/25/08   11:04:15 AM



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.

SPECTRUM BRANDS |  2007  ANNUAL  REPORT    17

Batteries & Personal Care European manufacturing, support, 
sales and marketing organization. See “Restructuring and 
Related Charges” below, as well as Note 16, Restructuring and 
Related Charges, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional 
information regarding our restructuring and related charges. 

Operating Loss. An operating loss of approximately $162 mil-
lion was recognized in Fiscal 2007, as compared to an operating 
loss in Fiscal 2006 of $319 million. The Fiscal 2007 operating loss 
is directly attributable to the impact of the previously discussed 
non-cash impairment charge of $238 million, coupled with 
restructuring and related charges of $91 million. The Fiscal 2006 
operating loss is directly attributable to the previously discussed 
non-cash impairment charge of approximately $433 million cou-
pled with restructuring and related charges of $35 million. 

Segment Results. As discussed above in Item 1, Business, in Fis-
cal 2007, we manage our business in three reportable segments: 
(i) Global Batteries & Personal Care, (ii) Global Pet Supplies; and 
(iii) Home and Garden Business. The presentation of all histori-
cal segment reporting herein has been reclassifi ed to conform to 
this segment reporting. 

However, we do not present results of our Home and Garden 
Business in “Segment Results” because we have designated it as 
discontinued operations. For additional information about the 
results of operations for our Home and Garden Business in Fis-
cal 2007, Fiscal 2006 and Fiscal 2005, please see “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations – Discontinued Operations” and Note 11, Discontin-
ued Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K . 

Operating segment profi ts do not include restructuring and 
related charges, interest expense, interest income, impairment 
charges and income tax expense. In connection with the realign-
ment of our operating segments discussed above, in Fiscal 2007 
expenses associated with global operations, consisting of 
research and development, manufacturing management, global 
purchasing, quality operations and inbound supply chain, which 
were previously refl ected in corporate expenses, are now 
included in the determination of operating segment profi ts. In 
addition, certain general and administrative expenses necessary 
to refl ect the operating segments on a standalone basis and 
which were previously refl ected as corporate expenses, have been 
included in the determination of operating segment profi ts. 
Accordingly, corporate expenses include primarily general and 
administrative expenses associated with corporate overhead and 
global long-term incentive compensation plans. Segment 
reporting results for Fiscal 2006 and 2005 have been reclassi-
fi ed to conform to the changes described above. 

All depreciation and amortization included in income from 
operations is related to operating segments or corporate expense. 
Costs are allocated to operating segments or corporate expense 

according to the function of each cost center. All capital expendi-
tures are related to operating segments. Variable allocations of 
assets are not made for segment reporting. 

Global strategic initiatives and fi nancial objectives for each 
reportable segment are determined at the corporate level. Each 
reportable segment is responsible for implementing defi ned 
strategic initiatives and achieving certain fi nancial objectives 
and has a general manager responsible for the sales and market-
ing initiatives and fi nancial results for product lines within that 
segment. Financial information pertaining to our reportable 
segments is contained in Note 13, Segment Information, of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Global Batteries & Personal Care 

(in millions)   2007 2006

Net sales to external customers  $  1,431 $1,352
Segment profit   $    144 $  117
Segment profit as a % of net sales   10.0% 8.7%
Assets as of September 30,   $1,329 $1,549

Segment net sales to external customers in Fiscal 2007 
increased $79 million to $1,431 million from $1,352 million dur-
ing Fiscal 2006, representing a 6% increase. Favorable foreign 
currency exchange translation impacted net sales in Fiscal 2007 
by approximately $58 million. Battery sales for Fiscal 2007 were 
up slightly to $881 million when compared to Fiscal 2006 sales 
of $861 million, principally due to increases in Latin America of 
$24 million, which were driven by favorable pricing, volume 
growth and product mix. These increases were tempered by 
declines in North America sales of $8 million associated with lost 
distribution as well as in Europe of $25 million driven by (i) our 
continued exit from low-margin private label battery businesses, 
(ii) the continued shift in European distribution channels from 
electronic specialty stores and photo stores to discount channels 
and (iii) the continued shift in product mix due to consumer 
preferences for lower-priced private label batteries. Net sales of 
electric shaving and grooming products in Fiscal 2007 increased 
by $16 million, or 6%, as the result of the growth in our Latin 
America and European markets. Electric personal care sales 
increased by $37 million, an increase of 26% over Fiscal 2006, 
driven by our expanded global distribution in conjunction with 
our investments in brand development. Net sales of portable 
lighting products for Fiscal 2007 increased to $95 million as 
compared to sales of $88 million for Fiscal 2006. The sales 
increase was driven by new product launches and occurred in all 
geographic regions. 

Segment profi tability in Fiscal 2007 increased to $144 million 
from $117 million in Fiscal 2006. Segment profi tability as a 
percentage of net sales increased to 10.0% in Fiscal 2007 as 
compared with 8.7% in Fiscal 2006. The increase in segment 
profi tability for Fiscal 2007 was the result of higher gross profi t, 
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driven by sales increases, which more than offset increases in 
raw material commodity costs, coupled with savings from our 
Fiscal 2006 Global Batteries & Personal Care restructuring ini-
tiatives and our global realignment announced in January 2007. 
See “Restructuring and Related Charges” below, as well as Note 
16, Restructuring and Related Charges, of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K for additional information regarding our restructuring 
and related charges. The cost reductions noted above were 
slightly offset by our increased investment in marketing and 
advertising expenses of $8 million associated with our new 
Rayovac, VARTA and Remington marketing campaigns. 

Segment assets at September 30, 2007 decreased to $1,329 mil-
lion from $1,549 million at September 30, 2006. The decrease is 
primarily attributable to the non-cash impairment of goodwill 
and certain trade name intangible assets in Fiscal 2007. See 
“Goodwill and Intangibles Impairment” below as well Note 2(i), 
Signifi cant Accounting Policies and Practices – Intangible 
Assets, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information 
regarding this impairment charge and the amount attributable 
to Global Batteries & Personal Care. Goodwill and intangible 
assets at September 30, 2007 total approximately $525 million 
and primarily relate to the ROV Ltd., VARTA AG, Remington 
Products and Microlite acquisitions. Included in long-term lia-
bilities assumed in connection with the acquisition of Microlite 
is a provision for “presumed” credits applied to the Brazilian 
excise tax on manufactured products, or “IPI taxes.” Although a 
previous ruling by the Brazilian Federal Supreme Court had 
been issued in favor of a specifi c Brazilian taxpayer with similar 
tax credits, on February 15, 2007, the Brazilian Federal Supreme 
Court ruled against certain Brazilian taxpayers with respect to 
the legality and constitutionality of the IPI “presumed” tax cred-
its. This decision is applicable to all similarly situated taxpayers. 
At September 30, 2007, these amounts totaled approximately 
$33 million and are included in Other long-term liabilities in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets included in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. 

Global Pet Supplies 

(in millions)   2007 2006

Net sales to external customers  $      563 $   543
Segment profit   $   71 $  72
Segment profit as a % of net sales  12.6% 13.3%
Assets as of September 30,   $1,202 $1,171

Segment net sales to external customers in Fiscal 2007 
increased to $563 million from $543 million in Fiscal 2006, 
representing an increase of $20 million or 4%. Favorable foreign

 currency exchange translation impacted net sales in Fiscal 2007 
by approximately $8 million. The increase in net sales in Fiscal 
2007 was primarily driven by growth of 10% in our companion 
animal products, principally due to sales increases of our Dingo 
brand, coupled with the introduction of companion animal 
products in Europe. Worldwide aquatic sales increased approxi-
mately $3 million, or 1%, as 17% growth in European aquatic 
sales was tempered by sales declines in the North American 
aquatic market. 

Segment profi tability in Fiscal 2007 decreased to $71 million 
from $72 million in Fiscal 2006. Segment profi tability as a per-
centage of sales in Fiscal 2007 decreased to 12.6% from 13.3% 
in the same period last year. This decrease in segment profi tabil-
ity was due to increased spending on marketing and advertising 
coupled with increases in manufacturing and distribution costs, 
primarily resulting from challenges encountered in our initiative 
to consolidate distribution and manufacturing facilities. These 
costs were somewhat tempered by a curtailment gain of approx-
imately $3 million related to the termination of a postretirement 
benefi t plan. 

Segment assets as of September 30, 2007 increased to $1,202 
million from $1,171 million at September 30, 2006. The increase 
is primarily due to the impact of foreign currency translation. 
Goodwill and intangible assets as of September 30, 2007 total 
approximately $964 million and primarily relate to the acquisi-
tions of Tetra and the United Pet Group division of United. 

Corporate Expense. Our corporate expenses in Fiscal 2007 
increased to $47 million from $41 million in Fiscal 2006. The 
increase in expense for Fiscal 2007 is due to professional fees 
incurred in connection with our strategic decision to dispose of 
the Home and Garden Business, increased management incen-
tive compensation expense accruals related to the achievement 
of current year bonus targets and increased compensation 
expense related to certain global long-term incentive plans. No 
such accruals for management incentive compensation expense 
were included in corporate expense in Fiscal 2006 as perfor-
mance measures were not achieved. These increases in Fiscal 
2007 were somewhat offset by savings associated with the global 
realignment announced in January 2007 and a curtailment gain 
of approximately $2 million related to the termination of a U.S. 
postretirement benefi t plan. Our corporate expense as a percent-
age of net sales in Fiscal 2007 increased to 2.4% from 2.2% in 
Fiscal 2006. 

Restructuring and Related Charges. See Note 16, Restructur-
ing and Related Charges of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for additional information regarding our restructuring and 
related charges. 
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The following table summarizes all restructuring and related 
charges we incurred in 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

     2007 2006

Costs included in cost of goods sold:
Breitenbach, France facility closure:
 Termination benefits   $  –  $ 0.3
 Other associated costs    0.5   – 
United & Tetra integration:
 Termination benefits    0.2  5.4
 Other associated costs    13.0  1.8
European initiatives:
 Termination benefits    7.5  15.0
 Other associated costs    0.3   – 
Latin America initiatives:
 Termination benefits    0.7   – 
 Other associated costs    9.8   – 
Global Realignment initiatives:
 Termination benefits    (0.7)   – 

Total included in cost of goods sold   $ 31.3 $ 22.5

Costs included in operating expenses:
United & Tetra integration:
 Termination benefits   $ 1.0 $ 2.5
 Other associated costs    8.4  1.8
European initiatives:
 Termination benefits     –     7.9
 Other associated costs    (1.3)   – 
Latin America initiatives:
 Termination benefits    0.4   – 
 Other associated costs     –      – 
Global Realignment:
 Termination benefits    47.6   – 
 Other associated costs    3.6   – 

Total included in operating expenses  $ 59.7 $ 12.2

Total restructuring and related charges  $ 91.0 $ 34.7

As discussed above, our integration activities within Global 
Pet Supplies are substantially complete as of September 30, 
2007. Global Pet Supplies integration activities consisted pri-
marily of the rationalization of manufacturing facilities and the 
optimization of the distribution network. One pet supply facility 
was closed in 2006, in Hauppauge, New York, and one pet sup-
ply facility was closed in Fiscal 2007 in Moorpark, California. 
We incurred approximately $22 million and $9 million of pretax 
restructuring and related charges during Fiscal 2007 and 2006, 
respectively in connection with these integration activities. Costs 
associated with these integration initiatives totaled approxi-
mately $32 million. 

In connection with the European Initiatives, we incurred 
approximately $7 million and $21 million of pretax restructur-
ing and related charges during Fiscal 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively. Costs associated with these initiatives, primarily cash 
severance, totaled approximately $28 million, and have been 
fully accrued. 

In connection with the Latin America initiatives, we incurred 
approximately $11 million of pretax restructuring and related 
charges during Fiscal 2007. Costs associated with these initia-
tives are fully accrued. 

As a result of the Global Realignment initiatives, we incurred 
approximately $51 million of pretax restructuring and related 
charges during Fiscal 2007. Costs associated with the Global 
Realignment Initiatives, which for the most part represent cash 
costs, relate primarily to severance and are projected to total 
approximately $59 million. 

Goodwill and Intangibles Impairment. SFAS 142 requires com-
panies to test goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets for 
impairment annually, or more often if an event or circumstance 
indicates that an impairment loss may have been incurred. In Fiscal 
2007 and 2006, we, with the assistance of independent third-
party valuation specialists, tested our goodwill and indefi nite-lived 
intangible assets. As a result of this testing, we recorded a non-
cash pretax impairment charge of $238 million and $433 million 
in Fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively. The $238 million impair-
ment charge incurred in Fiscal 2007 refl ects goodwill associated 
with our North America reporting unit, which is included as part 
of our Global Batteries & Personal Care reportable segment, coupled 
with an impairment of trade name intangible assets primarily 
associated with our Global Batteries & Personal Care business 
segment. The $433 million non-cash pretax impairment charge 
incurred in Fiscal 2006 refl ects impaired goodwill of $353 million 
of which $235 million relates to our Global Pet Supplies business 
segment and $118 million relates to our Latin America reporting 
unit, which is included as part of our Global Batteries & Personal 
Care reportable segment. The remaining charge of $80 million 
relates to impaired trade name intangible assets of which $35 mil-
lion is associated with our Global Pet Supplies business segment 
and $45 million is associated with our Latin America and Europe/
ROW reporting units, both of which are included as part of our 
Global Batteries & Personal Care reportable segment. Future cash 
expenditures will not result from these impairment charges. See 
Note 2(i), Signifi cant Accounting Policies and Practices – Intangible 
Assets, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further details on these 
impairment charges. 

Interest Expense. Interest expense in Fiscal 2007 increased to 
$195 million from $123 million in Fiscal 2006. The increase 
was partly due to the write-off of debt issuance costs of $25 mil-
lion and prepayment penalties of $12 million. These charges were 
incurred in connection with the refi nancing of our previously 
existing senior credit facilities and the exchange of our 8∏% 
Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 for the New Notes, pursuant 
to the terms of an exchange offer, both of which occurred on 
March 30, 2007 described below in “Liquidity and Capital 
Resources.” In addition, interest expense in Fiscal 2007 was higher 
due to higher interest rates and higher average debt balances. 
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See Note 7, Debt, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional 
information regarding the refi nancing and the Exchange Offer. 

Other Income, net. Other income, net for Fiscal 2007 includes 
foreign exchange loss of $5 million offset by interest income of 
$3 million and other miscellaneous income. Fiscal 2006 other 
income, net includes the benefi t of two asset sales. We recognized 
a net gain of approximately $8 million on the sale of our Bridge-
port, Connecticut manufacturing facility, which was acquired as 
part of the Remington Products acquisition, and subsequently 
closed in our fi scal year ended September 30, 2004, and our 
Madison, Wisconsin packaging facility, which was closed in our 
fi scal year ended September 30, 2003. Prior to these sales, these 
assets were included in assets held for sale in our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate on losses from continuing 
operations is approximately (15.7%) for Fiscal 2007. Our effective 
tax rate on income from continuing operations was approximately 
5% for Fiscal 2006. The primary drivers of the change in our 
effective tax rate consist of additional tax expense recorded related 
to an increase in the valuation allowance associated with our U.S. 
deferred tax assets and the tax impact of the impairment charges 
recorded in Fiscal 2007 for certain non-deductible goodwill. 

As of September 30, 2007, we have U.S. federal and state net 
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $763 and $1,141 mil-
lion, respectively, which will expire between 2008 and 2027, and 
we have foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately 
$117 million, which will expire beginning in 2008. Certain of the 
foreign net operating losses have indefi nite carryforward periods. 
As of September 30, 2006 we had U.S. federal, foreign and state 
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $464, $110 
and $852 million, respectively, which, at that time, were sched-
uled to expire between 2008 and 2026. Certain of the foreign net 
operating losses have indefi nite carryforward periods. Limita-
tions apply to a portion of these net operating loss carryforwards 
in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 382. 

The ultimate realization of our deferred tax assets depends on 
our ability to generate suffi cient taxable income of the appropriate 
character in the future and in the appropriate taxing jurisdictions. 
We establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets when we 
estimate it is more likely than not that the tax assets will not be 
realized. We base these estimates on projections of future income, 
including tax planning strategies, in certain jurisdictions. Changes 
in industry conditions and other economic conditions may impact 
our ability to project future income. SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for 
Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”) requires the establishment of a valua-
tion allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion 
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In accordance 
with SFAS 109, we periodically assess the likelihood that our 
deferred tax assets will be realized and determine if adjustments 
to the valuation allowance are appropriate. As a result of this 

assessment, we recorded an approximately $157 million non-cash 
deferred income tax charge related to a valuation allowance 
against U.S. net deferred tax assets during the fourth quarter of 
Fiscal 2007. In addition, we recorded a non-cash deferred income 
tax charge of approximately $7 million in the fourth quarter of 
Fiscal 2007 related to an increase in the valuation allowance 
against our net deferred tax assets in Mexico. In addition to these 
valuation allowances, we have also recorded valuation allowances, 
primarily related to net operating loss carryforwards, in Brazil, 
Argentina, Chile and Canada. Our total valuation allowance, 
established for the tax benefi t of deferred tax assets that may not 
be realized, is approximately $307 million at September 30, 2007. 
Of this amount, approximately $235 million relates to U.S. net 
deferred tax assets and approximately $72 million relates to for-
eign net deferred tax assets. 

SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 
142) requires companies to test goodwill and indefi nite-lived 
assets for impairment annually, or more often if an event or cir-
cumstance indicates that an impairment loss may have been 
incurred. During Fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded 
non-cash pretax impairment charges of approximately $238 mil-
lion and $433 million, respectively. The tax impact, prior to 
consideration of the current year valuation allowance, of the 
impairment charges was limited to a deferred tax benefi t of 
approximately $30 million and $43 million respectively, because 
a signifi cant portion of the impaired assets are not deductible for 
tax purposes. 

Discontinued Operations. In the third quarter of Fiscal 2007, 
we engaged advisors to assist us in exploring possible strategic 
options, including divesting certain assets in order for us to 
sharpen our focus on strategic growth businesses, reduce our out-
standing indebtedness and maximize long-term shareholder 
value. In connection with this undertaking, during the fi rst quar-
ter of Fiscal 2007 we approved and initiated a plan to sell our 
Home and Garden Business. Accordingly, we have designated our 
Home and Garden Business as discontinued operations. Fiscal 
2007 refl ects a loss from discontinued operations of approxi-
mately $185 million, net of tax, which includes a non-cash pretax 
charge of $169 million to reduce the carrying value of certain 
assets, principally consisting of goodwill and intangible assets, 
related to the Home and Garden Business in order to refl ect the 
estimated fair value of this business. Such estimated fair value was 
based on a range of estimated sales values, taking into account 
current market conditions provided by independent third-party 
advisors. If and when a sale is consummated, the actual fair value 
at that time may vary from the estimated fair value refl ected herein. 
Net sales related to discontinued operations totaled $659 million 
in Fiscal 2007. 

Our Fiscal 2007 loss from discontinued operations includes 
an income tax benefi t of $6 million, which includes a $54 mil-
lion non-cash deferred income tax charge related to increasing 
the valuation allowance against U.S. deferred tax assets related
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to our Home and Garden Business, coupled with an income tax 
benefi t of $53 million, which was recorded in connection with 
the non-cash impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of 
certain assets, principally goodwill and intangible assets related 
to the Home and Garden Business. See Note 11, Discontinued 
Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report of Form 10-K for additional 
information regarding the income tax benefi t. 

Our loss from discontinued operations of approximately $19 mil-
lion, net of tax, for Fiscal 2006 refl ects (i) a loss from discontinued 
operations of $6 million, net of tax, relating to the sale of Nu-Gro 
Pro and Tech, which closed in January 2006, and includes a loss 
on sale of $4 million, and (ii) a loss from discontinued operations 
of $13 million, net of tax, relating to our Home and Garden 
Business. Net sales related to discontinued operations totaled 
$673 million in Fiscal 2006. See Note 11, Discontinued Opera-
tions, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information 
regarding these discontinued operations. 

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006, Compared to 
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005 

Highlights Of Consolidated Operating Results 
Year-over-year historical comparisons are infl uenced by our 

acquisitions of United, Tetra and Jungle Labs acquired on 
February 7, 2005, April 29, 2005 and September 1, 2005, 
respectively. The results of these acquisitions are included in 
our Fiscal 2006 Consolidated Statement of Operations for the 
full fi scal year but only in prior year results for the period sub-
sequent to their respective dates of acquisition. See Note 17, 
Acquisitions, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional 
information regarding these acquisitions. 

During Fiscal 2007, we designated our Home and Garden 
Business as discontinued operations consistent with our plan to 
sell the business. Consequently, the results of operations of our 
Home and Garden Business are refl ected in our Consolidated 
Statements of Operations as discontinued operations. The 
results of our Home and Garden Business in Fiscal 2006 and 
Fiscal 2005 have been reclassifi ed to conform to the Fiscal 2007 
classifi cation. In addition, during Fiscal 2006, Nu-Gro Pro and 
Tech was presented as discontinued operations consistent with 
our decision to sell this business. Consequently, the results of 
these operations are refl ected in our Consolidated Statements of 
Operations as discontinued operations. The results of Nu-Gro 
Pro and Tech in Fiscal 2005 have been reclassifi ed to conform to 
the Fiscal 2006 classifi cation. As a result, and unless specifi cally 
stated otherwise, all discussions regarding Fiscal 2006 and Fis-
cal 2005 operating results refl ect results from our continuing 
operations. See Note 11, Discontinued Operations, of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual 

Report on Form 10-K for additional information on our discon-
tinued Home and Garden Business and Nu-Gro Pro and Tech. 

Net Sales. Net sales for Fiscal 2006 increased to $1,895 million 
from $1,762 million in Fiscal 2005, refl ecting an 8% increase. 
Businesses acquired in Fiscal 2005 contributed $244 million to 
2006 net sales during the months these businesses were included 
in Fiscal 2006 but not included in Fiscal 2005 net sales. The fol-
lowing table details the principal components of the change in 
net sales from Fiscal 2005 to Fisca1 2006 (in millions): 
  Net Sales

Fiscal 2005 Net Sales     $ 1,762
 Impact of United acquisition from 
  October 2005 – January 2006     100
 Impact of Tetra acquisition from 
  October 2005 – April 2006     132
 Impact of Jungle Labs acquisition from 
  October 2005 – August 2006     12
 Increase in Pet products sales, excluding 
  impact of Tetra, United and Jungle Labs acquisitions   14
 Decline in Global Batteries & Personal Care 
  Remington branded product sales     (14)
 Decline in Global Batteries & Personal Care battery sales   (107)
 Foreign currency impact, net     (3)
 Other, net      (1)

Fiscal 2006 Net Sales     $ 1,895

Consolidated net sales by product line for Fiscal 2006 and 
Fiscal 2005 are as follows (in millions): 

  Fiscal Year 

      2006 2005

Product Line Net Sales
Consumer batteries   $ 861 $ 968
Pet supplies    543  286
Electric shaving and grooming    252  273
Electric personal care    151  141
Portable lighting    88  94

Total net sales to external customers   $ 1,895 $ 1,762

Segment net sales to external customers in Fiscal 2006 
increased to $1,895 million from $1,762 million during Fiscal 
2005. Consumer battery sales for Fiscal 2006 were down to $861 
million when compared to Fiscal 2005 sales of $968 million. 
The decline in consolidated consumer battery sales was due pri-
marily to an $89 million decline in Europe/ROW battery sales 
and an $18 million decline in North America alkaline battery 
sales. Europe/ROW battery sales declined in Fiscal 2006 as we 
experienced a product mix shift from branded batteries to lower-
priced private label batteries and exited some low-margin private 
label alkaline business. In addition, in Fiscal 2006 European 
consumers began to shift their purchasing habits from high-end 
electronic specialty stores and photo stores, where we enjoy 
strong market shares, to deep discount and food retail channels 
where we do not have as strong a presence. The decline in our 
North America alkaline battery sales was driven by a number of 
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factors, but primarily due to a reduction of inventory levels at 
certain retailers in North America, lost distribution and the 
completion of our transition to a new alkaline marketing strategy 
in North America, centered around an improved value position, 
which took longer than anticipated. Our previous alkaline mar-
keting strategy of “50% More” focused on the cost of our product 
to the customer while our current alkaline marketing strategy, 
“Same Performance, Better Price,” introduced in Fiscal 2006, 
was designed to highlight the fact that battery performance tests 
show that our alkaline batteries perform as well as the leading 
alkaline battery brands and are offered at better prices. We expe-
rienced decreased battery sales as a result of the change in pack-
aging and pricing from the “50% More” strategy to the “Same 
Performance, Better Price” strategy as customers and consumers 
adjusted to the new message and the related changes in our pric-
ing and package sizes. During this transition, some of the existing 
inventories of “50% More” alkaline battery products were heavily 
promoted to sell and others were sold to discounters at prices 
lower than the prices we would have typically received in the 
marketplace. The decline in consolidated electric shaving and 
grooming sales was primarily attributable to a $28 million 
decline in North America sales driven by lower than expected 
sales of Remington men’s shaving products, primarily during the 
2006 Father’s Day holiday and 2005 Christmas holiday. These 
declines were partly offset by a $14 million increase in sales of 
Remington branded products in Latin America as we continued 
the introduction of Remington branded products throughout 
that region. 

During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2006, the North American 
consumer battery business showed some signs of improvement. 
Fourth quarter Fiscal 2006 battery sales in North America 
increased by approximately 16% over the prior year’s fourth 
quarter due primarily to the nonreoccurrence of certain retailer 
inventory reductions which began in the fourth quarter of 2005. 
In the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2006, we benefi ted from strong 
customer acceptance of our new Rayovac marketing campaign 
referenced above. 

Gross Profi t. Gross profi t margin for Fiscal 2006 decreased 
slightly to 37.3%, compared to our Fiscal 2005 gross profi t margin 
of 38.3%. Our Fiscal 2006 gross profi t margin was impacted by 
approximately $22 million of restructuring and related charges, 
primarily related to a series of initiatives in Europe to reduce oper-
ating costs and rationalize our manufacturing structure as well as 
the costs associated with our integration of United and Tetra. Our 
Fiscal 2005 gross margin was impacted by charges recognized in 
cost of goods sold related to inventory acquired as part of the Tetra 
and United acquisitions. In accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States of America, this inven-
tory was revalued as part of the purchase price allocation. 

For Fiscal 2005, this accounting treatment resulted in an 
increase in acquired inventory of $8 million and $29 million for 

Tetra and United, respectively. These inventory valuation adjust-
ments were non-cash charges. We also incurred approximately 
$10 million of restructuring and related charges during Fiscal 
2005 related to the closing of a zinc carbon manufacturing facil-
ity in Breitenbach, France. See “Restructuring and Related 
Charges” below as well as Note 16, Restructuring and Related 
Charges, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information 
regarding our restructuring and related charges. 

In addition to the items discussed above, our gross profi t mar-
gin in Fiscal 2006 included a seven-month benefi t from higher 
margin Tetra pet product sales during the comparable months 
not owned in Fiscal 2005. This benefi t, however, was more than 
offset by declines in gross margins on our consumer battery, elec-
tric shaving and grooming and electric personal care products. 
The decline in consumer battery gross margins was driven by 
higher raw material costs, primarily zinc, reduced utilization of 
our manufacturing facilities due to volume declines and the previ-
ously mentioned shift in European product mix and distribution 
channels. Higher prices of zinc negatively impacted Fiscal 2006 
gross profi t by approximately $18 million. Electric shaving and 
grooming and electric personal care margins declined primarily 
as a result of consumers purchasing lower-margin products. 

Operating (Loss) Income. An operating loss of approximately 
$319 million was recognized in Fiscal 2006 as compared to oper-
ating income in Fiscal 2005 of $154 million. The Fiscal 2006 
operating loss is directly attributable to a non-cash pretax impair-
ment charge of approximately $433 million for certain trade 
name intangible assets and goodwill written down to fair value in 
accordance with SFAS 142. See “Goodwill and Intangibles 
Impairment” below for further details on this impairment charge. 
Also included in operating expenses in Fiscal 2006 were approxi-
mately $12 million of restructuring and related charges primarily 
related to a series of initiatives in Europe to reduce operating costs 
and rationalize our manufacturing structure as well as the costs 
associated with our integration of United and Tetra. Included in 
operating expenses in Fiscal 2005 were approximately $6 million 
of restructuring and related charges primarily incurred in con-
nection with United integration initiatives. See “Restructuring 
and Related Charges” below as well as Note 16, Restructuring and 
Related Charges, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on form 10-K for additional infor-
mation regarding our restructuring and related charges. In addi-
tion to the items discussed above, operating expenses as a 
percentage of net sales in Fiscal 2006 increased due to increased 
distribution costs which totaled approximately $216 million, or 
8.5% of sales, in Fiscal 2006 versus $162 million, or 7.0% of sales, 
in the prior year. Fiscal 2006 distribution costs were well above 
historical levels as we incurred increased fuel costs and above 
normal shipping and delivery costs in North America in our 
Global Batteries & Personal Care and Global Pet Supplies seg-
ment during the peak selling season to meet customer needs. All 

22   SPECTRUM BRANDS |  2007  ANNUAL  REPORT

FIN_wpc.indd   22 2/25/08   11:04:16 AM



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.

SPECTRUM BRANDS |  2007  ANNUAL  REPORT    23

other operating expenses as a percentage of net sales in Fiscal 
2006 were in line with Fiscal 2005 percentages. 

Segment Results. As discussed above in Item 1, Business, as of 
January 1, 2007, we began managing our business in three 
reportable segments: (i) Global Batteries & Personal Care, (ii) 
Global Pet Supplies; and (iii) the Home and Garden Business. 
The presentation of all historical segment reporting herein has 
been changed to conform to this segment reporting. However, 
we will not present results of our Home and Garden Business in 
“Segment Results” because it has been designated as discontin-
ued operations. For additional information about the results of 
operations for our Home and Garden Business please see “Man-
agement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations – Discontinued Operations” and Note 11, 
Discontinued Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Global strategic initiatives and fi nancial objectives for each 
reportable segment are determined at the corporate level. Each 
reportable segment is responsible for implementing defi ned stra-
tegic initiatives and achieving certain fi nancial objectives and has 
a general manager responsible for the sales and marketing initia-
tives and fi nancial results for product lines within that segment. 
See Note 13, Segment Information, of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K for additional information relating to our business segments. 

Operating segment profi ts do not include restructuring and 
related charges, interest expense, interest income, impairment 
charges and income tax expense. In connection with the realign-
ment of our operating segments discussed above, in Fiscal 2007, 
expenses associated with global operations, consisting of 
research and development, manufacturing management, global 
purchasing, quality operations and inbound supply chain, which 
were previously refl ected in corporate expenses, are now 
included in the determination of operating segment profi ts. In 
addition, certain general and administrative expenses necessary 
to refl ect the operating segments on a standalone basis and 
which were previously refl ected as corporate expenses, have been 
included in the determination of operating segment profi ts. 
Accordingly, corporate expenses include primarily general and 
administrative expenses associated with corporate overhead and 
global long-term incentive compensation plans. Segment 
reporting results for Fiscal 2006 and 2005 have been reclassi-
fi ed to conform to the changes described above. 

Global Batteries & Personal Care 

(in millions)    2006 2005 

Net sales to external customers  $ 1,352 $ 1,477
Segment profit   $ 117 $ 176
Segment profit as a % of net sales   8.7%  11.9%
Assets as of September 30,   $ 1,549 $ 1,504

Segment net sales to external customers in Fiscal 2006 
decreased to $1,352 million from $1,477 million during Fiscal 
2005. Unfavorable foreign currency exchange translation 
impacted net sales in Fiscal 2006 by approximately $9 million. 
Consumer battery sales for Fiscal 2006 were down to $861 mil-
lion when compared to Fiscal 2005 sales of $968 million. The 
decline in consolidated consumer battery sales was due primar-
ily to an $89 million decline in Europe/ROW battery sales and 
an $18 million decline in North America alkaline battery sales. 
The entire $89 million decline in Europe/ROW battery sales 
occurred in continental Europe as a result of: (i) our decision to 
exit certain low-margin private label alkaline battery businesses; 
(ii) a shift in European distribution channels from electronic 
specialty stores and photo stores, where we enjoy strong market 
shares, to deep discount and food retail channels where we have 
not established as strong a presence; and (iii) a shift in product 
mix due to consumer preferences for lower-priced private label 
batteries. The decline in our North America alkaline battery 
sales was driven by a number of factors, primarily a reduction of 
inventory levels at certain retailers in North America, lost distri-
bution and the completion of our transition to a new alkaline 
marketing strategy in North America centered around an 
improved value position, as described above, which took longer 
than anticipated. 

Consolidated electric shaving and grooming sales were also 
down in Fiscal 2006 as compared to Fiscal 2005. The sales 
decline was primarily attributable to a $28 million decline in 
North America sales, which was driven by lower than expected 
sales of Remington men’s shaving products, primarily during 
the 2006 Father’s Day holiday and 2005 Christmas holiday. 
European sales of our Remington branded shaving, grooming 
and personal care products increased by approximately 1%, 
excluding the impact of currency. Excluding Remington branded 
sales in the United Kingdom and the impact of currency, net 
sales of Remington branded products in the remainder of the 
Europe/ROW segment increased 26% in Fiscal 2006, as com-
pared to Fiscal 2005 as we continued to expand distribution across 
continental Europe, driven by our investments in brand develop-
ment. In the United Kingdom, net sales decreased $22 million 
during the year, as result of our inability to sustain increased 
sales levels which resulted from the successful launch of a line of 
personal care products in Fiscal 2005. In Latin America, sales of 
Remington branded products increased by approximately $14 
million as we continued the introduction of Remington branded 
products throughout that region. 

Segment profi tability in Fiscal 2006 decreased to $117 million 
from $176 million in Fiscal 2005. Segment profi tability as a per-
centage of net sales decreased to 8.7% in Fiscal 2006 as compared 
with 11.9% in Fiscal 2005. The decrease in segment profi tability 
for Fiscal 2006 was the result of increased commodity costs and 
reduced utilization of our manufacturing facilities due to sales 
volume declines, which reduced our gross profi t and gross profi t 
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margins as compared to Fiscal 2005. As a result of our ongoing 
concern regarding the European battery market, we announced a 
series of initiatives in 2006 to reduce operating costs and ratio-
nalize our operating structure in Europe. 

Segment assets at September 30, 2006 increased to $1,549 mil-
lion from $1,504 million at September 30, 2005. The increase is 
primarily attributable to the impairment of goodwill and certain 
trade name intangible assets in Fiscal 2006. See “Goodwill and 
Intangibles Impairment” below as well as Note 6, Intangible 
Assets, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information 
regarding this impairment charge. Goodwill and intangible 
assets at September 30, 2006 total approximately $668 million 
and primarily relate to the ROV Ltd., VARTA AG, Remington 
Products and Microlite acquisitions. Included in long-term lia-
bilities assumed in connection with the acquisition of Microlite 
is a provision for “presumed” tax credits applied to the Brazilian 
excise tax on Manufactured Products, or “IPI taxes”. Although a 
previous ruling by the Brazilian Federal Supreme Court had 
been issued in favor of a specifi c Brazilian taxpayer with similar 
tax credits, on February 15, 2007 the Brazilian Federal Supreme 
Court ruled against certain Brazilian taxpayers with respect to 
the legality and constitutionality of the IPI “presumed” tax cred-
its. This decision is applicable to all similarly situated taxpayers. 
At September 30, 2006, these amounts totaled approximately 
$39 million and are included in Other long-term liabilities in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets included in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. 

Global Pet Supplies 

(in millions)    2006 2005 

Net sales to external customers  $ 543 $ 286
Segment profit   $ 72 $ 23
Segment profit as a % of net sales   13.3%  7.9%
Assets as of September 30,   $ 1,171 $ 791

Segment net sales to external customers in Fiscal 2006 were 
$543 million. This represents a $257 million increase from Fiscal 
2005. This increase is due to the inclusion of the acquired busi-
nesses of Tetra, the United Pet Group division of United and 
Jungle Labs for all of Fiscal 2006, versus only a portion of Fiscal 
2005. These acquired businesses contributed $243 million to net 
sales in Fiscal 2006 in the comparable periods during which they 
were not owned in Fiscal 2005. Comparing the period during 
Fiscal 2005 when these acquired businesses were owned to the 
same time period in Fiscal 2006, net sales increased $13 million. 
This increase is primarily the result of strong growth of 6% in 
specialty pet products sales, while aquatic product sales were 
approximately the same as in Fiscal 2005. During Fiscal 2006, 
we experienced growth in sales of pet supplies products in North 
America and Europe, offset by weakness in Japan. Unfavorable 
foreign currency exchange translation impacted sales by approxi-
mately $3 million. 

Segment profi tability in Fiscal 2006 was $72 million, or 13.3% 
of net sales. Our profi tability in Fiscal 2005 was $23 million, or 
7.9% of net sales. The aforementioned inventory purchase account-
ing charge in Fiscal 2005, $14 million of which related to Global 
Pet Supplies, reduced Fiscal 2005 segment profi t as a percent of 
net sales by approximately 4.9%. Operating expenses as a percent-
age of net sales increased to approximately 30.7% in Fiscal 2006 
from 28.4% in Fiscal 2005, due primarily to increased distribution 
costs. Distribution costs increased as we incurred increased fuel 
costs and other unexpected costs to meet customer needs. 

Segment assets at September 30, 2006 increased to $1,171 mil-
lion from $791 million at September 30, 2005. The increase in 
assets is primarily attributable to allocations of goodwill resulting 
from the acquisition of United, partly offset by the impairment of 
goodwill and certain trade name intangible assets in Fiscal 2006. 
See Note 2(i), Signifi cant Accounting Policies and Practices – 
Intangible Assets, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional 
information on the impairment. Goodwill and intangible assets 
represent $930 million of total assets and arose from our acqui-
sition of the United Pet Group division of United as part of the 
United acquisition on February 7, 2005 and the acquisition of 
Tetra on April 29, 2005. The purchase price allocations for the 
United and Tetra acquisitions were fi nalized in Fiscal 2006. See 
Note 17, Acquisitions, of Notes to Consolidated Financial State-
ments included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for addi-
tional information on these acquisitions. 

Corporate Expense. Our corporate expenses in Fiscal 2006 
increased to $41 million from $28 million in the prior fi scal year. 
The increase was primarily due to higher amortization of 
unearned restricted stock during Fiscal 2006. Our corporate 
expense as a percentage of net sales in Fiscal 2006 increased to 
2.0% from 1.6% in Fiscal 2005. 

Restructuring and Related Charges. We incurred approxi-
mately $12 million and $7 million of pretax restructuring and 
related charges during Fiscal 2006 and Fiscal 2005, respectively, 
in connection with the integration of United and Tetra. In Fiscal 
2005, we also announced the closure of a zinc carbon manufac-
turing facility in France. In connection with this initiative we 
incurred $10 million of pretax restructuring and related charges 
in Fiscal 2005. 

As a result of the European Initiatives we incurred approxi-
mately $21 million of pretax restructuring and related charges 
during Fiscal 2006. 
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The following table summarizes all pretax restructuring and 
related charges we incurred in 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

     2006 2005

Costs included in cost of goods sold:
Breitenbach, France facility closure:
 Termination benefits   $ 0.3 $ 8.3
 Other associated costs     –   1.9
United & Tetra integration:
 Termination benefits    5.4  0.3
 Other associated costs    1.8   –
European initiatives:
 Termination benefits    15.0   –

Total included in cost of goods sold  $ 22.5 $ 10.5

Costs included in operating expenses:
United & Tetra integration:
 Termination benefits   $ 2.5 $ 3.1
 Other associated costs    1.8  4.5
European initiatives:
 Termination benefits    7.9   –
Other initiatives:
 Termination benefits     –   0.2
 Other associated costs     –   (1.6)

Total included in operating expenses  $ 12.2 $ 6.2

Total restructuring and related charges  $ 34.7 $ 16.7

Goodwill and Intangibles Impairment. SFAS No. 142, “Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142), requires companies 
to test goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets for impair-
ment annually, or more often if an event or circumstance indicates 
that an impairment loss may have been incurred. In accordance 
with SFAS 142, we, with the assistance of independent third-party 
valuation specialists, conducted our annual impairment testing of 
goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets. As a result of these 
analyses we recorded a non-cash pretax impairment charge of 
approximately $433 million in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2006. 
The impairments will not result in future cash expenditures. See 
“Critical Accounting Policies – Valuation of Assets and Asset 
Impairment” below as well as Note 2(i), Signifi cant Accounting 
Policies and Practices – Intangible Assets, of Notes to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for additional information on the impairment charge. 

Interest Expense. Interest expense in Fiscal 2006 increased to 
$123 million from $108 million in Fiscal 2005. This increase 
was primarily due to the timing of debt incurred in connection 
with the United and Tetra acquisitions, as an increase in LIBOR 
(which affected the interest rate on term loans denominated in 
Euros under our then existing senior credit facilities) and an 
increase in the interest rate spread on loans under our then 
existing senior credit facilities. Interest expense in Fiscal 2005 
included $12 million of debt issuance costs written off in con-
nection with our acquisitions and related debt fi nancings. 

Other Income, net. Other income, net for Fiscal 2006 includes 
the benefi t of two asset sales which occurred during the fi scal 

year. We recognized a net gain of approximately $8 million on 
the sale of our Bridgeport, Connecticut manufacturing facility, 
acquired as part of the Remington Products acquisition and 
subsequently closed in Fiscal 2004, and our Madison, Wiscon-
sin packaging facility, which was closed in Fiscal 2003. Prior to 
these sales, these assets were included in assets held for sale in 
our Consolidated Balance Sheets included in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. Fiscal 2005 other income, net of $1 million was 
related primarily to foreign currency exchange gains. 

Income Tax (Benefi t) Expense. Our full-year effective tax rate 
was a tax benefi t of approximately 5% in 2006 as compared with 
a tax expense of approximately 34% in 2005. The change in tax 
rate for Fiscal 2005 to 2006 was primarily a result of a signifi -
cant portion of the $433 million impairment charge not being 
deductible for tax purposes as well as approximately $29 million 
of increased valuation allowances. 

Discontinued Operations. Our loss from discontinued opera-
tions of approximately $19 million, net of tax, for Fiscal 2006 
refl ects (i) a loss from discontinued operations of $6 million, net 
of tax, relating to the sale of Nu-Gro Pro and Tech, which closed 
in January 2006 and includes a loss on sale of $4 million, and 
(ii) a loss from discontinued operations of $13 million, net of 
tax, relating to our Home and Garden Business. Net sales related 
to discontinued operations totaled $673 million in Fiscal 2006. 

Our income from discontinued operations of approximately 
$17 million, net of tax, for Fiscal 2005 refl ects (i) income from 
discontinued operations of $5 million, net of tax, related to Nu-
Gro Pro and Tech from February 7, 2005, the date of acquisition, 
and (ii) income from discontinued operations of $12 million, 
net of tax, relating to our Home and Garden Business. Net sales 
related to discontinued operations totaled $597 million in Fiscal 
2005. See Note 11, Discontinued Operations, of Notes to Con-
solidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for additional information regarding these dis-
continued operations. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Operating Activities
For Fiscal 2007, operating activities used cash of $36 million as 

compared to $45 million provided in Fiscal 2006. This change is 
partly due to a $15 million decrease in income from continuing 
operations when adjusted for non-cash items and a year-over-year 
increase in cash restructuring and related charges. In addition, 
unfavorable changes in operating assets and liabilities reduced 
operating cash fl ow by an additional $9 million as compared to 
Fiscal 2006. This is primarily due to an increase during Fiscal 
2007 in accounts receivable and other assets and decreases in 
other liabilities, tempered by a decrease in inventory, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities. Net cash used by operating activi-
ties of discontinued operations was $17 million in Fiscal 2007 as 
compared to $40 million provided in Fiscal 2006. This change is 
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due to an increase during Fiscal 2007, in accounts receivable cou-
pled with a decrease in accounts payable. 

Investing Activities
Net cash used by investing activities was $23 million for Fiscal 

2007. For Fiscal 2006 investing activities provided cash of $21 
million. The $43 million decline was primarily due to the non-
recurrence in Fiscal 2007 of proceeds received in connection with 
the January 2006 sale of Nu-Gro Pro and Tech of $83 million 
and the sale of certain assets held for sale of $11 million. Temper-
ing this decline was the nonrecurrence in Fiscal 2007 of payments 
for acquisitions of $19 million and a reduction of capital expendi-
tures related to continuing operations. In Fiscal 2007 continuing 
operations capital expenditures totaled $22 million versus $55 
million in Fiscal 2006. Capital expenditures associated with dis-
continued operations in Fiscal 2007 and Fiscal 2006 were $2 
million and $5 million, respectively. Capital expenditures for Fis-
cal 2008 are expected to be approximately $32 million. 

Debt Financing Activities 

Senior Credit Facilities 
During Fiscal 2007, we refi nanced our outstanding senior credit 

facilities with new senior credit facilities pursuant to a new senior 
credit agreement (the “Senior Credit Agreement”) consisting of a 
$1,000 million U.S. Dollar Term B Loan, a $200 million U.S. Dollar 
Term B II Loan (the “U.S. Dollar Term B II Loan”), a €262 million 
Term Loan (collectively referred to as the “Term Loan Facilities”), 
and a $50 million synthetic letter of credit facility. The proceeds of 
borrowings under the Senior Credit Agreement were used to repay 
all outstanding obligations under our Fourth Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2005, to pay fees 
and expenses in connection with the refi nancing and the Exchange 
Offer, described below, and for general corporate purposes. 

On September 28, 2007, pursuant to the terms of the Senior 
Credit Agreement, we entered into a $225 million U.S. Dollar 
Asset Based Revolving Loan Facility (the “ABL Facility” and 
together with the credit facilities pursuant to the Senior Credit 
Agreement, the “Senior Credit Facilities”) pursuant to a new 
credit agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”). The ABL Facility 
replaced the U.S. Dollar Term B II Loan under the new senior 
credit facilities, which was simultaneously prepaid using cash 
from operations coupled with a portion of the cash on hand 
resulting from the refi nancing in Fiscal 2007. References to our 
“Senior Credit Facilities” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
refer to the new senior credit facilities discussed above as modi-
fi ed by the replacement of the U.S. Dollar Term B II Loan with 
the ABL Facility. As a result of the prepayment of the U.S. Dollar 
Term B II Loan, under the terms of the ABL Credit Agreement, 
as of September 30, 2007, the Company has aggregate borrowing 
availability of approximately $171 million under the ABL Facility. 
We may increase the existing $225 million ABL Facility up to 
$300 million at our option upon request to our lenders under the 

ABL Facility and upon meeting certain criteria specifi ed in the 
ABL Credit Agreement. 

As of September 30, 2007, the Senior Credit Facilities aggre-
gated to a U.S. Dollar equivalent of $1,642 million and consisted 
of a $998 million U.S. Dollar Term B Loan, a €261 million Term 
Loan (USD $370 million at September 30, 2007), a $225 mil-
lion U.S. Dollar ABL Facility and a $50 million synthetic letter 
of credit facility. 

As of September 30, 2007, the Company had not made any 
borrowings under the ABL Credit Facility. Approximately $47 mil-
lion of letters of credit were outstanding under the synthetic letter 
of credit facility at September 30, 2007. 

In addition to principal payments, we have annual interest 
payment obligations of approximately $41 million associated 
with our debt offering of the $347 million Variable Rate Toggle 
Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 and annual interest pay-
ment obligations of approximately $52 million associated with 
our debt offering of the $700 million 7 3_8% Senior Subordinated 
Notes due in 2015 (together, the “Senior Subordinated Notes”). 
We also incur interest on our borrowings associated with the 
Senior Credit Facilities, and such interest would increase borrow-
ings under the ABL Facility if cash were not otherwise available 
for such payments. Based on amounts currently outstanding 
under the Senior Credit Facilities, and using market interest rates 
and foreign exchange rates in effect as of September 30, 2007, we 
estimate annual interest payments of approximately $128 million 
would be required, assuming no further principal payments were 
to occur and excluding any payments associated with outstanding 
interest rate swaps. In addition, we are required to pay a quarterly 
commitment fee of 0.375% on the unused portion of the ABL 
Facility and a quarterly fee on the lender’s commitments to the 
$50 million synthetic letter of credit facility of 4.15%. 

Approximately $39 million of fees and expenses incurred in 
association with the Senior Credit Facilities have been capitalized 
and will be amortized over the term of the facilities. In addition, 
in connection with the March 30, 2007 refi nancing, approxi-
mately $16 million of debt issuance costs associated with the pre-
viously outstanding senior credit facilities were written off and are 
included in Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations for Fiscal 2007. Approximately $12 million of prepay-
ment premiums in connection with repayment of the previously 
outstanding senior credit facilities were included in interest 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fi scal 
year ended September 30, 2007. In addition, approximately 
$1 million of fees and expenses were incurred in connection with 
the fourth amendment to our senior credit facilities outstanding 
prior to the refi nancing undertaken in Fiscal 2007. As a result of 
the refi nancing in Fiscal 2007, these fees and expenses were 
included in interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations for Fiscal 2007. 
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The Term Loan Facilities are subject to repayment according 
to a scheduled amortization, with the fi nal payment of all 
amounts outstanding, plus accrued interest, due on March 30, 
2013. Beginning with the fi scal year ended September 30, 2007, 
the Senior Credit Agreement provides for annual mandatory 
prepayments, over and above the normal amortization as a result 
of excess cash fl ow, as defi ned in the Senior Credit Agreement. 
The Senior Credit Agreement also provides for other mandatory 
prepayments, subject to certain exceptions and reinvestment 
provisions, of net proceeds as a result of certain events, including 
the issuance of debt, sales of certain assets above a specifi ed 
threshold, receipt of proceeds from certain casualty events and 
the issuance of equity interests by us or any of our subsidiaries. 

The Senior Credit Agreement contains fi nancial covenants with 
respect to debt which include a maximum senior secured leverage 
ratio. In accordance with the agreement, the limits imposed by 
such ratio become more restrictive over time. In addition, the 
Senior Credit Agreement contains customary restrictive cove-
nants, including, but not limited to, restrictions on our ability to 
incur additional indebtedness, create liens, make investments or 
specifi ed payments, give guarantees, pay dividends, make capital 
expenditures and merge or acquire or sell assets. 

The Senior Credit Agreement also contains customary events 
of default and is secured by substantially all of our domestic 
assets pursuant to a Guarantee and Collateral Agreement entered 
into on March 30, 2007. 

The ABL Credit Facility includes a $60 million U.S. Dollar 
Letter of Credit sub-facility and a $30 million U.S. Dollar swin-
gline loan sub-facility within the $225 million overall facility 
amount. The ABL Facility is subject to repayment with the fi nal 
payment of all amounts outstanding, plus accrued interest, due 
on September 28, 2011. The ABL Facility provides for manda-
tory prepayments of net proceeds to the extent the borrowing 
base is reduced or in connection with sales of business assets. 

The ABL Agreement is secured by certain of our liquid assets, 
including, among other things, deposit accounts and substan-
tially all of our domestic trade receivables and inventory and 
contains customary restrictive covenants, including, but not 
limited to, restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebt-
edness, create liens, make investments or specifi ed payments, 
give guarantees, pay dividends, make capital expenditures and 
merge or acquire or sell assets. 

As of September 30, 2007, we were in compliance with all 
covenants associated with the Senior Credit Facilities. 

Senior Subordinated Notes 
Beginning on March 16, 2007, we conducted an offer to exchange 

the entire $350 million of outstanding principal amount of our 
8½% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 (the “Existing Notes”) 
for the same aggregate principal amount of Variable Rate Toggle 
Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 (the “New Notes”) pursuant 

to the terms of an exchange offer (the “Exchange Offer”). The terms 
of the Exchange Offer further provided that holders of Existing 
Notes who tendered their Existing Notes for exchange following 
the expiration of a consent solicitation period, which ended on 
March 29, 2007, would receive a reduced principal amount of New 
Notes in exchange for tendered Existing Notes. As of the expiration 
of the Exchange Offer on April 13, 2007, holders of Existing Notes 
had tendered $347 million of Existing Notes, which were accepted 
by us and exchanged, pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Offer, 
for $347 million of New Notes. At September 30, 2007, $3 million 
principal amount of Existing Notes remained outstanding. 

In connection with the Exchange Offer, on March 30, 2007, 
we and certain of our domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, 
entered into an indenture (the “Indenture”) with Wells Fargo 
Bank, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), governing the New Notes. 

Approximately $4 million of fees and expenses incurred in 
association with the Exchange Offer have been capitalized and 
will be amortized over the term of the New Notes. In addition, 
in connection with the Exchange Offer approximately $9 mil-
lion of debt issuance costs associated with the Existing Notes 
were written off and included in Interest expense in the Consoli-
dated Statements of Operations for the fi scal year ended Sep-
tember 30, 2007. 

Subject to certain conditions, we have the option to pay interest 
on the New Notes entirely in cash or by increasing the principal 
amount of the New Notes. The New Notes are subject to a variable 
rate of interest that increases semi-annually, varying depending 
on whether interest is paid in cash or increased principal. As of 
September 30, 2007, the New Notes bore interest at 11.25%. 
Interest will be payable semi-annually in arrears on October 2 and 
April 2. We made the fi rst interest payment in cash on October 2, 
2007. At such time as the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test under 
the Indenture governing the New Notes is above 2:1, we are 
required to pay interest of 1% over the scheduled rates referred to 
above. We will make each interest payment to the holders of record 
of the New Notes as of the immediately preceding March 15 and 
September 15, respectively. The New Notes are general unsecured 
obligations of us. The New Notes are subordinated in right of pay-
ment to all existing and future senior debt by us, including our 
indebtedness pursuant to the Senior Credit Facilities. The New 
Notes are equal in right of payment with all existing and any future 
senior subordinated indebtedness of ours, including, without 
limitation, our 7 3_8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2015 and our 
Existing Notes, which remain outstanding following the closing of 
the Exchange Offer. The New Notes are also senior in right of pay-
ment to any future subordinated indebtedness of ours. 

The terms of the New Notes are governed by the Indenture. 
The Indenture contains customary covenants that limit our abil-
ity to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, pay 
dividends on or redeem or repurchase our equity interests, make 
certain investments, expand into unrelated businesses, create 
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liens on assets, merge or consolidate with another company, 
transfer or sell all or substantially all of our assets, and enter into 
transactions with affi liates. Upon the occurrence of a “change of 
control,” as defi ned in the Indenture, we are required to make an 
offer to repurchase the outstanding New Notes for a specifi ed 
redemption price, beginning at 110% of the principal amount 
being repurchased and declining to 100% on October 1, 2010, in 
each case plus accrued and unpaid interest on such principal. 

We may redeem all or a part of the New Notes upon not less 
than 30 nor more than 60 days notice, at specifi ed redemption 
prices beginning at 110% of the principal amount being redeemed 
and declining to 100% on October 1, 2010, in each case plus 
accrued and unpaid interest on such principal. 

In addition, the Indenture is subject to customary events of 
default, including failure to make required payments, failure to 
comply with certain agreements or covenants, failure to make 
payments on or acceleration of certain other indebtedness, and 
certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency. Events of default 
under the Indenture arising from certain events of bankruptcy 
or insolvency will automatically cause the acceleration of the 
amounts due under the New Notes. If any other event of default 
under the Indenture occurs and is continuing, the Trustee, or 
the registered holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal 
amount of the then outstanding New Notes, may declare the 
acceleration of the amounts due under the New Notes. 

We were in compliance with all covenants associated with our 
$347 million principal amount of New Notes, our $3 million 
principal amount of Existing Notes that remain outstanding 
and our $700 million principal amount of 7 3_8% Senior Subordi-
nated Notes due 2015 (collectively referred to as the “Senior 
Subordinated Notes”), with the exception of the Fixed Charge 
Coverage Ratio test relating to the indebtedness under the 
Senior Subordinated Notes, that were in effect as of and during 
the fi scal year ended September 30, 2007. Due to signifi cant 
restructuring charges and reduced business performance, we 
have not met the minimum requirement of 2:1 for the Fixed 
Charge Coverage Ratio test under the indentures governing our 
Senior Subordinated Notes. Until we satisfy such test, we are 
limited in our ability to make signifi cant acquisitions or incur 
signifi cant additional senior debt beyond our Senior Credit 

Facilities. We do not expect our inability to meet the Fixed 
Charge Coverage Ratio test to impair our ability to provide ade-
quate liquidity to meet the short-term and long-term liquidity 
requirements of our existing businesses, although no assurance 
can be given in this regard. 

Equity Financing Activities
During Fiscal 2007, we granted approximately 1.7 million 

shares of restricted stock. Of these grants, approximately 0.2 
million shares are time-based and vest on a pro rata basis over a 
three year period and 1.5 million shares are performance-based 
and vest upon achievement of certain performance goals. All 
vesting dates are subject to the recipient’s continued employ-
ment with us. The total market value of the restricted shares on 
the date of grant was approximately $12.8 million which has 
been recorded as unearned restricted stock compensation. 
Unearned compensation is amortized to expense over the appro-
priate vesting period. 

During Fiscal 2007, we also issued a minimal number of shares 
of Common Stock associated with the exercise of stock options with 
an aggregate cash exercise value of approximately $0.7 million. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have 

or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our 
fi nancial condition, changes in fi nancial condition, revenues or 
expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or 
capital resources that are material to investors. 

Contractual Obligations & Other Commercial Commitments 
Contractual Obligations 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations 
as of September 30, 2007 and the effect such obligations are 
expected to have on our liquidity and cash fl ow in future periods. 
The table excludes other obligations we have refl ected on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, such as pension obligations. See Note 12, Employee 
Benefi t Plans, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a more com-
plete discussion of our employee benefi t plans. (in millions):

 Contractual Obligations 
  Payments due by Fiscal Year 
     2008 2009   2010   2011   2012   Thereafter   Total 

Debt:
 Debt, excluding capital lease obligations $ 42 $ 14 $ 14 $ 14 $ 14 $ 2,348 $ 2,446
 Capital lease obligations(1)  2  2  1  1  1  14  21

      44  16  15  15  15  2,362  2,467
Operating lease obligations  22  20  17  15  15  54  143
Purchase obligations/other(2)  198   –    –    –    –    –   198

Total Contractual Obligations $ 264 $ 36 $ 32 $ 30 $ 30 $ 2,416 $ 2,808

(1) Capital lease payments due by fi scal year include executory costs and imputed interest not refl ected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

(2) Primarily represents obligations to purchase specifi ed quantities of raw materials and fi nished products. 
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Other Commercial Commitments 
The following table summarizes our other commercial commitments as of September 30, 2007, consisting entirely of standby letters 

of credit that back the performance of certain of our entities under various credit facilities and lease arrangements (in millions): 

  Other Commercial Commitments 

  Amount of Commitment Expiration by Fiscal Year 

     2008 2009   2010   2011   2012   Thereafter   Total 

Letters of credit $ 40 $ 7 $  –  $  –  $  –  $  –  $ 47

Total Other Commercial Commitments $ 40 $ 7 $  –  $  –  $  –  $  –  $ 47

Critical Accounting Policies 
Our Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States of America and fairly present our fi nancial position 
and results of operations. We believe the following accounting 
policies are critical to an understanding of our fi nancial state-
ments. The application of these policies requires management’s 
judgment and estimates in areas that are inherently uncertain. 

Valuation of Assets and Asset Impairment 
We evaluate certain long-lived assets to be held and used, such 

as property, plant and equipment and defi nite-lived intangible 
assets for impairment, based on the expected future cash fl ows 
or earnings projections associated with such assets. Impairment 
reviews are conducted at the judgment of management when it 
believes that a change in circumstances in the business or exter-
nal factors warrants a review. Circumstances such as the discon-
tinuation of a product or product line, a sudden or consistent 
decline in the sales forecast for a product, changes in technology 
or in the way an asset is being used, a history of operating or 
cash fl ow losses or an adverse change in legal factors or in the 
business climate, among others, may trigger an impairment 
review. An asset’s value is deemed impaired if the discounted 
cash fl ows or earnings projections generated do not substantiate 
the carrying value of the asset. The estimation of such amounts 
requires management’s judgment with respect to revenue and 
expense growth rates, changes in working capital and selection 
of an appropriate discount rate, as applicable. The use of differ-
ent assumptions would increase or decrease discounted future 
operating cash fl ows or earnings projections and could, there-
fore, change impairment determinations. 

SFAS 142 requires companies to test goodwill and indefi nite-
lived intangible assets for impairment annually, or more often if 
an event or circumstance indicates that an impairment loss may 
have been incurred. In Fiscal 2007 and 2006, we, with the assis-
tance of independent third-party valuation specialists, tested 
our goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets. As a result of 
this testing, we recorded a non-cash pretax impairment charge 
of $238 million and $433 million in Fiscal 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. The $238 million impairment charge incurred in 
Fiscal 2007 refl ects goodwill associated with our North America 
reporting unit, which is part of our Global Batteries & Personal 

Care reportable segment, coupled with an impairment of trade 
name intangible assets primarily associated with our Global 
Batteries & Personal Care reportable segment. The $433-million, 
non-cash pretax impairment charge incurred in Fiscal 2006 
refl ects impaired goodwill of $353 million of which $235 mil-
lion relates to our Global Pet Supplies reportable segment and 
$118 million relates to our Latin America reporting unit, which 
is included as part of our Global Batteries & Personal Care 
reportable segment. The remaining charge of $80 million relates 
to impaired trade name intangible assets of which $35 million is 
associated with our Global Pet Supplies business segment and 
$45 million is associated with our Latin America and Europe/
ROW reporting units, both of which are part of our Global Bat-
teries & Personal Care reportable segment. Future cash expendi-
tures will not result from these impairment charges. There were 
no impairment charges recognized in Fiscal 2005 as a result of 
our testing. 

We used a discounted estimated future cash fl ows methodol-
ogy to determine the fair value of our reporting units (goodwill). 
Fair value of indefi nite-lived intangible assets, which represent 
trade names, was determined using a relief from royalty meth-
odology. Assumptions critical to our fair value estimates were: 
(i) the present value factors used in determining the fair value of 
the reporting units and trade names or third-party indicated fair 
values for assets expected to be disposed; (ii) royalty rates used 
in our trade name valuations; (iii) projected average revenue 
growth rates used in the reporting unit and trade name models; 
and (iv) projected long-term growth rates used in the derivation 
of terminal year values. We also tested fair value for reasonable-
ness by comparison to the market capitalization of the Company. 
These and other assumptions are impacted by economic condi-
tions and expectations of management and will change in the 
future based on period-specifi c facts and circumstances. 

As previously discussed, we have designated our Home and 
Garden Business as discontinued operations. In accordance with 
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144) long-lived assets to be disposed of 
by sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying value or fair 
value less costs to sell. During Fiscal 2007, we recorded a non-
cash pretax charge of $169 million in discontinued operations to 
reduce the carrying value of certain assets, principally consisting 
of goodwill and intangible assets, related to the Home and Garden 
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Business in order to refl ect the estimated fair value of this busi-
ness. Such estimated fair value was based on a range of estimated 
sales values, taking into account current market conditions, pro-
vided by independent third-party advisors. If and when a sale is 
consummated, the actual fair value at that time may vary from the 
estimated fair value refl ected herein. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for Income 
Taxes” (SFAS 109), we establish valuation allowances for deferred 
tax assets when we estimate it is more likely than not that the tax 
assets will not be realized. We base these estimates on projections 
of future income, including tax-planning strategies, by individual 
tax jurisdictions. Changes in industry and economic conditions 
and the competitive environment may impact the accuracy of our 
projections. In accordance with SFAS 109, during each reporting 
period we assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be 
realized and determine if adjustments to the valuation allowance 
are appropriate. As a result of this assessment, during Fiscal 
2007 and Fiscal 2006 we recorded a non-cash deferred income 
tax charge of approximately $180 million and $29 million, 
respectively, related to increasing the valuation allowance against 
our net deferred tax assets. 

See Note 2(h), Signifi cant Accounting Policies and Practices – 
Property, Plant and Equipment; Note 2(i), Signifi cant Account-
ing Policies and Practices – Intangible Assets; Note 4, Property, 
Plant and Equipment; Note 5, Assets Held for Sale; Note 6, 
Intangible Assets; Note 10, Income Taxes; and Note 11, Discon-
tinued Operations, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more informa-
tion about these assets. 

Revenue Recognition and Concentration of Credit Risk 
We recognize revenue from product sales generally upon deliv-

ery to the customer or the shipping point in situations where the 
customer picks up the product or where delivery terms so stipu-
late. This represents the point at which title and all risks and 
rewards of ownership of the product are passed, provided that: 
there are no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance; there is 
persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists; the price to the 
buyer is fi xed or determinable; and collectibility is deemed reason-
ably assured. We are generally not obligated to allow for, and our 
general policy is not to accept, product returns for battery sales. 
We do accept returns in specifi c instances related to our electric 
shaving and grooming, electric personal care, lawn and garden, 
household insect control and pet supply products. The provision 
for customer returns is based on historical sales and returns and 
other relevant information. We estimate and accrue the cost of 
returns, which are treated as a reduction of net sales. 

We enter into various promotional arrangements, primarily 
with retail customers, including arrangements entitling such 
retailers to cash rebates from us based on the level of their pur-
chases, which require us to estimate and accrue the costs of the 

promotional programs. These costs are generally treated as a 
reduction of net sales. 

We also enter into promotional arrangements that target the 
ultimate consumer. Such arrangements are treated as either a 
reduction of net sales or an increase in cost of sales, based on the 
type of promotional program. The income statement presenta-
tion of our promotional arrangements complies with Emerging 
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consider-
ation Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of 
the Vendor’s Products).” Cash consideration, or an equivalent 
thereto, given to a customer is generally classifi ed as a reduction 
of net sales. If we provide a customer anything other than cash, 
the cost of the consideration is classifi ed as an expense and 
included in cost of sales. 

For all types of promotional arrangements and programs, we 
monitor our commitments and use statistical measures and past 
experience to determine the amounts to be recorded for the 
estimate of the earned, but unpaid, promotional costs. The 
terms of our customer-related promotional arrangements and 
programs are tailored to each customer and are generally docu-
mented through written contracts, correspondence or other 
communications with the individual customers. 

We also enter into various arrangements, primarily with retail 
customers, which require us to make an upfront cash, or “slotting” 
payment, to secure the right to distribute through such customer. 
We capitalize slotting payments, provided the payments are sup-
ported by a time or volume-based arrangement with the retailer, 
and amortize the associated payment over the appropriate time or 
volume-based term of the arrangement. The amortization of slot-
ting payments is treated as a reduction in net sales and a corre-
sponding asset is reported in Deferred charges and other in our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

Our trade receivables subject us to credit risk which is evaluated 
based on changing economic, political and specifi c customer condi-
tions. We assess these risks and make provisions for collectibility 
based on our best estimate of the risks presented and information 
available at the date of the fi nancial statements. The use of different 
assumptions may change our estimate of collectibility. We extend 
credit to our customers based upon an evaluation of the customer’s 
fi nancial condition and credit history and generally do not require 
collateral. Our credit terms generally range between 30 and 90 
days from invoice date, depending upon the evaluation of the cus-
tomer’s fi nancial condition and history. We monitor our customers’ 
credit and fi nancial conditions in order to assess whether the eco-
nomic conditions have changed and adjust our credit policies with 
respect to any individual customer as we determine appropriate. 
These adjustments may include, but are not limited to, restricting 
shipments to customers, reducing credit limits, shortening credit 
terms, requiring cash payments in advance of shipment or securing 
credit insurance. 
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See Note 2(b), Signifi cant Accounting Policies and Practices – 
Revenue Recognition; Note 2(c), Signifi cant Accounting Policies 
and Practices – Use of Estimates; and Note 2(e), Signifi cant 
Accounting Policies and Practices – Concentrations of Credit Risk 
and Major Customers and Employees, of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more 
information about our revenue recognition and credit policies. 

Pensions 
Our accounting for pension benefi ts is primarily based on 

discount rate, expected and actual return on plan assets and 
other assumptions made by management, and is impacted by 
outside factors such as equity and fi xed income market perfor-
mance. Pension liability is principally the estimated present 
value of future benefi ts, net of plan assets. In calculating the 
estimated present value of future benefi ts, net of plan assets, for 
both Fiscal 2007 and 2006, we used discount rates of 4.50% to 
6.25% in Fiscal 2007 and 4.55% to 6.25% in Fiscal 2006. In 
adjusting the discount rates from Fiscal 2006 to 2007, we con-
sidered the change in the general market interest rates of debt 
and solicited the advice of our actuary. We believe the discount 
rates used are refl ective of the rates at which the pension benefi ts 
could be effectively settled. 

Pension expense is principally the sum of interest and service 
cost of the plan, less the expected return on plan assets and the 
amortization of the difference between our assumptions and 
actual experience. The expected return on plan assets is calculated 
by applying an assumed rate of return to the fair value of plan 
assets. We used expected returns on plan assets of 4.5% to 8.0% 
in Fiscal 2007 and 4.0% to 8.0% in Fiscal 2006. Based on the 
advice of our independent actuary, we believe the expected rates 
of return are refl ective of the long-term average rate of earnings 
expected on the funds invested. If such expected returns were 
overstated, it would ultimately increase future pension expense. 
Similarly, an understatement of the expected return would ulti-
mately decrease future pension expense. If plan assets decline due 
to poor performance by the markets and/or interest rate declines, 
our pension liability will increase, ultimately increasing future 
pension expense. 

Effective September 30, 2007, we adopted SFAS No. 158, 
“Employers’ Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other 
Postretirement Plans – an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 
88, 106, and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”). The recognition and disclo-
sure provisions of this statement require recognition of the 
overfunded or underfunded status of defi ned benefi t pension 
and postretirement plans as an asset or liability in the statement 
of fi nancial position, and recognition of changes in that funded 
status in Accumulated other comprehensive income in the year 
in which the adoption occurs. We measure plan assets and obli-
gations of our domestic pension plans as of June 30 each year 
and September 30 each year for our foreign pension plans and 
our other domestic postretirement plans. The measurement 

date provisions of SFAS 158, which will become effective for us 
in our fi scal year ended September 30, 2009 (“Fiscal 2009”), 
will require us to measure all of our defi ned benefi t pension and 
postretirement plan assets and obligations as of September 30 
which is our fi scal yearend. 

See Note 12, Employee Benefi t Plans, of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our employee 
benefi t plans. 

Restructuring and Related Charges 
Restructuring charges are recognized and measured accord-

ing to the provisions of SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs 
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS 146”). Under 
SFAS 146, restructuring charges include, but are not limited to, 
termination and related costs consisting primarily of severance 
costs and retention bonuses, and contract termination costs 
consisting primarily of lease termination costs. Related charges, 
as defi ned by us, include, but are not limited to, other costs 
directly associated with exit and integration activities, including 
impairment of property and other assets, departmental costs of 
full-time incremental integration employees, and any other 
items related to the exit or integration activities. Costs for such 
activities are estimated by us after evaluating detailed analyses 
of the cost to be incurred. We present restructuring and related 
charges on a combined basis. 

Liabilities from restructuring and related charges are recorded 
for estimated costs of facility closures, signifi cant organizational 
adjustment and measures undertaken by management to exit 
certain activities. Costs for such activities are estimated by man-
agement after evaluating detailed analyses of the cost to be 
incurred. Such liabilities could include amounts for items such as 
severance costs and related benefi ts (including settlements of 
pension plans), impairment of property and equipment and other 
current or long-term assets, lease termination payments and any 
other items directly related to the exit activities. While the actions 
are carried out as expeditiously as possible, restructuring and 
related charges are estimates. Changes in estimates resulting in 
an increase to or a reversal of a previously recorded liability may 
be required as management executes a restructuring plan. 

We report restructuring and related charges associated with 
manufacturing and related initiatives in cost of goods sold. 
Restructuring and related charges refl ected in cost of goods sold 
include, but are not limited to, termination and related costs 
associated with manufacturing employees, asset impairments 
relating to manufacturing initiatives and other costs directly 
related to the restructuring initiatives implemented. 

We report restructuring and related charges associated with 
administrative functions in operating expenses, such as initia-
tives impacting sales, marketing, distribution or other non-
manufacturing related functions. Restructuring and related 

FIN_wpc.indd   31 2/25/08   11:04:16 AM



32   SPECTRUM BRANDS |  2007  ANNUAL  REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.

charges refl ected in operating expenses include, but are not limited 
to, termination and related costs, any asset impairments relating 
to the administrative functions and other costs directly related to 
the initiatives implemented. 

The costs of plans to (i) exit an activity of an acquired company, 
(ii) involuntarily terminate employees of an acquired company or 
(iii) relocate employees of an acquired company are measured 
and recorded in accordance with the provisions of the EITF Issue 
No. 95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Pur-
chase Business Combination” (“EITF 95-3”). Under EITF 95-3, if 
certain conditions are met, such costs are recognized as a liability 
assumed as of the consummation date of the purchase business 
combination and included in the allocation of the acquisition 
cost. Costs related to terminated activities or employees of the 
acquired company that do not meet the conditions prescribed in 
EITF 95-3 are treated as restructuring and related charges and 
expensed as incurred. 

See Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, of Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our 
restructuring initiatives and related costs. 

Loss Contingencies 
Loss contingencies are recorded as liabilities when it is probable 

that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be rea-
sonably estimated. The outcome of existing litigation, the impact of 
environmental matters and pending or potential examinations by 
various taxing authorities are examples of situations evaluated as 
loss contingencies. Estimating the probability and magnitude of 
losses is often dependent upon management’s judgment of poten-
tial actions by third parties and regulators. It is possible that 
changes in estimates or an increased probability of an unfavorable 
outcome could materially affect future results of operations. 

See further discussion in Item 3, “Legal Proceedings,” and Note 
14, Commitments and Contingencies, of Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

Other Significant Accounting Policies 
Other signifi cant accounting policies, primarily those with 

lower levels of uncertainty than those discussed above, are also 
critical to understanding the Consolidated Financial State-
ments. The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain additional 
information related to our accounting policies and should be 
read in conjunction with this discussion. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value 

Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 provides guidance for 
using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. The FASB 

believes SFAS 157 also responds to investors’ requests for 
expanded information about the extent to which companies 
measure assets and liabilities at fair value, the information used 
to measure fair value and the effect of fair value measurements 
on earnings. SFAS 157 applies whenever other standards require 
(or permit) assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value but 
does not expand the use of fair value in any new circumstances. 
Under SFAS 157, fair value refers to the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants in the market in which 
the reporting entity transacts. In SFAS 157, the FASB clarifi es the 
principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability. 
In support of this principle, SFAS 157 establishes a fair value 
hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those 
assumptions. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to 
quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unob-
servable data, e.g., the reporting entity’s own data. Under SFAS 
157, fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by 
level within the fair value hierarchy. The provisions of SFAS 157 
for fi nancial assets and liabilities, as well as any other assets and 
liabilities that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis in 
fi nancial statements, are effective for fi nancial statements issued 
for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim 
periods within those fi scal years. The FASB did, however, provide 
a one year deferral for the implementation of SFAS 157 for other 
non-fi nancial assets. Earlier application is encouraged, provided 
that the reporting entity has not yet issued fi nancial statements 
for that fi scal year, including any fi nancial statements for an 
interim period within that fi scal year. We are currently evaluating 
the impact that SFAS 157 will have on our fi nancial condition, 
results of operations or cash fl ows. 

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) 
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – An Inter-
pretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifi es 
the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an 
enterprise’s fi nancial statements in accordance with SFAS 109. 
FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement 
attribute for the fi nancial statement recognition and measure-
ment of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. 
FIN 48 provides guidance on de-recognition, classifi cation, inter-
est and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and 
transition. The evaluation of a tax position in accordance with 
FIN 48 is a two-step process. The fi rst step is recognition, whereby 
the enterprise determines whether it is more likely than not that a 
tax position will be sustained upon examination, including reso-
lution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the 
technical merits of the position. In evaluating whether a tax posi-
tion has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the 
enterprise should presume that the position will be examined by 
the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all 
relevant information. The second step is measurement whereby a 
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tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition 
threshold is calculated to determine the amount of benefi t to rec-
ognize in the fi nancial statements. The tax position is measured at 
the largest amount of benefi t that is greater than 50% likely of 
being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provisions of FIN 48 
are effective for fi scal years beginning after December 15, 2006. 
Earlier application is permitted as long as the enterprise has not yet 
issued fi nancial statements, including interim fi nancial statements, 
in the period of adoption. The provisions of FIN 48 are to be 
applied to all tax positions upon initial adoption of this standard. 
Only tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition 
threshold at the effective date may be recognized or continue to be 
recognized upon adoption of FIN 48. The cumulative effect of 
applying the provisions of FIN 48 should be reported as an adjust-
ment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other appro-
priate components of equity or net assets in the statement of 
fi nancial position) for that fi scal year. The Company is required to 
adopt FIN 48 in the fi rst quarter of Fiscal 2008, and does not 
believe such adoption will have a material effect on its fi nancial 
condition, results of operation or cash fl ows. 

In June 2006, the EITF issued EITF 06-3, “How Taxes Col-
lected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authori-
ties Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That is, Gross 
versus Net Presentation)” (“EITF 06-3”) to clarify diversity in 
practice on the presentation of different types of taxes in the 
fi nancial statements. The EITF concluded that, for taxes within 
the scope of the issue, a company may adopt a policy of present-
ing taxes either gross within revenue or net. That is, it may 
include charges to customers for taxes within revenues and the 
charge for the taxes from the taxing authority within cost of 
sales, or, alternatively, it may net the charge to the customer and 
the charge from the taxing authority. If taxes are reported on a 
gross basis, and are signifi cant, an entity should disclose the 
amounts of those taxes subject to EITF 06-3. The guidance is 
effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2006. We currently record our sales net of 
any value added or sales tax. Accordingly, the adoption of EITF 
06-3 will not have a material impact on our fi nancial position, 
results of operations or cash fl ows. 

Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
Market Risk Factors 

We have market risk exposure from changes in interest rates, 
foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices. We use 
derivative fi nancial instruments for purposes other than trading 
to mitigate the risk from such exposures. 

A discussion of our accounting policies for derivative fi nancial 
instruments is included in Note 2(r), Signifi cant Accounting 
Policies and Practices – Derivative Financial Instruments, of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Interest Rate Risk 
We have bank lines of credit at variable interest rates. The 

general level of U.S. interest rates, LIBOR and Euro LIBOR 
affect interest expense. We use interest rate swaps to manage 
such risk. The net amounts to be paid or received under interest 
rate swap agreements are accrued as interest rates change, and 
are recognized over the life of the swap agreements as an adjust-
ment to interest expense from the underlying debt to which the 
swap is designated. The related amounts payable to, or receiv-
able from, the contract counter-parties are included in accrued 
liabilities or accounts receivable. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
We are subject to risk from sales and loans to and from our 

subsidiaries as well as sales to, purchases from and bank lines of 
credit with, third-party customers, suppliers and creditors, 
respectively, denominated in foreign currencies. Foreign cur-
rency sales and purchases are made primarily in Euro, Pounds 
Sterling, Brazilian Reals and Canadian Dollars. We manage our 
foreign exchange exposure from anticipated sales, accounts 
receivable, intercompany loans, fi rm purchase commitments, 
accounts payable and credit obligations through the use of natu-
rally occurring offsetting positions (borrowing in local currency), 
forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange rate swaps 
and foreign exchange options. The related amounts payable to, 
or receivable from, the contract counterparties are included in 
accounts payable or accounts receivable. 

Commodity Price Risk 
We are exposed to fl uctuations in market prices for purchases 

of zinc, urea and di-ammonium phosphates used in the manu-
facturing process. We use commodity swaps, calls and puts to 
manage such risk. The maturity of, and the quantities covered 
by, the contracts are closely correlated to our anticipated pur-
chases of the commodities. The cost of calls, and the premiums 
received from the puts, are amortized over the life of the con-
tracts and are recorded in cost of goods sold, along with the 
effects of the swap, put and call contracts. The related amounts 
payable to, or receivable from, the counterparties are included in 
accounts payable or accounts receivable. 

Sensitivity Analysis 
The analysis below is hypothetical and should not be considered 

a projection of future risks. Earnings projections are before tax. 

As of September 30, 2007, the potential change in fair value 
of outstanding interest rate derivative instruments, assuming a 
1 percentage point unfavorable shift in the underlying interest 
rates would be a loss of $8.3 million. The net impact on reported 
earnings, after also including the reduction in one year’s interest 
expense on the related debt due to the same shift in interest 
rates, would be a net gain of $5.3 million. The same hypothetical 
shift in interest rates as of September 30, 2006 would have 
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resulted in a loss of $13.6 million in the fair value of outstanding 
interest rate derivative instruments, and the net impact on 
reported earnings, after also including the reduction in one 
year’s interest expense on the related debt due to the shift in 
interest rates, would have been a net loss of $2.9 million. 

As of September 30, 2007, the potential change in fair value 
of outstanding foreign exchange derivative instruments, assum-
ing a 10% unfavorable change in the underlying exchange rates 
would be a loss of $30.0 million. The net impact on reported 
earnings, after also including the effect of the change in the 
underlying foreign currency-denominated exposures, would be 
a net gain of $0.8 million. The same hypothetical shift in 
exchange rates as of September 30, 2006 would have resulted in 
a loss of $22.8 million in the fair value of outstanding foreign 
exchange derivative instruments, and the net impact on reported 
earnings, after also including the effect of the change in the 
underlying foreign currency-denominated exposures, would 
have been a net gain of $6.0 million. 

As of September 30, 2007, the potential change in fair value 
of outstanding commodity price derivative instruments, assum-
ing a 10% unfavorable change in the underlying commodity 
prices would be a loss of $6.2 million. The net impact on 
reported earnings, after also including the reduction in cost of 
one year’s purchases of the related commodities due to the same 
change in commodity prices, would be a net gain of $2.7 million. 
The same hypothetical shift in commodity prices as of Septem-
ber 30, 2006 would have resulted in a loss of $5.0 million in the 
fair value of outstanding commodity price derivative instru-
ments, and the net impact on reported earnings, after also 
including the reduction in cost of one year’s purchases of the 
related commodities due to the same change in commodity 
prices, would have been a net gain of $2.9 million. 
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September 30, 2007 and 2006

(In thousands, except per share amounts)   2007 2006

Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents    $ 69,853 $ 28,430
 Receivables:
  Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of $16,891 and $21,394, respectively    311,043  329,280
  Other     45,102  36,252
 Inventories     317,469  460,672
 Deferred income taxes     22,208  50,401
 Assets held for sale     572,859  3,499
 Prepaid expenses and other     47,034  51,281

   Total current assets     1,385,568  959,815
Property, plant and equipment, net     249,802  311,839
Deferred charges and other     37,164  49,028
Goodwill     664,649  1,130,184
Intangible assets, net     829,297  1,061,087
Debt issuance costs     44,906  37,367

   Total assets    $ 3,211,386 $ 3,549,320

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Current maturities of long-term debt    $ 43,438 $ 42,713
 Accounts payable     253,480  309,111
 Accrued liabilities:
  Wages and benefi ts     62,120  40,951
  Income taxes payable     18,345  22,498
  Restructuring and related charges     55,793  45,526
  Accrued interest     51,122  36,974
  Liabilities held for sale     47,688  –  
  Other     74,170  64,840

   Total current liabilities     606,156  562,613
Long-term debt, net of current maturities     2,416,916  2,234,458
Employee benefi t obligations, net of current portion     54,469  76,893
Deferred income taxes     169,088  156,578
Other       68,585  66,561

   Total liabilities     3,315,214  3,097,103

Commitments and contingencies 

Shareholders’ equity:
 Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 150,000 shares; issued 69,062 and 
  67,422 shares, respectively; outstanding 52,765 and 51,491 shares, respectively     690  674
 Additional paid-in capital     669,274  651,644
 Accumulated defi cit     (763,370)  (166,657)
 Accumulated other comprehensive income     65,664  39,639

          (27,742)  525,300
Less treasury stock, at cost, 16,297 and 15,931 shares, respectively     (76,086)  (73,083)

   Total shareholders’ (defi cit) equity     (103,828)  452,217

   Total liabilities and shareholders’ (defi cit) equity    $ 3,211,386 $ 3,549,320

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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Years Ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  2007 2006 2005

Net sales  $ 1,994,522 $ 1,894,741 $ 1,762,179
Cost of goods sold   1,226,950  1,165,055  1,076,365
Restructuring and related charges   31,315  22,452  10,496

Gross profi t   736,257  707,234  675,318
Operating expenses:
 Selling   420,294  394,020  365,453
 General and administrative   154,170  157,892  120,175
 Research and development   25,122  29,209  29,339
 Restructuring and related charges   59,725  12,218  6,243
 Goodwill and intangibles impairment   238,439  432,978  –

        897,750  1,026,317  521,210

Operating (loss) income   (161,493)  (319,083)  154,108
Interest expense   195,230  122,988  107,624
Other income, net   (331)  (3,934)  1,350

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes   (356,392)  (438,137)  45,134
Income tax expense (benefi t)   55,716  (22,694)  15,508

(Loss) income from continuing operations   (412,108)  (415,443)  29,626
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax   (184,605)  (18,529)  17,206

Net (loss) income  $ (596,713) $ (433,972) $ 46,832

Basic net income per common share:
(Loss) income from continuing operations  $ (8.09) $ (8.40) $ 0.68
(Loss) income from discontinued operations   (3.63)  (0.37)  0.39

Net (loss) income  $ (11.72) $ (8.77) $ 1.07

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding   50,909  49,459  43,716
Diluted net income per common share:
(Loss) income from continuing operations  $ (8.09) $ (8.40) $ 0.65
(Loss) income from discontinued operations   (3.63)  (0.37)  0.38

 Net (loss) income  $ (11.72) $ (8.77) $ 1.03

Weighted average shares of common stock and equivalents outstanding   50,909  49,459  45,631

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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Years Ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005
     Accumulated  Notes
    Retained Other Receivable   Total
   Additional Earnings,  Comprehensive from  Shareholders’ 
  Common Stock  Paid-In (Accumulated Income, Officers/ Treasury Equity
(In thousands) Shares  Amount  Capital Deficit) Net of tax Shareholders Stock (Deficit)

Balances at September 30, 2004 34,683 $642 $    217,973 $  220,483 $  10,621 $(3,605) $(130,070) $  316,044
Net income –   –   –   46,832 –   –   –   46,832
Adjustment of additional 
 minimum pension liability –   –   –   –   (6,741) –   –   (6,741)
Translation adjustment –   –   –   –   4,696 –   –   4,696
Net gain on derivative instruments –   –   –   –   1,684 –   –   1,684

 
Comprehensive income              46,471
Issuance of restricted stock 1,242 12 (12) –   –   –   –   –
Forfeiture of restricted stock (112) (1) 1 –   –   –   –   –
Exercise of stock options 1,276 13 29,019 –   –   –   –   29,032
Treasury shares issued 13,708 –   378,819 –   –   –   59,250 438,069
Note payments from officers/shareholders –   –   –   –   –   3,605 –   3,605
Amortization of unearned compensation –   –   9,509 –   –   –   –   9,509

 
Balances at September 30, 2005 50,797 $666 $635,309 $     267,315 $10,260 $     –   $ (70,820) $  842,730
Net loss –   –   –   (433,972) –   –   –   (433,972)
Adjustment of additional minimum pension liability –   –   –   –   7,034 –   –   7,034
Translation adjustment –   –   –   –   14,261 –   –   14,261
Net gain on derivative instruments –   –   –   –   8,084 –   –   8,084

 
Comprehensive loss              (404,593)
Issuance of restricted stock 965 10 (10) –   –   –   –   –
Forfeiture of restricted stock (196) (2) 2 –   –   –   –   –
Exercise of stock options 28 –   445 –   –   –   –   445
Stock option expense –   –   729 –   –   –   –   729
Treasury shares surrendered (103) –   –   –   –   –   (2,263) (2,263)
Amortization of unearned compensation –   –   15,169 –   –   –   –   15,169

 
Balances at September 30, 2006 51,491 $  674 $  651,644 $ (166,657) $39,639 $     –   $  (73,083) $ 452,217
Net loss –   –   –   (596,713) –   –   –   (596,713)
Adjustment of additional minimum pension liability –   –   –   –   1,016 –   –   1,016
Translation adjustment –   –   –   –   44,489 –   –   44,489
Other unrealized gains and losses –   –   –   –   (17,580) –   –   (17,580)

 
Comprehensive loss              (568,788)
Adoption of FAS 158, net of tax –   –   –   –   (1,900) –   –   (1,900)
Issuance of restricted stock 1,689 15 (15) –   –   –   –   –
Forfeiture of restricted stock (199) –   –   –   –   –   –   – 

Exercise of stock options 149 1 690 –   –   –   –   691
Stock option expense –   –   115 –   –   –   –   115
Adjustment for tax benefit realized –   –   (4,374) –   –   –   –   (4,374)
Treasury shares surrendered (365) –   –   –   –   –   (3,003) (3,003)
Amortization of unearned compensation –   –   21,214 –   –   –   –   21,214

Balances at September 30, 2007 52,765 $690 $669,274 $(763,370) $65,664 $     –   $  (76,086) $(103,828)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
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Years Ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(In thousands)  2007 2006 2005

Cash fl ows from operating activities:
 (Loss) income from continuing operations  $ (412,108) $ (415,443) $ 29,626
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
 Depreciation   42,365  41,524  40,108
 Amortization of intangibles   13,846  13,819  7,664
 Amortization of debt issuance costs   11,855  6,872  6,023
 Amortization of unearned restricted stock compensation   21,214  15,169  9,509
 Impairment of goodwill and intangibles   238,439  432,978  –
 Gain on sale of assets   –    (8,876)  –
 Loss on debt extinguishment   –    –    12,033
 Inventory valuation purchase accounting charges   –    204  37,533
 Deferred income taxes   57,145  (52,581)  (12,265)
 Writeoff of debt issuance costs   24,576  –    –
 Non-cash restructuring and related charges   62,408  41,235  10,426
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
 Accounts receivable   (45,654)  (6,433)  51,588
 Inventories   25,039  6,749  (23,709)
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (7,957)  (1,989)  (3,404)
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (25,849)  (88,334)  (9,256)
 Other assets and liabilities   (21,638)  22,351  17,836

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities of continuing operations    (16,319)  7,245  173,712
Net cash (used) provided by operating activities of discontinued operations    (16,662)  39,548  43,989

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities   (32,981)  46,793  217,701
Cash fl ows from investing activities:
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment   (22,101)  (54,945)  (56,742)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    1,572  5,439  177
 Proceeds from sale of assets held for sale   –    10,641  –
 Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired   –    (18,501)  (1,630,155)

Net cash used by investing activities of continuing operations   (20,529)  (57,366)  (1,686,720)
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities of discontinued operations    (2,200)  78,007  (7,108)

Net cash (used) provided by investing activities   (22,729)  20,641  (1,693,828)
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities:
 Reduction of debt   (2,028,549)  (956,068)  (1,080,951)
 Proceeds from debt fi nancing   2,176,623  898,520  2,581,378
 Debt issuance costs   (43,969)  (5,236)  (31,713)
 Payments on capital lease obligations   (8,730)  (4,131)  (8,874)
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options   655  365  18,413
 Stock option income tax benefi t   37  80  10,732
 Treasury stock purchases   (3,003)  (2,263)  (1,106)
 Payments from offi cers/shareholders   –    –    3,605

Net cash provided (used) by fi nancing activities   93,064  (68,733)  1,491,484
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   4,069  (122)  524

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   41,423  (1,422)  15,881
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   28,430  29,852  13,971

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 69,853 $ 28,430 $ 29,852

Supplemental disclosure of cash fl ow information:
Cash paid for interest  $ 197,745 $ 164,639 $ 100,770
Cash paid for income taxes, net   20,596  43,231  21,973
Issuance of Treasury shares for the United acquisition   –    –    439,175

Sale of Mexican manufacturing facility:
 Reduction in deferred proceeds   –    –    9,440
 Reduction in assets held for sale   –    –    7,874
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Spectrum Brands, Inc.

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

(1) Description of Business 
Spectrum Brands, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) is a 

global branded consumer products company with positions in 
seven major product categories: consumer batteries; pet supplies; 
lawn and garden care; electric shaving and grooming; electric 
personal care; household insect control; and portable lighting. In 
the third quarter of the Company’s fi scal year ended September 30, 
2006, the Company engaged advisors to assist it in exploring 
possible strategic options, including a potential sale of various 
assets in order to reduce its outstanding indebtedness. In connec-
tion with this undertaking, during the fi rst quarter of Fiscal 2007, 
the Company approved and initiated a plan to sell the assets 
related to its lawn and garden and household insect control prod-
uct offerings (the “Home and Garden Business”). As a result, the 
Company has designated certain assets and liabilities related to 
its Home and Garden Business as held for sale and has designated 
the Home and Garden Business as discontinued operations. 
Therefore, the presentation herein of the results of continuing 
operations has been reclassifi ed to exclude the Home and Garden 
Business for all periods presented. (See also Note 5, Assets Held 
for Sale, and Note 11, Discontinued Operations, for additional 
information on assets held for sale and discontinued operations). 

In Fiscal 2007, the Company began managing its business in 
three reportable segments: (i) Global Batteries & Personal Care, 
which consists of the Company’s worldwide battery, shaving and 
grooming, personal care and portable lighting business (“Global 
Batteries & Personal Care”); (ii) Global Pet Supplies, which con-
sists of the Company’s worldwide pet supplies business (“Global 
Pet Supplies”); and (iii) the Home and Garden Business, which 
has been designated as discontinued operations. The presentation 
of all historical segment reporting herein has been reclassifi ed to 
conform to this segment structure. 

 The Company’s continuing operations include the worldwide 
manufacturing and marketing of alkaline, zinc carbon and hear-
ing aid batteries, as well as aquariums and aquatic supplies and 
the design and marketing of rechargeable batteries, battery-pow-
ered lighting products, electric shavers and accessories, grooming 
products and hair care appliances. The Company’s continuing 
operations also include the manufacturing and marketing of 
specialty pet supplies. The Company’s continuing operations uti-
lize manufacturing and product development facilities located in 
the United States, Europe, China and Latin America. Through 
the Company’s Home and Garden Business, presented here as 
discontinued operations, it manufactures and markets lawn fer-
tilizers, herbicides, insecticides and repellants in North America. 

During 2005, the Company made two signifi cant acquisitions 
designed to diversify the Company’s business and leverage the 
Company’s distribution strengths. On April 29, 2005, the Company 
acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of Tetra Holding 
GmbH and its affi liates and subsidiaries in the aquatics business 
(“Tetra”) for a purchase price of approximately $550,000, net of 

cash acquired of approximately $13,000 and inclusive of a fi nal 
working capital payment of $2,400, made in July 2005. The aggre-
gate purchase price also included acquisition related expenditures 
of approximately $16,100. The acquisition was fi nanced with bor-
rowings under an Incremental Term Loan Facility and existing 
Revolving Credit Facility. Tetra manufactures, distributes and mar-
kets a comprehensive line of foods, equipment and care products 
for fi sh and reptiles, along with accessories for home aquariums 
and ponds. Subsequent to the acquisition, the fi nancial results of 
Tetra are included in the Global Pet Supplies business segment 
within the Company’s consolidated results. (See also Note 17, 
Acquisitions, for additional information on the Tetra acquisition). 

On February 7, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition 
of all of the outstanding equity interests of United Industries Cor-
poration (“United”), a leading manufacturer and marketer of 
products for the consumer lawn and garden and household insect 
control markets in North America and a leading supplier of spe-
cialty pet supplies in the United States. The aggregate purchase 
price was approximately $1,490,000, net of cash acquired of 
approximately $14,000. The purchase price consisted of cash 
consideration of approximately $1,051,000 and common stock 
totaling approximately $439,000. The aggregate purchase price 
included acquisition related expenditures of approximately 
$22,000. (See also Note 17, Acquisitions, for additional informa-
tion on the United acquisition). Subsequent to the acquisition, 
the fi nancial results of the lawn and garden and household insect 
control business of United are included in the Home and Garden 
Business, which is designated as discontinued operations, and the 
fi nancial results of the pet business of United are included in the 
Global Pet Supplies business segment within the Company’s con-
solidated results. 

The Company also completed the acquisition of Jungle Labora-
tories Corporation (“Jungle Labs”) during the fourth quarter of 
2005. (See also Note 17, Acquisitions, for additional information 
on the Jungle acquisitions). 

The Company sells its products in approximately 120 countries 
through a variety of trade channels, including retailers, wholesal-
ers and distributors, hearing aid professionals, industrial distribu-
tors and original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and enjoys 
name recognition in its markets under the Rayovac, VARTA and 
Remington brands, each of which has been in existence for more 
than 80 years, and under the Tetra, 8in1 and various other brands. 
The Company’s Home and Garden Business has name recogni-
tion under the Spectracide and Cutter brands, among others. 

(2) Significant Accounting Policies and Practices 

(a) Principles of Consolidation and Fiscal Yearend 
The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial 

statements of Spectrum Brands, Inc. and its subsidiaries and are 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America. All intercompany 
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transactions have been eliminated. The Company’s fi scal year 
ends September 30. References herein to 2007, 2006 and 2005 
refer to the fi scal years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively. 

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements presented 
herein include the results of Jungle Labs subsequent to the Sep-
tember 1, 2005 date of acquisition, the results of operations for 
Tetra subsequent to the April 29, 2005 date of acquisition, and the 
results of operations for United subsequent to the February 7, 2005 
date of acquisition. (See also Note 17, Acquisitions, for additional 
information on the Jungle Labs, Tetra, and United acquisitions). 

(b) Revenue Recognition 
The Company recognizes revenue from product sales generally 

upon delivery to the customer or the shipping point in situations 
where the customer picks up the product or where delivery terms 
so stipulate. This represents the point at which title and all risks 
and rewards of ownership of the product are passed, provided 
that: there are no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance; 
there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists; the price 
to the buyer is fi xed or determinable; and collectibility is deemed 
reasonably assured. The Company is not obligated to allow for, 
and the Company’s general policy is not to accept, product 
returns associated with battery sales. The Company does accept 
returns in specifi c instances related to its shaving, grooming, 
personal care, lawn and garden, household and pet products. 
The provision for customer returns is based on historical sales 
and returns and other relevant information. The Company esti-
mates and accrues the cost of returns, which are treated as a 
reduction of Net sales. 

The Company enters into various promotional arrangements, 
primarily with retail customers, including arrangements entitling 
such retailers to cash rebates from the Company based on the 
level of their purchases, which require the Company to estimate 
and accrue the estimated costs of the promotional programs. 
These costs are treated as a reduction of Net sales. 

The Company also enters into promotional arrangements that 
target the ultimate consumer. Such arrangements are treated as 
either a reduction of Net sales or an increase of Cost of goods 
sold, based on the type of promotional program. The income 
statement presentation of the Company’s promotional arrange-
ments complies with the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 
No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to 
a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).” 

For all types of promotional arrangements and programs, the 
Company monitors its commitments and uses various measures, 
including past experience, to determine amounts to be recorded 
for the estimate of the earned, but unpaid, promotional costs. 
The terms of the Company’s customer-related promotional

arrangements and programs are tailored to each customer and 
are documented through written contracts, correspondence or 
other communications with the individual customers. 

The Company also enters into various arrangements, primarily 
with retail customers, which require the Company to make 
upfront cash, or “slotting” payments, to secure the right to dis-
tribute through such customers. The Company capitalizes slot-
ting payments, provided the payments are supported by a time or 
volume-based arrangement with the retailer, and amortizes the 
associated payment over the appropriate time or volume-based 
term of the arrangement. The amortization of slotting payments 
is treated as a reduction in Net sales and a corresponding asset is 
reported in Deferred charges and other in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

(c) Use of Estimates 
The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with 

generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the fi nancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

(d) Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 

the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments pur-
chased with original maturities of three months or less to be 
cash equivalents. 

(e) Concentrations of Credit Risk, Major Customers and Employees 
Trade receivables subject the Company to credit risk. Trade 

accounts receivable are carried at net realizable value. The Com-
pany extends credit to its customers based upon an evaluation of 
the customer’s fi nancial condition and credit history, but gener-
ally does not require collateral. The Company monitors its cus-
tomers’ credit and fi nancial condition based on changing 
economic conditions and will make adjustments to credit policies 
as required. Provision for losses on uncollectible trade receivables 
are determined principally on the basis of past collection experi-
ence applied to ongoing evaluations of the Company’s receivables 
and evaluations of the risks of nonpayment for a given customer. 

The Company has a broad range of customers, including many 
large retail outlet chains, one of which accounts for a signifi cant 
percentage of its sales volume. This major customer represented 
approximately 19%, 20% and 19% of net sales during 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively. This major customer also repre-
sented approximately 11% and 11%, respectively, of Trade 
account receivables, net as of September 30, 2007 and 2006. 
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Approximately 57% of the Company’s sales occur outside of 
the United States. These sales and related receivables are subject 
to varying degrees of credit, currency, and political and eco-
nomic risk. The Company monitors these risks and makes 
appropriate provisions for collectibility based on an assessment 
of the risks present. 

(f) Displays and Fixtures 
Temporary displays are generally disposable cardboard displays 

shipped to customers to facilitate display of the Company’s prod-
ucts. Temporary displays are generally disposed of after a single 
use by the customer. 

Permanent fi xtures are permanent in nature, generally made 
from wire or other permanent racking, which are shipped to 
customers for display of the Company’s products. These perma-
nent fi xtures are restocked with the Company’s product multiple 
times over the fi xture’s useful life. 

The costs of both temporary and permanent displays are capi-
talized as a prepaid asset and are included in Prepaid expenses 
and other in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The costs of tempo-
rary displays are expensed in the period in which they are shipped 
to customers and the costs of permanent fi xtures are amortized 
over an estimated useful life of one to two years once they are 
shipped to customers and are refl ected in Deferred charges and 
other in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

(g) Inventories 
The Company’s inventories are valued at the lower of cost or 

market. Cost of inventories is determined using the fi rst-in, 
fi rst-out (FIFO) method. 

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at lower of cost or at 

fair value if acquired in a purchase business combination. 
Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated on the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
Depreciable lives by major classifi cation are as follows: 

Building and improvements 20-30 years
Machinery, equipment and other 2-15 years

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company evalu-
ates recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing the 
carrying amount of an asset to future net cash fl ows expected to be 
generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, 
the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of 
the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the 
carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell (See Note 6, Intan-
gible Assets, for additional information on goodwill and intangible 
assets and Note 5, Assets Held for Sale, for additional information 
on assets expected to be disposed). 

(i) Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets are recorded at cost or at fair value if acquired 

in a purchase business combination. Customer lists and proprie-
tary technology intangibles are amortized, using the straight-line 
method, over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 19 years. Excess 
of cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill) and trade 
name intangibles are not amortized. Goodwill is tested for 
impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level. If  
impairment is indicated, a write down to fair value (normally 
measured by discounting estimated future cash fl ows) is 
recorded. Trade name intangibles are tested for impairment at 
least annually by comparing the fair value with the carrying 
value. Any excess of carrying value over fair value is recognized 
as an impairment loss in income from operations. (See Note 6, 
Intangible Assets, for additional information on goodwill and 
intangible assets). 

Intangibles with Indefinite Lives 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 

142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) requires 
that goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets be tested for 
impairment annually, or more often if an event or circumstance 
indicates that an impairment loss may have been incurred. For 
Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s goodwill and trade 
name intangibles were tested for impairment as of the Company’s 
August fi nancial period end, the date of testing for the Company. 
In addition, during Fiscal 2007, the Company’s goodwill and 
trade name intangibles were also tested for impairment as of 
April 1, 2007, in conjunction with the Company’s realignment of 
reportable segments. 

In accordance with SFAS 142, the Company, with the assistance 
of independent third-party valuation specialists, conducted 
impairment testing on the Company’s goodwill. The Company 
used the discounted estimated future cash fl ows methodology to 
determine the fair value of its reporting units. Assumptions criti-
cal to the Company’s fair value estimates were: (i) the present 
value factors used in determining the fair value of the reporting 
units and trade names or third-party indicated fair values for 
assets expected to be disposed; (ii) royalty rates used in the Com-
pany’s trade name valuations; (iii) projected average revenue 
growth rates used in the reporting unit and trade name models; 
and (iv) projected long-term growth rates used in the derivation 
of terminal year values. These and other assumptions are 
impacted by economic conditions and expectations of manage-
ment and will change in the future based on period-specifi c facts 
and circumstances. The Company also tested fair value for rea-
sonableness by comparison to the market capitalization of the 
Company. The Company fi rst compared the fair value of its 
reporting units with their carrying amounts, including goodwill. 
In Fiscal 2007, this fi rst step indicated that the fair value of the 
Company’s North America reporting unit, which is included in 
the Global Batteries & Personal Care reportable segment, was 
less than the Company’s North America reporting unit’s carrying 
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amount and, accordingly, further testing of goodwill was required 
to determine the impairment charge required by SFAS 142. In 
Fiscal 2006, this fi rst step indicated that the fair value of the 
Latin America reporting unit, which is included in the Global 
Batteries & Personal Care reportable segment, and the Global Pet 
Supplies reporting unit were less than their carrying amounts 
and, accordingly, further testing of goodwill was required to 
determine the impairment charge required by SFAS 142. 

In Fiscal 2007, management then compared the carrying 
amount of the North America reporting unit’s goodwill against the 
implied fair value of goodwill. The carrying amount of the North 
America reporting unit’s goodwill was determined to exceed 
implied fair value and, therefore, management recorded an 
impairment charge equal to the excess of the carrying amount of 
the reporting unit’s goodwill over the implied fair value of such 
goodwill. As a result, the Company recorded a non-cash pretax 
impairment charge of approximately $214,039 in Fiscal 2007. In 
Fiscal 2006, management then compared the carrying amount of 
the Latin America and Global Pet Supplies reporting units’ good-
will against their respective implied fair values of goodwill. The 
carrying amounts of the reporting units’ goodwill were determined 
to exceed their implied fair values and, therefore, management 
recorded an impairment charge equal to the excess of the carrying 
amounts of the reporting units’ goodwill over the implied fair val-
ues of such goodwill. As a result of this goodwill impairment analy-
sis, the Company recorded a non-cash pretax goodwill impairment 
charge of approximately $352,878 in Fiscal 2006. There were no 
impairment losses related to goodwill recognized in Fiscal 2005. 

In addition, in accordance with SFAS 142, the Company, with 
the assistance of independent third-party valuation specialists, 
also compared the carrying amount of trade name intangible 
assets with their respective fair values. Fair value was determined 
using a relief from royalty methodology. In Fiscal 2007 and 
2006 management concluded that the fair values of certain 
trade name intangible assets were less than the carrying amounts 
of those assets. As a result, in Fiscal 2007 and 2006 the Com-
pany recorded non-cash pretax impairment charges of approxi-
mately $24,400 and $80,100, respectively, equal to the excess of 
the carrying amounts of the intangible assets over the fair value 
of such assets. There were no impairment losses related to trade 
names recognized in Fiscal 2005. 

The recognition of the total non-cash pretax impairment of cer-
tain goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets of $238,439 in 
Fiscal 2007 and $432,978 in Fiscal 2006, which are recorded as a 
separate component of Operating expenses, has had a material 
negative effect on the Company’s fi nancial condition and results of 
operations for the fi scal years ended September 30, 2007 and 
2006. The impairments will not result in future cash expenditures. 

Management uses its judgment in assessing whether assets may 
have become impaired between annual impairment tests. Indicators

 such as unexpected adverse business conditions, economic factors, 
unanticipated technological change or competitive activities, loss 
of key personnel, and acts by governments and courts may signal 
that an asset has become impaired. The above impairment of 
goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangibles is primarily attributed to 
lower current and forecasted profi ts versus those assumed by the 
Company at the time of acquisition. 

Intangibles with Definite or Estimable Useful Lives 
The Company assesses the recoverability of intangible assets 

with defi nite or estimable useful lives in accordance with SFAS 
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”) by determining whether the carrying 
value can be recovered through projected undiscounted future 
cash fl ows. If projected undiscounted future cash fl ows indicate 
that the unamortized carrying value of intangible assets with 
fi nite useful lives will not be recovered, an adjustment would be 
made to reduce the carrying value to an amount equal to pro-
jected future cash fl ows discounted at the Company’s incremental 
borrowing rate. The cash fl ow projections used are based on 
trends of historical performance and management’s estimate of 
future performance, giving consideration to existing and antici-
pated competitive and economic conditions. 

Impairment reviews are conducted at the judgment of manage-
ment when it believes that a change in circumstances in the business 
or external factors warrants a review. Circumstances such as the 
discontinuation of a product or product line, a sudden or consistent 
decline in the sales forecast for a product, changes in technology or 
in the way an asset is being used, a history of operating or cash fl ow 
losses, or an adverse change in legal factors or in the business cli-
mate, among others, may trigger an impairment review. The Com-
pany’s initial impairment review to determine if an impairment test 
is required is based on an undiscounted cash fl ow analysis for asset 
groups at the lowest level for which identifi able cash fl ows exist. The 
analysis requires management judgment with respect to changes in 
technology, the continued success of product lines and future vol-
ume, revenue and expense growth rates, and discount rates. 

In accordance with SFAS 144, long-lived assets to be disposed 
of by sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying value or fair 
value less costs to sell. During Fiscal 2007, the Company recorded 
a non-cash pretax charge of $168,520 in discontinued operations 
to reduce the carrying value of certain assets, principally consist-
ing of goodwill and intangible assets, related to the Home and 
Garden Business in order to refl ect the estimated fair value of this 
business. Included in such non-cash pretax impairment charge 
was $4,249 related to defi nite-lived intangible assets related to 
the Canadian division of the Home and Garden Business, which 
operates under the name Nu-Gro. (See Note 5, Assets Held for 
Sale, for additional information regarding this impairment 
charge). There were no impairment charges for defi nite-lived 
intangible assets recorded during Fiscal 2006 and 2005. 
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(j) Debt Issuance Costs 
Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized to interest 

expense using the effective interest method over the lives of the 
related debt agreements. 

(k) Accounts Payable 
Included in accounts payable are bank overdrafts, net of deposits 

on hand, on disbursement accounts that are replenished when 
checks are presented for payment. 

(l) Income Taxes 
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability 

method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
fi nancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and lia-
bilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax 
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are mea-
sured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income 
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected 
to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the 
period of the enactment date. 

(m) Foreign Currency Translation 
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are 

translated at the rate of exchange existing at year end, with reve-
nues, expenses, and cash fl ows translated at the average of the 
monthly exchange rates. Adjustments resulting from translation 
of the fi nancial statements are recorded as a component of Accu-
mulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”). Also included in 
AOCI are the effects of exchange rate changes on intercompany 
balances of a long-term nature. 

As of September 30, 2007 and 2006, foreign currency transla-
tion adjustment balances of $83,483 and $39,031, respectively, 
were refl ected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in AOCI. 

Exchange losses on foreign currency transactions aggregating 
$4,749, $3,898, and $2,301 for Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively, are included in Other income, net, in the Consoli-
dated Statements of Operations. 

(n) Shipping and Handling Costs 
The Company incurred shipping and handling costs of 

$134,112, $120,219 and $99,462 in Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively, which are included in Selling expenses. Ship-
ping and handling costs include costs incurred with third-party 
carriers to transport products to customers and salaries and 
overhead costs related to activities to prepare the Company’s 
products for shipment at the Company’s distribution facilities. 

 

(o) Advertising Costs 
The Company incurred expenses for advertising of $49,071, 

$43,366 and $59,504 in Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively, which are included in Selling expenses. 

(p) Research and Development Costs 
Research and development costs are charged to expense in the 

period they are incurred. 

(q) Net Income Per Common Share 
Basic net income per common share is computed by dividing 

net income available to common shareholders by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the period. 
Basic net income per common share does not consider common 
stock equivalents. Diluted net income per common share refl ects 
the dilution that would occur if employee stock options and 
restricted stock awards were exercised or converted into com-
mon shares or resulted in the issuance of common shares that 
then shared in the net income of the entity. The computation of 
diluted net income per common share uses the “if converted” 
and “treasury stock” methods to refl ect dilution. The difference 
between the basic and diluted number of shares is due to the 
effects of restricted stock and assumed conversion of employee 
stock options awards. 

Net income per common share is calculated based upon the 
following shares: 

     2007   2006   2005 

Basic  50,909 49,459 43,716
Effect of restricted stock 
 and assumed conversion 
 of stock options  –   –   1,915

Diluted  50,909 49,459 45,631

The Company has not assumed the exercise of common stock 
equivalents in either Fiscal 2007 or 2006, as the impact would 
be antidilutive. 

(r) Derivative Financial Instruments 
Derivative fi nancial instruments are used by the Company 

principally in the management of its interest rate, foreign cur-
rency and raw material price exposures. The Company does not 
hold or issue derivative fi nancial instruments for trading pur-
poses. When entered into, the Company formally designates the 
fi nancial instrument as a hedge of a specifi c underlying exposure 
if such criteria are met, and documents both the risk manage-
ment objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge. The 
Company formally assesses, both at the inception and at least 
quarterly thereafter, whether the fi nancial instruments that are 
used in hedging transactions are effective at offsetting changes 
in either the fair value or cash fl ows of the related underlying 
exposure. Because of the high degree of effectiveness between 
the hedging instrument and the underlying exposure being 
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hedged, fl uctuations in the value of the derivative instruments 
are generally offset by changes in the fair values or cash fl ows of 
the underlying exposures being hedged. Any ineffective portion 
of a fi nancial instrument’s change in fair value is immediately 
recognized in earnings. 

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manage its interest 
rate risk. The swaps are designated as cash fl ow hedges with the 
changes in fair value recorded in AOCI and as a derivative hedge 
asset or liability, as applicable. The swaps settle periodically in 
arrears with the related amounts for the current settlement period 
payable to, or receivable from, the counterparties included in 
accrued liabilities or receivables, respectively, and recognized in 
earnings as an adjustment to interest expense from the underly-
ing debt to which the swap is designated. During Fiscal 2007, 
2006 and 2005, $9,043 and $1,914 of pretax derivative gains 
and $2,166 of derivative losses, respectively, from such hedges 
were recorded as an adjustment to Interest expense. During Fis-
cal 2007, 2006 and 2005, $0 and $431 of pretax derivative gains 
and $140 of pretax derivative losses, respectively, were recorded 
as adjustments to interest expense for ineffectiveness from such 
hedges and included in the amounts above. At September 30, 

2007 the Company had a portfolio of USD-denominated interest 
rate swaps outstanding which effectively fi xes the interest rates 
on fl oating rate debt, exclusive of lender spreads, at rates as fol-
lows: 4.46% for a notional principal amount of $170,000 through 
October 2008 and 5.49% for a notional principal amount of 
$225,000 through March 2010. In addition, the Company had a 
portfolio of EUR-denominated interest rate swaps outstanding 
which effectively fi xes the interest rates on fl oating rate debt, 
exclusive of lender spreads, at rates as follows: 2.68% for a 
notional principal amount of €185,000 through September 
2008. The derivative net gain on these contracts recorded in 
AOCI at September 30, 2007 was $163, net of tax expense of 
$100. The derivative net gain on these contracts recorded in 
AOCI at September 30, 2006 was $6,385, net of tax expense of 
$3,913. The derivative net gain on these contracts recorded in 
AOCI at September 30, 2005 was $1,671, net of tax expense of 
$940. At September 30, 2007, the portion of derivative net gains 
estimated to be reclassifi ed from AOCI into earnings over the 
next 12 months is $2,013, net of tax. 

The Company’s interest rate swap derivative fi nancial instru-
ments are summarized as follows: 

  2007   2006   2005 

  Notional Remaining Notional Remaining Notional Remaining
 Amount  Term  Amount  Term  Amount  Term 

Interest rate swaps – fixed $ 175,000 0.03 years $ 100,000 0.58 years $ 70,000 0.03 years
Interest rate swaps – fixed $ 70,760 0.07 years $ 251,200 1.00 years $ 100,000 0.13 years
Interest rate swaps – fixed $ 261,812 1.07 years $ 279,400 2.00 years $ 175,000 2.03 years
Interest rate swaps – fixed $ 170,000 1.11 years $ 170,000 2.08 years $ 100,000 3.04 years
Interest rate swaps – fixed $ 225,000 2.52 years

The Company periodically enters into forward foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge the risk from forecasted foreign 
denominated third-party and intercompany sales or payments. 
These obligations generally require the Company to exchange 
foreign currencies for U.S. Dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling, Aus-
tralian Dollars, Brazilian Reals, Canadian Dollars or Japanese 
Yen. These foreign exchange contracts are cash fl ow hedges of 
fl uctuating foreign exchange related to sales or product or raw 
material purchases. Until the sale or purchase is recognized, the 
fair value of the related hedge is recorded in AOCI and as a 
derivative hedge asset or liability, as applicable. At the time the 
sale or purchase is recognized, the fair value of the related hedge 
is reclassifi ed as an adjustment to Net sales or purchase price 
variance in Cost of goods sold. During Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 
2005, $319, $51 and $0, respectively, of pretax derivative gains 
from such hedges were recorded as an adjustment to Net sales. 
During Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, $2,944 and $334 of pretax 
derivative losses and $445 of pretax derivate gains, respectively, 
from such hedges were recorded as an adjustment to Cost of 

goods sold. Following the sale or purchase, subsequent changes 
in the fair value of the derivative hedge contracts are recorded as 
a gain or loss in earnings as an offset to the change in value of the 
related asset or liability recorded in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet. During Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, $1,295 and $258 of 
pretax derivative losses and $149 of pretax derivative gains, 
respectively, from such hedges were recorded as an adjustment 
to earnings in Other income, net. The pretax derivative adjust-
ment to earnings for ineffectiveness from these contracts for 
2007, 2006 and 2005 was $0. At September 30, 2007 and 2006 
and 2005, respectively, the Company had $157,520 and $97,932 
and $0 of such foreign exchange derivative contracts outstand-
ing. The derivative net loss on these contracts recorded in AOCI 
at September 30, 2007 was $6,010, net of tax benefi t of $3,318. 
The derivative net gain on these contracts recorded in AOCI at 
September 30, 2006 was $647, net of tax expense of $326. The 
derivative net gain on these contracts recorded in AOCI at Sep-
tember 30, 2005 was $0. At September 30, 2007, the portion of 
derivative net losses estimated to be reclassifi ed from AOCI into 
earnings over the next 12 months is $4,907, net of tax. 
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The Company periodically enters into forward and swap foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge the risk from third-party and inter-
company payments resulting from existing obligations. These 
obligations generally require the Company to exchange foreign 
currencies for U.S. Dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling, Brazilian 
Reals or Canadian Dollars. These foreign exchange contracts are 
fair value hedges of a related liability or asset recorded in the Con-
solidated Balance Sheet. The gain or loss on the derivative hedge 
contracts is recorded in earnings as an offset to the change in value 
of the related liability or asset at each period end. During Fiscal 
2007, 2006 and 2005, $16,485 of pretax derivative losses, $2,128 
of pretax derivative gains and $1,331 of pretax derivative losses, 
respectively, from such hedges were recorded as an adjustment to 
earnings in Other income, net. At September 30, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, $125,771 and $129,663 and $0, respectively, of such foreign 
exchange derivative contracts were outstanding. 

The Company is exposed to risk from fl uctuating prices for 
raw materials, including zinc, urea and di-ammonium phos-
phates used in its manufacturing processes. The Company 
hedges a portion of the risk associated with these materials 
through the use of commodity call options and swaps. The hedge 
contracts are designated as cash fl ow hedges with the fair value 
changes recorded in AOCI and as a hedge asset or liability, as 
applicable. The unrecognized changes in fair value of the hedge 
contracts are reclassifi ed from AOCI into earnings when the 
hedged purchase of raw materials also affects earnings. The call 
options effectively cap the fl oating price on a specifi ed quantity 
of raw materials through a specifi ed date. The swaps effectively 
fi x the fl oating price on a specifi ed quantity of raw materials 
through a specifi ed date. During Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
$14,012, $2,290 and $4,215, respectively, of pretax derivative 
gains were recorded as an adjustment to Cost of goods sold for 
swap or option contracts settled at maturity. The hedges are 
generally highly effective; however, during Fiscal 2007, 2006 
and 2005, $583 and $24 of pretax derivative losses and $162 of 
pretax derivative gains, respectively, were recorded as an adjust-
ment to Cost of goods sold for ineffectiveness. At September 30, 
2007 the Company had a series of such swap contracts outstand-
ing through September 2009, with a contract value of $64,043. 
At September 30, 2006, $43,614 of such commodity contracts 
were outstanding. At September 30, 2005, $5,591 of such com-
modity contracts were outstanding. The derivative net loss on 
these contracts recorded in AOCI at September 30, 2007 was 
$1,107, net of tax benefi t of $529. The derivative net gain on 
these contracts recorded in AOCI at September 30, 2006 was 
$3,495, net of tax expense of $1,852. The derivative net gain on 
these contracts recorded in AOCI at September 30, 2005 was 
$299, net of tax expense of $179. At September 30, 2007, the 
portion of derivative net losses estimated to be reclassifi ed from 
AOCI into earnings over the next 12 months is $874, net of tax. 

(s) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts 

and notes receivable, accounts payable and short-term debt 
approximate fair value. The fair values of long-term debt and 
derivative fi nancial instruments are generally based on quoted 
market prices. 

The carrying value of fi nancial instruments approximate the 
fair value of those instruments due to the applicable interest rates 
being substantially at market (“fl oating”), except for $2,873 of 
Senior Subordinated Notes due September 30, 2013 with interest 
payable semiannually at 8.5%, $347,012 of Senior Subordinated 
Notes due October 2, 2013 with interest payable semiannually at 
11.25% and $700,000 of Senior Subordinated Notes due Febru-
ary 1, 2015 with interest payable semiannually at 7.375%. The 
total fair value of these Notes at September 30, 2007 was approx-
imately $845,733. (See also Note 2(r), Signifi cant Accounting 
Policies – Derivative Financial Instruments, and Note 7, Debt). 

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s fi nancial 
instruments are summarized as follows ((liability)/asset): 

  September 30, 
 2007 2006 

   Carrying  Carrying
 Amount  Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Total debt $(2,460,354) $(2,256,202) $(2,277,171) $(2,121,454)
Interest rate 
 swap 
 agreements 1,986 1,986 11,584 11,584
Commodity 
 swap and 
 option 
 agreements (1,636) (1,636) 5,347 5,347
Foreign 
 exchange 
 forward 
 agreements (8,974) (8,974) 963 963

(t) Environmental Expenditures 
Environmental expenditures that relate to current ongoing 

operations or to conditions caused by past operations are expensed 
or capitalized as appropriate. The Company determines its liabil-
ity on a site-by-site basis and records a liability at the time when 
it is probable that a liability has been incurred and such liability 
can be reasonably estimated. The estimated liability is not reduced 
for possible recoveries from insurance carriers. Estimated envi-
ronmental remediation expenditures are included in the determi-
nation of the net realizable value recorded for assets held for sale. 
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(u) Reclassifications 
In Fiscal 2007, the Company began managing its business in 

three reportable segments: (i) Global Batteries & Personal Care, 
which consists of the Company’s worldwide battery, shaving and 
grooming, personal care and portable lighting business (“Global 
Batteries & Personal Care”); (ii) Global Pet Supplies, which con-
sists of the Company’s worldwide pet supplies business (“Global 
Pet Supplies”); and (iii) the Home and Garden Business, which 
is refl ected as discontinued operations. The presentation of all 
historical segment reporting herein has been reclassifi ed to con-
form to this segment structure. 

Effective October 1, 2006, the Company refl ected the opera-
tions of its Home and Garden Business as discontinued opera-
tions. In addition, as of October 1, 2005, the Company began 
reporting the results of operations of its fertilizer technology and 
Canadian professional fertilizer products businesses of Nu-Gro 
(“Nu-Gro Pro and Tech”) as discontinued operations. The presen-
tation of continuing operations has been reclassifi ed to exclude 
the Home and Garden Business and Nu-Gro Pro and Tech. 

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 
(Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”) requir-
ing the Company to recognize expense related to the fair value of 
its employee stock option awards. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 
123(R), the Company presented all tax benefi ts of deductions 
resulting from the exercise of stock options as operating cash 
fl ows in the statement of cash fl ows. Beginning on October 1, 
2005, the Company changed its cash fl ow presentation in accor-
dance with SFAS 123(R) and Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (“FASB”) Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition 
Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based 
Payment Awards” (“FSP FAS 123(R)-3”) which require the cash 
fl ows resulting from the tax benefi ts for these options to be classi-
fi ed as fi nancing cash fl ows. The Company has reclassifi ed the 
benefi t of deductions resulting from the exercise of stock options 
from operating cash fl ows to fi nancing cash fl ows to conform to 
this presentation. 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifi ed to conform 
to the current year presentation. These reclassifi cations had no 
effect on previously reported results of operations or accumu-
lated defi cit. 

(v) Comprehensive Income 
Comprehensive income includes foreign currency translation 

of assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, effects of exchange 
rate changes on intercompany balances of a long-term nature 
and transactions designated as a hedge of net foreign invest-
ments, derivative fi nancial instruments designated as cash fl ow 
hedges and additional minimum pension liabilities associated 
with the Company’s pension. Except for the currency translation 
impact of the Company’s intercompany debt of a long-term 

nature, the Company does not provide income taxes on currency 
translation adjustments, as earnings from international subsid-
iaries are considered to be indefi nitely reinvested. 

Amounts recorded in AOCI on the Consolidated Statements 
of Shareholders’ Equity (Defi cit) and Comprehensive Income 
for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are net 
of the following tax expense (benefi t) amounts: 

   Pension Cash Adjustment to Translation 
 Adjustment Flow Hedges Adopt SFAS 158 Adjustments Total

2007 $(1,307) $(3,747) $431 $1,217 $(3,406)
2006 2,791 6,091 –   266 9,148
2005 (5,968) 1,119 –   (559) (5,408)

(w) Stock Compensation 
In connection with the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company 

is required to recognize expense related to the fair value of its 
employee stock option awards. Total stock compensation 
expense associated with both stock options and restricted stock 
awards recognized by the Company during Fiscal 2007 and 
2006 was $21,329 and $13,168 or $14,290 and $10,650, net of 
taxes, respectively. The amounts before tax are included in Gen-
eral and administrative expenses and Restructuring and related 
charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, of which 
$7,788 or $5,218, net of taxes, was included in Restructuring 
and related charges during Fiscal 2007 for the accelerated vest-
ing of certain awards. The Company expects that total stock 
compensation expense for 2008 will be approximately $6,887 
before the effect of income taxes. As of September 30, 2007, 
there was $15,286 of unrecognized compensation cost related to 
restricted stock that is expected to be recognized over a weighted 
average period of approximately three years. 

The Company uses or has used two forms of stock-based com-
pensation. Shares of restricted stock have been awarded to certain 
employees and members of management since Fiscal 2001. Prior 
to the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2004, the Company also issued 
stock options to employees, some of which remained unvested at 
the adoption date of SFAS 123(R). Restricted stock is now the 
only form of stock-based compensation used by the Company. 

Stock options previously awarded generally vest under a com-
bination of time-based and performance-based vesting criteria. 
Under the time-based vesting, the stock options become exercis-
able primarily in equal increments over a three year period, 
while under the performance-based vesting such options become 
exercisable over the same time period or one day prior to the end 
of the exercise period, if certain performance criteria are not 
met. The period during which such options, if vested, may be 
exercised generally extends ten years from the date of grant. 
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Restricted stock shares granted in Fiscal 2007 generally have 
vesting periods which can range from one to fi ve years. Approxi-
mately 89% of the shares granted are purely performance-based 
and vest only upon the achievement of certain performance 
goals. Such performance goals consist of reportable segment 
and consolidated Company Earnings Before Interest Taxes 
Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) and cash fl ow 
components. The remaining shares granted in Fiscal 2007 are 
time-based, which vest either 100% after three years or on a pro 
rata basis over three years. 

Restricted stock shares granted through Fiscal 2006 gener-
ally have vesting periods of three to fi ve years. Approximately 
50% of the restricted stock shares are purely time-based and 
vest on a pro rata basis over either a three- or four-year vesting 
period and approximately 50% are time-based and perfor-
mance-based. Vesting of such performance based restricted 
stock will occur upon achievement of certain performance 
goals established by the Board of Directors of the Company. 
Generally, performance targets consist of Earnings Per Share 
(“EPS”), segment Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (“EBIT”) 
and cash fl ow components. If such performance targets are 
not met, the performance component of a restricted stock 
award will not vest in the year that the performance targets 
applied to and instead will automatically vest one year after 
the originally scheduled vesting date, effectively making the 
award time-based. The Company recognizes amortization on 
the time-based component on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period. The Company recognizes amortization on the 
performance-based component over the vesting period, 
assuming performance targets will not be met, unless and 
until it is probable that the performance targets will be met. 
At the point in time when it is probable that the performance 
target will be met, the recognition period is shortened by one 
year to account for the accelerated vesting requirement of the 
performance-based component. 

The Company currently has one active incentive plan under 
which additional shares may be issued to employees as equity 
compensation. In 2004, the Board adopted the 2004 Rayovac 
Incentive Plan (“2004 Plan”). Up to 3,500 shares of common 
stock, net of forfeitures and cancellations, may be issued under 
the 2004 Plan, which expires in July 2014. As of September 30, 
2007, 3,369 restricted shares had been granted and 1,709 
restricted shares were outstanding under the 2004 Plan. No 
options have been granted under the 2004 Plan. 

The Company also has two expired plans under which there 
remain equity-based awards outstanding; the 1997 Rayovac 
Incentive Plan (“1997 Plan”), which expired on August 31, 2007, 
and the 1996 Rayovac Corporation Stock Option Plan (“1996 
Plan”), which expired on September 12, 2006. As of Septem-
ber 30, 2007, there were options with respect to 1,301 shares of 
common stock and 556 restricted shares outstanding under the 
1997 Plan, and options with respect to 209 shares of common 
stock outstanding under the 1996 Plan. 

The fair value of restricted stock is determined based on the 
market price of the Company’s shares on the grant date. A sum-
mary of the status of the Company’s non-vested restricted stock 
as of September 30, 2007 is as follows: 

   Weighted
  Average
   Grant Date
Restricted Stock Shares Fair Value  Fair Value

Restricted stock at September 30, 2006 2,046 $25.91 $  53,021
Granted   1,689 7.55 12,750
Vested   (1,271) 19.39 (24,642)
Forfeited   (199) 29.65 (5,887)

Restricted stock at September 30, 2007 2,265 $15.56 $35,242

Prior to October 1, 2005, the Company accounted for its stock 
option plans under the recognition and measurement provisions 
of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, 
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and 
related Interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Account-
ing for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). No stock 
option-based employee compensation cost was recognized in the 
income statement prior to that date, as all stock options granted 
under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value 
of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Effective 
October 1, 2005, the Company adopted the fair value recogni-
tion provisions of SFAS 123(R), using the modifi ed-prospective 
transition method. Under that transition method, compensation 
cost recognized in Fiscal 2007 and 2006 includes: (i) compensa-
tion cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not 
yet vested as of October 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair 
value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of 
SFAS 123, and (ii) compensation cost for all share-based pay-
ments granted subsequent to October 1, 2005, based on the 
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions 
of SFAS 123(R). Results for prior periods have not been restated. 
As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R) on October 1, 2005, the 
Company’s income from continuing operations before income 
taxes and net income during Fiscal 2007 was $115 and $71 
lower, respectively, and for Fiscal 2006 was $729 and $488 
lower, respectively, than if the Company had continued to 
account for share-based compensation under APB 25. 
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 Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company presented 
all tax benefi ts of deductions resulting from the exercise of stock 
options as operating cash fl ows in the statement of cash fl ows. 
Beginning on October 1, 2005, the Company changed its cash 
fl ow presentation in accordance with SFAS 123(R) and FSP FAS 
123(R)-3 which require the cash fl ows resulting from the tax 
benefi ts for these options to be classifi ed as fi nancing cash fl ows. 
The Company also elected to calculate its initial pool of excess 
tax benefi ts under the alternative transition method described 
in FSP FAS 123(R)-3. 

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and 
earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value 
recognition provisions of SFAS 123(R) during 2005 to options 
granted under the Company’s stock option plans. For purposes 

of this pro forma disclosure, the value of the options is amortized 
to expense on a straight-line basis over a three year vesting period, 
and forfeitures are recognized as they occur. The Company’s pro 
forma information follows for 2005: 

      2005

Net income, as reported    $ 46,832
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in 
 reported net income, net of tax    5,801
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense 
 determined under fair value based method for all 
 awards, net of tax     (7,562)

Pro forma net income    $ 45,071

Basic earnings per share as reported   $ 1.07
Basic earnings per share pro forma   $ 1.03
Diluted earnings per share as reported   $ 1.03
Diluted earnings per share pro forma   $ 0.99

The following table summarizes the stock option transactions: 

 2007 2006 2005  

   Weighted-  Weighted-  Weighted-
  Average  Average  Average
  Exercise  Exercise  Exercise
 Options Price Options Price Options Price 

Outstanding, beginning of period 1,911 $14.65 1,988 $14.64 3,300 $14.56
Granted – – – – – –
Exercised (149) 4.39 (28) 13.08 (1,276) 14.44
Forfeited (252) 13.68 (49) 15.46 (36) 14.03

Outstanding, end of period 1,510 $15.82 1,911 $14.65 1,988 $14.64

Options exercisable, end of period 1,384 $15.98 1,659 $14.74 1,467 $14.97

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and options outstanding and exercisable as of 
September 30, 2007: 

  Options Outstanding Options Outstanding and Exercisable  

   Weighted average Weighted average  Weighted average
 Number of Remaining Exercise Number of Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Shares Contractual Life Price Shares Price

$11.32 – $14.60 1,041 4.61 years $13.48 925 $13.53
$16.19 – $21.50 202 0.86 18.75 199 18.73
$21.63 – $28.70 267 1.74 22.72 260 22.57

      1,510 3.60 $15.82 1,384 $15.98
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(x) Restructuring and Related Charges 
The costs of plans to (i) exit an activity of an acquired company, 

(ii) involuntarily terminate employees of an acquired company, or 
(iii) relocate employees of an acquired company are measured and 
recorded in accordance with the provisions of EITF 95-3, “Recog-
nition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business 
Combination” (“EITF 95-3”). Under EITF 95-3, if certain condi-
tions are met, such costs are recognized as a liability assumed as of 
the consummation date of the purchase business combination 
and included in the allocation of the acquisition cost. Costs related 
to activities or employees of the acquired company that do not 
meet the conditions prescribed in EITF 95-3 are treated as 
restructuring and related charges and expensed as incurred. 

Restructuring charges are recognized and measured accord-
ing to the provisions of SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs 
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS 146”). Under 
SFAS 146, restructuring charges include, but are not limited to, 
termination and related costs consisting primarily of severance 
costs and retention bonuses, and contract termination costs 
consisting primarily of lease termination costs. Related charges, 
as defi ned by the Company, include, but are not limited to, other 
costs directly associated with exit and integration activities, 
including impairment of property and other assets, departmen-
tal costs of full-time incremental integration employees, and any 
other items related to the exit or integration activities. Costs for 
such activities are estimated by management after evaluating 
detailed analyses of the cost to be incurred. The Company pres-
ents restructuring and related charges on a combined basis. (See 
Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, for a more complete 
discussion of restructuring initiatives and related costs). 

(y) Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements 
In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued 

EITF 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remit-
ted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the 
Income Statement (That is, Gross versus Net Presentation),” to 
clarify diversity in practice on the presentation of different types 
of taxes in the fi nancial statements. The EITF concluded that, 
for taxes within the scope of the issue, a company may adopt a 
policy of presenting taxes as either gross within revenue or net. 
That is, it may include charges to customers for taxes within 
revenues and the charge for the taxes from the taxing authority 
within cost of sales, or, alternatively, it may net the charge to the 
customer and the charge from the taxing authority. If taxes are 
reported on a gross basis, and are signifi cant, an entity should 
disclose the amounts of those taxes subject to EITF 06-3. The 
guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company currently 
records its sales net of any value added or sales tax accordingly; 
the adoption of EITF 06-3 will not have a material impact on its 
fi nancial position, results of operations or cash fl ows. 

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) 
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes–An Inter-
pretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clari-
fi es the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in 
an enterprise’s fi nancial statements in accordance with State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting 
for Income Taxes”. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold 
and measurement attribute for the fi nancial statement recogni-
tion and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecog-
nition, classifi cation, interest and penalties, accounting in 
interim periods, disclosure and transition. The evaluation of a 
tax position in accordance with FIN 48 is a two-step process. The 
fi rst step is recognition, whereby the enterprise determines 
whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sus-
tained upon examination, including resolution of any related 
appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of 
the position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the 
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the enterprise 
should presume that the position will be examined by the appro-
priate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant 
information. The second step is measurement, whereby a tax 
position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition thresh-
old is calculated to determine the amount of benefi t to recognize 
in the fi nancial statements. The tax position is measured at the 
largest amount of benefi t that is greater than 50% likely of being 
realized upon ultimate settlement. The provisions of FIN 48 are 
effective for fi scal years beginning after December 15, 2006. 
Earlier application is permitted as long as the enterprise has not 
yet issued fi nancial statements, including interim fi nancial state-
ments, in the period of adoption. The provisions of FIN 48 are to 
be applied to all tax positions upon initial adoption of this stan-
dard. Only tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not rec-
ognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized or 
continue to be recognized upon adoption of FIN 48. The cumu-
lative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48 should be 
reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings (or other appropriate components of equity or net 
assets in the statement of fi nancial position) for that fi scal year. 
The Company does not expect the adoption of FIN 48 to have a 
material effect on its fi nancial condition, results of operation 
and cash fl ows. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” 
(“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 provides guidance for using fair value to 
measure assets and liabilities. The FASB believes SFAS 157 also 
responds to investors’ requests for expanded information about 
the extent to which companies measure assets and liabilities at 
fair value, the information used to measure fair value and the 
effect of fair value measurements on earnings. SFAS 157 applies 
whenever other standards require (or permit) assets or liabilities 
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to be measured at fair value but does not expand the use of fair
value in any new circumstances. Under SFAS 157, fair value 
refers to the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants in the market in which the reporting entity trans-
acts. In SFAS 157, the FASB clarifi es the principle that fair value 
should be based on the assumptions market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability. In support of this princi-
ple, SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the information used to develop those assumptions. The fair 
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in 
active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable data, for 
example, the reporting entity’s own data. Under SFAS 157, fair 
value measurements would be separately disclosed by level 
within the fair value hierarchy. The provisions of SFAS 157 for 
fi nancial assets and liabilities, as well as any other assets and 
liabilities that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis in 
fi nancial statements, are effective for fi nancial statements 
issued for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and 
interim periods within those fi scal years. The FASB did, how-
ever, provide a one-year deferral for the implementation of 
SFAS 157 for other non-fi nancial assets. Earlier application is 
encouraged, provided that the reporting entity has not yet 
issued fi nancial statements for that fi scal year, including any 
fi nancial statements for an interim period within that fi scal 
year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that 
SFAS 157 will have on its fi nancial condition, results of opera-
tions and cash fl ows. 

(3) Inventories 
Inventories consist of the following: 

  September 30,

      2007 2006

Raw materials   $  76,082 $  121,793
Work-in-process   28,821 36,205
Finished goods   212,566 302,674

       $317,469 $460,672

(4) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following: 

  September 30,

      2007 2006

Land, buildings and improvements  $ 105,660 $102,147
Machinery, equipment and other  379,660 423,862
Construction in progress   8,382 24,046

       493,702 550,055
Less accumulated depreciation  243,900 238,216

       $249,802 $311,839

(5) Assets Held for Sale 
At September 30, 2007, assets totaling $572,859 were included 

in Assets held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. At 
September 30, 2007, the Company had $564,188 and $47,688 
related to certain assets and liabilities, respectively, of the Com-
pany’s Home and Garden Business included in Assets held for 
sale and Liabilities held for sale, respectively, in its Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. (See Note 11, Discontinued Operations, for addi-
tional information relating to discontinued operations). All rele-
vant criteria of SFAS 144 allowing for the classifi cation of assets 
held for sale have been met for the assets and liabilities of the 
Home and Garden Business. The following table details the com-
ponents of the assets and liabilities held for sale related to the 
Company’s Home and Garden Business at September 30, 2007: 

  Amount 

Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 50,596
Inventories    92,721
Other current assets    6,932
Property, plant and equipment, net   36,538
Goodwill    161,078
Intangible assets, net    212,747
Other assets    3,576

 Total assets held for sale    564,188
Accounts payable    32,705
Other current liabilities    14,983

 Total liabilities held for sale    47,688

 Total Home and Garden Business net assets held for sale $516,500

In accordance with SFAS 144, long-lived assets to be disposed 
of by sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying value or fair 
value less costs to sell. During Fiscal 2007, the Company recorded 
a non-cash pretax charge of $168,520 in discontinued operations 
to reduce the carrying value of certain assets, principally consist-
ing of goodwill and intangible assets, related to the Home and 
Garden Business in order to refl ect the estimated fair value of 
this business. Such estimated fair value was based on a range of 
estimated sales values, taking into account current market con-
ditions, provided by independent third-party advisors. If and 
when a sale is consummated the actual fair value at that time 
may vary from the estimated fair value as refl ected herein. 

On September 27, 2007 we signed a defi nitive agreement to 
sell the Canadian division of the Home and Garden Business, 
which operates under the name Nu-Gro, to a new company formed 
by RoyCap Merchant Banking Group and Clarke Inc. The trans-
action closed on November 1, 2007. (See also Note 18, Subsequent 
Events for additional information regarding this divestiture). 
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The remaining balance in Assets held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 consists primarily 
of a distribution facility in the Dominican Republic and a manufacturing facility in France. During 2006, an $8,876 gain on sale of assets 
is included in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. This gain includes an $8,260 gain on the sale of a Bridgeport, Connecticut 
facility, previously included in Assets held for sale. 

(6) Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets consist of the following: 

     Global Batteries &  Global Pet
   Personal Care Home & Garden Supplies   Total 

Goodwill:
Balance as of September 30, 2005  $ 416,889 $ 912,404 $ 99,724 $ 1,429,017
Goodwill recognized during period   7,614  5,798  14,880  28,292
Purchase price allocation during period   17,943  (618,592)  600,649  –
Impairment charge   (117,489)  –  (235,389)  (352,878)
Effect of translation   5,508  (2,280)  22,525  25,753

Balance as of September 30, 2006  $ 330,465 $ 297,330 $ 502,389 $ 1,130,184
Asset held for sale   –    (161,078)  –    (161,078)
Purchase price allocation during period   5,000  –    –    5,000
Impairment charge   (214,039)  (138,135)  –    (352,174)
Effect of translation   13,473  1,883  27,361  42,717

Balance as of September 30, 2007  $ 134,899 $ –   $ 529,750 $ 664,649

Intangible assets: 
Trade names not subject to amortization 
Balance as of September 30, 2005, net  $ 428,532 $ 146,100 $ 332,696 $ 907,328
Additions   –    –    –    – 
Purchase price allocation during period   –    –    –    – 
Impairment charge   (44,700)  –    (35,400)  (80,100)
Effect of translation   9,278  534  (96)  9,716

Balance as of September 30, 2006, net  $ 393,110 $ 146,634 $ 297,200 $ 836,944
Additions   –    –    37  37
Asset held for sale   –    (138,427)  –    (138,427)
Purchase price allocation during period   (8,236)  –    –    (8,236)
Impairment charge   (23,400)  (9,136)  (1,000)  (33,536)
Effect of translation   21,315  929  14,400  36,644

Balance as of September 30, 2007, net  $ 382,789 $ –   $ 310,637 $ 693,426

Intangible assets subject to amortization 
Balance as of September 30, 2005, net   12,603  87,804  143,471  243,878
Additions   –    (227)  292  65
Amortization during period   (927)  (9,589)  (12,957)  (23,473)
Effect of translation   628  180  92  900

Balance as of September 30, 2006, net  $ 12,304 $ 78,168 $ 130,898 $ 221,370
Additions   –    –    582  582
Assets held for sale   –    (74,320)  –    (74,320)
Amortization during period   (997)  –    (12,849)  (13,846)
Impairment charge   –    (4,249)  –    (4,249)
Effect of translation   1,259  401  4,674  6,334

Balance as of September 30, 2007, net  $ 12,566 $ –   $ 123,305 $ 135,871

Pension intangible assets 
Balance as of September 30, 2006  $ 2,773 $ –   $ –   $ 2,773
Balance as of September 30, 2007  $ –   $ –   $ –   $ – 

Total Intangible Assets, net  $ 395,355 $ –   $ 433,942 $ 829,297
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The Company completed the acquisitions of United, Tetra and 
Jungle during 2005. The purchase price allocations for United, 
Tetra and Jungle have been fi nalized. (See also Note 17, Acqui-
sitions, for additional information on the United, Tetra and 
Jungle acquisitions). 

The carrying value of technology assets was $35,635, net of 
accumulated amortization of $10,726 at September 30, 2007, 
and $37,305, net of accumulated amortization of $7,126 at Sep-
tember 30, 2006. The trade names subject to amortization relate 
to the United acquisition. The carrying value of these trade 
names was $4,851, net of accumulated amortization of $5,846 at 
September 30, 2007, and $5,359 net of accumulated amortiza-
tion of $5,338 at September 30, 2006. Remaining intangible 
assets subject to amortization include customer relationship 
intangibles. Of the intangible assets acquired in the United and 
Jungle acquisitions, customer relationships and technology 
assets have been assigned a life of approximately 12 years and 
other intangibles have been assigned lives of one year to four 
years. Of the intangible assets acquired in the Tetra acquisition, 
customer relationships have been assigned a life of approximately 
12 years and technology assets have been assigned a six-year life. 

The additional goodwill recognized in the Global Batteries & 
Personal Care segment during Fiscal 2007 and 2006 principally 
related to incremental earn-out payments associated with the 
May 2004 acquisition of Microlite in Brazil and deferred tax 
liability adjustments in Europe. (See Note 14, Commitments 
and Contingencies, for additional information regarding the 
earn-out payments associated with the Microlite acquisition). 
The additional goodwill recognized in the Global Pet Supplies 
segment during Fiscal 2006 principally related to the fi naliza-
tion of accruals for shutdown reserve costs at certain facilities, 
acquired as part of the United acquisition, offset by deferred tax 
liability adjustments. 

The purchase price allocation decrease to Global Batteries & 
Personal Care trade names not subject to amortization during 
Fiscal 2007 relates to the reversal of a portion of a deferred tax 
valuation allowance established in connection with the acquisi-
tion of Microlite in May, 2004. In accordance with SFAS No. 
109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” intangible assets were 
reduced as all prior goodwill related to the Microlite acquisition 
had been previously written off. 

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 
142), requires companies to test goodwill and indefi nite-lived 
intangible assets for impairment annually, or more often if an 
event or circumstance indicates that an impairment loss may 
have been incurred. In Fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company, with 

the assistance of independent third-party valuation specialists, 
conducted its impairment testing of goodwill and indefi nite-lived 
intangible assets. As a result of these analyses the Company 
recorded a non-cash pretax impairment charge of approximately 
$238,439 and $432,978 in Fiscal 2007 and Fiscal 2006, respec-
tively. Of the Fiscal 2007 impairment, approximately $214,039 
of the charge related to impaired goodwill related to continuing 
operations, and $24,400 related to impaired trade name intan-
gible assets related to continuing operations. Of the Fiscal 2006 
impairment, approximately $352,878 of the charge related to 
impaired goodwill related to continuing operations and approxi-
mately $80,100 related to impaired trade name intangible assets 
related to continuing operations. (See Note 2(i), Signifi cant 
Accounting Policies–Intangible Assets, for further details on the 
impairment charges). 

As previously disclosed, the Company has designated the Home 
and Garden Business as discontinued operations. In accordance 
with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal 
of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144), long-lived assets to be disposed 
of by sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying value or fair 
value less costs to sell. During Fiscal 2007, the Company recorded 
a non-cash pretax charge of approximately $168,520 in discon-
tinued operations to reduce the carrying value of certain assets, 
principally consisting of goodwill and intangible assets related to 
the Home and Garden Business, in order to refl ect the estimated 
fair value of this business. Approximately $138,135 of this charge 
related to impaired goodwill, approximately $9,136 related to 
impaired trade name intangible assets, and approximately $4,249 
related to impaired customer relationship intangibles. (See Note 5, 
Assets Held for Sale, and Note 11, Discontinued Operations, for 
additional information relating to assets held for sale and discon-
tinued operations). 

The amortization expense related to intangibles subject to 
amortization for Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows: 

     2007 2006(1) 2005(1)

Proprietary technology 
 amortization  $ 3,601 $ 3,600 $ 2,449
Customer list amortization  9,737 16,421 9,693
Trade names amortization  508 3,452 1,886

      $13,846 $23,473 $14,028

(1)  Fiscal 2006 and 2005 include amortization of $9,654 and $6,364, respectively, associated 
with the Home and Garden Business. 

The Company estimates annual amortization expense for the 
next fi ve fi scal years will approximate $13,000 per year. 
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(7) Debt 
Debt consists of the following: 

  September 30, 2007   September 30, 2006 

  Amount   Rate(1)   Amount   Rate(1) 

Senior Subordinated Notes, due February 1, 2015 $ 700,000 7.4% $ 700,000 7.4%
Senior Subordinated Notes, due October 2, 2013   347,012 11.3%  –   –
Term Loan B, U.S. Dollar, expiring March 30, 2013  997,500 9.6%  –   –
Term Loan B II, U.S. Dollar, expiring March 30, 2013  –   –    –   –
Term Loan, Euro, expiring March 30, 2013  369,855 8.8%  –   –
Senior Subordinated Notes, due October 1, 2013  2,873 8.5%  350,000 8.5%
Revolving Credit Facility, expiring September 28, 2011  –   –    –   –
Term Loan, U.S. Dollar, expiring February 6, 2012  –   –    604,827 8.6%
Term Loan, Canadian Dollar, expiring February 6, 2012  –   –    72,488 7.4%
Term Loan, Euro, expiring February 6, 2012  –   –    134,721 6.3%
Term Loan, Euro Tranche B, expiring February 6, 2012  –   –    332,315 6.2%
Revolving Credit Facility, expiring February 6, 2011  –   –    26,200 10.3%
Other notes and obligations  28,719 5.6%  42,698 5.7%
Capitalized lease obligations  14,395 5.0%  13,922 5.0%

      2,460,354   2,277,171 
Less current maturities  43,438    42,713 

Long-term debt $ 2,416,916  $ 2,234,458 

(1) Interest rates on senior credit facilities represent the period-end weighted average rates on balances outstanding, exclusive of the effects of any interest rate swaps. 

Senior Credit Facilities 
During Fiscal 2007, the Company refi nanced its outstanding 

senior credit facilities with new senior credit facilities pursuant 
to a new senior credit agreement (the “Senior Credit Agree-
ment”) consisting of a $1,000,000 U.S. Dollar Term B Loan, a 
$200,000 U.S. Dollar Term B II Loan (the “U.S. Dollar Term B 
II Loan”), a €262,000 Term Loan (collectively referred to as the 
“Term Loan Facilities”), and a $50,000 synthetic letter of credit 
facility. The proceeds of borrowings under the Senior Credit 
Agreement were used to repay all outstanding obligations under 
the Company’s Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agree-
ment, dated as of February 7, 2005, to pay fees and expenses in 
connection with the refi nancing and the Exchange Offer, 
described below, and for general corporate purposes. 

On September 28, 2007, pursuant to the terms of the Senior 
Credit Agreement, the Company entered into a $225,000 U.S. 
Dollar Asset Based Revolving Loan Facility (the “ABL Facility” 
and together with the credit facilities pursuant to the Senior 
Credit Agreement, the “Senior Credit Facilities”) pursuant to a 
new credit agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”). The ABL 
Facility replaced the U.S. Dollar Term B II Loan under the new 
senior credit facilities, which was simultaneously prepaid using 
cash from operations coupled with a portion of the cash on hand 
resulting from the refi nancing in Fiscal 2007. References to 
“Senior Credit Facilities” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
refer to the new senior credit facilities discussed above as modi-
fi ed by the replacement of the U.S. Dollar Term B II Loan with 
the ABL Facility. As a result of the prepayment of the U.S. Dollar 
Term B II Loan, under the terms of the ABL Credit Agreement, 
as of September 30, 2007, the Company has aggregate borrowing 

availability of approximately $171,005 under the ABL Facility. 
The Company may increase the existing $225,000 U.S. Dollar 
ABL Facility up to $300,000 at its option upon request to its 
lenders under the ABL Facility and upon meeting certain criteria 
specifi ed in the ABL Credit Agreement. 

As of September 30, 2007, the Senior Credit Facilities aggre-
gated to a U.S. Dollar equivalent of $1,642,355 and consisted of a 
$997,500 U.S. Dollar Term B Loan, a €261,345 Term Loan (USD 
$369,855 at September 30, 2007), a $225,000 U.S. Dollar ABL 
Revolver and a $50,000 synthetic letter of credit facility. 

As of September 30, 2007, the Company had not made any 
borrowings under the ABL Credit Facility. Approximately 
$46,967 of letters of credit were outstanding under the synthetic 
letter of credit facility at September 30, 2007. 

The aggregate scheduled maturities of debt as of September 30, 
2007 are as follows: 

2008   $ 43,438
2009    14,800
2010    14,382
2011     14,332
2012    14,301
Thereafter    2,359,101

       $ 2,460,354

Aggregate capitalized lease obligations included in the amounts 
above are payable in installments of $1,135 in 2008, $968 in 
2009, $674 in 2010, $624 in 2011, $593 in 2012 and $10,401 
thereafter. 
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Approximately $38,781 of fees and expenses incurred in 
association with the Senior Credit Facilities have been capital-
ized and will be amortized over the term of the facilities. In 
addition, in connection with the March 30, 2007 refi nancing, 
approximately $15,651 of debt issuance costs associated with 
the previously outstanding senior credit facilities were written 
off and are included in Interest expense in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the fi scal year ended September 30, 
2007. Approximately $11,649 of prepayment premiums in connec-
tion with repayment of the previously outstanding senior credit 
facilities were included in interest expense in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the fi scal year ended September 30, 
2007. In addition, approximately $1,285 of fees and expenses were 
incurred in connection with the fourth amendment to the Compa-
ny’s senior credit facilities outstanding prior to the refi nancing 
undertaken in Fiscal 2007. As a result of the refi nancing in Fiscal 
2007, these fees and expenses were included in interest expense in 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fi scal year ended 
September 30, 2007. 

The Term Loan Facilities are subject to repayment according 
to a scheduled amortization, with the fi nal payment of all 
amounts outstanding, plus accrued interest, due on March 30, 
2013. Beginning with the fi scal year ended September 30, 2007, 
the Senior Credit Agreement provides for annual mandatory 
prepayments, over and above the normal amortization as a 
result of excess cash fl ow, as defi ned in the Senior Credit Agree-
ment. The Senior Credit Agreement also provides for other 
mandatory prepayments, subject to certain exceptions and rein-
vestment provisions, of net proceeds as a result of certain events, 
including, the issuance of debt, sales of certain assets above a 
specifi ed threshold, receipt of proceeds from certain casualty 
events and the issuance of equity interests by the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries. 

The Senior Credit Agreement contains fi nancial covenants 
with respect to debt which include a maximum senior secured 
leverage ratio. In accordance with the agreement, the limits 
imposed by such ratio become more restrictive over time. In 
addition, the Senior Credit Agreement contains customary 
restrictive covenants, including, but not limited to, restrictions 
on the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, cre-
ate liens, make investments or specifi ed payments, give guaran-
tees, pay dividends, make capital expenditures and merge or 
acquire or sell assets. 

The Senior Credit Agreement also contains customary events 
of default and is secured by substantially all of the Company’s 
domestic assets pursuant to a Guarantee and Collateral Agree-
ment entered into on March 30, 2007. 

The ABL Credit Facility includes a $60,000 U.S. Dollar Letter 
of Credit subfacility and a $30,000 U.S. Dollar swingline loan 
subfacility within the $225,000 overall facility amount. The

ABL Facility is subject to repayment with the fi nal payment of 
all amounts outstanding, plus accrued interest, due on Septem-
ber 28, 2011. The ABL Facility provides for mandatory prepay-
ments of net proceeds to the extent the borrowing base is reduced 
or in connection with sales of business assets. 

The ABL Credit Agreement is secured by certain of the Com-
pany’s liquid assets, including, among other things, deposit 
accounts and substantially all of the Company’s domestic trade 
receivables and inventory and contains customary restrictive 
covenants, including, but not limited to, restrictions on the 
Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, create liens, 
make investments or specifi ed payments, give guarantees, pay 
dividends, make capital expenditures and merge or acquire or 
sell assets. 

As of September 30, 2007, the Company was in compliance 
with all covenants associated with the Senior Credit Facilities. 

Senior Subordinated Notes 
Beginning on March 16, 2007, the Company conducted an 

offer to exchange the entire $350,000 of outstanding principal 
amount of its 8½% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 (the 
“Existing Notes”) for the same aggregate principal amount of 
Variable Rate Toggle Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 (the 
“New Notes”) pursuant to the terms of an exchange offer (the 
“Exchange Offer”). The terms of the Exchange Offer further 
provided that holders of Existing Notes who tendered their 
Existing Notes for exchange following the expiration of a con-
sent solicitation period, which ended on March 29, 2007, would 
receive a reduced principal amount of New Notes in exchange 
for tendered Existing Notes. As of the expiration of the Exchange 
Offer on April 13, 2007, holders of Existing Notes had tendered 
$347,127 of Existing Notes, which were accepted by the Com-
pany, and exchanged, pursuant to the terms of the Exchange 
Offer, for $347,012 of New Notes. As a result of the terms of the 
Exchange Offer, the Company recorded a gain from early extin-
guishment of debt of $75 net of tax expense of $40 for the fi scal 
year ended September 30, 2007. At September 30, 2007, $2,873 
principal amount of Existing Notes remain outstanding. 

In connection with the Exchange Offer, on March 30, 2007, the 
Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, 
entered into an indenture (the “Indenture”) with Wells Fargo 
Bank, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), governing the New Notes. 

Approximately $3,903 of fees and expenses incurred in asso-
ciation with the Exchange Offer have been capitalized and will be 
amortized over the term of the New Notes. In addition, in con-
nection with the Exchange Offer approximately $8,925 of debt 
issuance costs associated with the Existing Notes were written off 
and included in Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements 
of Operations for the fi scal year ended September 30, 2007. 
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Subject to certain conditions, the Company has the option to 
pay interest on the New Notes entirely in cash or by increasing 
the principal amount of the New Notes. The New Notes are 
subject to a variable rate of interest that increases semi-annually, 
varying depending on whether interest is paid in cash or 
increased principal. As of September 30, 2007, the New Notes 
bore interest at 11.25%. Interest will be payable semi-annually 
in arrears on October 2 and April 2. The Company made the 
fi rst interest payment in cash on October 2, 2007. At such time 
as the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test under the Indenture 
governing the New Notes is above 2:1, the Company is required 
to pay interest of 1% over the scheduled rates referred to above. 
The Company will make each interest payment to the holders of 
record of the New Notes as of the immediately preceding March 15 
and September 15, respectively. The New Notes are general 
unsecured obligations of the Company. The New Notes are sub-
ordinated in right of payment to all existing and future senior 
debt by the Company, including our indebtedness pursuant to 
the Senior Credit Facilities. The New Notes are equal in right of 
payment with all existing and any future senior subordinated 
indebtedness of the Company’s, including, without limitation, 
its 7 3_8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2015 and the Existing 
Notes which remain outstanding following the closing of the 
Exchange Offer, and are senior in right of payment to any future 
subordinated indebtedness of the Company’s. 

The terms of the New Notes are governed by the Indenture. The 
Indenture contains customary covenants that limit the Company’s 
ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, pay 
dividends on or redeem or repurchase its equity interests, make 
certain investments, expand into unrelated businesses, create liens 
on assets, merge or consolidate with another company, transfer or 
sell all or substantially all of its assets, and enter into transactions 
with affi liates. Upon the occurrence of a “change of control,” as 
defi ned in the Indenture, the Company is required to make an 
offer to repurchase the outstanding New Notes for a specifi ed 
redemption price, beginning at 110% of the principal amount 
being repurchased and declining to 100% on October 1, 2010, in 
each case plus accrued and unpaid interest on such principal. 

The Company may redeem all or a part of the New Notes upon 
not less than 30 nor more than 60 days notice, at specifi ed 
redemption prices beginning at 110% of the principal amount 
being redeemed and declining to 100% on October 1, 2010, in 
each case plus accrued and unpaid interest on such principal. 

In addition, the Indenture is subject to customary events of 
default, including failure to make required payments, failure to 
comply with certain agreements or covenants, failure to make 
payments on or acceleration of certain other indebtedness, and 
certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency. Events of default 
under the Indenture arising from certain events of bankruptcy 
or insolvency will automatically cause the acceleration of the  
amounts due under the New Notes. If any other event of default 

under the Indenture occurs and is continuing, the Trustee, or 
the registered holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal 
amount of the then outstanding New Notes, may declare the 
acceleration of the amounts due under the New Notes. 

The Company was in compliance with all covenants associated 
with its $347,012 principal amount of New Notes, its $2,873 
principal amount of Existing Notes that remain outstanding and 
the $700,000 principal amount of 7 3_8% Senior Subordinated 
Notes due 2015 (collectively referred to as the “Senior Subordi-
nated Notes”), with the exception of the Fixed Charge Coverage 
Ratio test relating to the indebtedness under the Senior Subordi-
nated Notes, that were in effect as of and during the fi scal year 
ended September 30, 2007. Due to signifi cant restructuring 
charges and reduced business performance, the Company has 
not met the minimum requirement of 2:1 for the Fixed Charge 
Coverage Ratio test under the indentures governing its Senior 
Subordinated Notes. Until the Company satisfi es such test, it is 
limited in its ability to make signifi cant acquisitions or incur sig-
nifi cant additional senior debt beyond its Senior Credit Facilities. 
The Company does not expect its inability to meet the Fixed 
Charge Coverage Ratio test to impair its ability to provide ade-
quate liquidity to meet the short-term and long-term liquidity 
requirements of its existing businesses, although no assurance can 
be given in this regard. 

(8) Shareholders’ Equity 
The Company granted approximately 1,689 shares of 

restricted stock during 2007. Of these grants, approximately 
194 shares are time-based and vest either 100% after three years 
or on a pro rata basis over a three-year period and 1,495 shares 
are purely performance-based and vest only upon achievement 
of certain performance goals. The total market value of the 
restricted shares on the date of grant was approximately $12,750. 
Unearned compensation is being amortized to expense over the 
appropriate vesting period. 

The Company granted approximately 965 shares of restricted 
stock during 2006. Of these grants, approximately 415 shares are 
time-based and vest on a pro rata basis over either a three- or four-
year period and 390 shares are performance-based and vest upon 
achievement of certain performance goals. If the performance tar-
gets are not met, the performance component of a restricted stock 
award will automatically vest one year after the originally sched-
uled vesting date, effectively making the award time-based. The 
remaining 160 shares vest at specifi c dates throughout 2008 and 
2009. The total market value of the restricted shares on the date of 
grant was approximately $18,875. Unearned compensation is 
being amortized to expense over the appropriate vesting period. 

The Company granted approximately 1,242 shares of restricted 
stock during 2005. Of these grants, approximately 538 shares will 
vest over a three-year period, with 50% of the shares vesting on a 
pro rata basis over the three-year period and the remaining 50% 
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vesting based on the Company’s performance during the three-
year period or one year after, if performance criteria are not met. 
Approximately 317 shares granted will be 100% vested on Febru-
ary 7, 2008, if specifi ed performance targets are met. If those per-
formance targets are not met, the shares will vest on February 7, 
2012. The remaining 387 shares vest at varying dates through 
2009, including 293 that vest in 2008. The total market value of 
the restricted shares on the date of grant was approximately 
$41,924. Unearned compensation is being amortized to expense 
over the appropriate vesting period. 

In addition, in 2005, the Company issued 13,750 shares of com-
mon stock from treasury as partial consideration for the United 
acquisition. (See Note 17, Acquisitions, where the United acquisi-
tion is further discussed). The value of these shares was calculated 
at a share price of $31.94. The share price of $31.94 was based on 
a fi ve-day average beginning on December 30, 2004. 

(See also Note 2(w), Signifi cant Accounting Policies–Stock 
Compensation, for additional information on grants and forfei-
tures of restricted shares during 2007, 2006 and 2005). 

(9) Stock Option Plans 
In 1996, the Company’s Board of Directors (“Board”) approved 

the Rayovac Corporation 1996 Stock Option Plan (“1996 Plan”). 
Under the 1996 Plan, stock options to acquire up to 2,318 shares 
of common stock, in the aggregate, may be granted to select 
employees and directors of the Company under either or both a 
time-vesting or a performance-vesting formula at an exercise 
price equal to the market price of the common stock on the date 
of grant. As of September 30, 2007, there were options with 
respect to 209 shares of common stock outstanding under the 
1996 Plan. The 1996 Plan expired on September 12, 2006. 

In 1997, the Board adopted the 1997 Rayovac Incentive Plan 
(“1997 Plan”). Under the 1997 Plan, the Company could grant to 
employees and non-employee directors stock options, stock 
appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock, and other stock-
based awards, as well as cash-based annual and long-term incen-
tive awards. Accelerated vesting will occur in the event of a change 
in control, as defi ned in the 1997 Plan. Up to 5,000 shares of 
Common stock may be issued under the 1997 Plan. The 1997 
Plan expired in August 31, 2007. As of September 30, 2007, there 
were options with respect to 1,301 shares of common stock and 
556 restricted shares outstanding under the 1997 Plan. 

In 2004, the Board adopted the 2004 Rayovac Incentive Plan 
(“2004 Plan”). The 2004 Plan supplements the 1997 Plan. Under 
the 2004 Plan, the Company may grant to employees and non-
employee directors stock options, SARs, restricted stock, and 
other stock-based awards, as well as cash-based annual and long-
term incentive awards. Accelerated vesting will occur in the event 
of a change in control, as defi ned in the 2004 Plan. Up to 3,500

shares of common stock, net of forfeitures and cancellations, may 
be issued under the 2004 Plan. At September 30, 2007, 3,369 
restricted shares had been granted and 1,709 restricted shares were 
outstanding under the 2004 Plan. No options have been granted 
under the 2004 Plan. The 2004 Plan expires on July 31, 2014. 

 See also Note 2(w), Signifi cant Accounting Policies–Stock 
Compensation, and Note 8, Shareholders’ Equity, for informa-
tion on grants and forfeitures of restricted shares during 2007, 
2006 and 2005. 

(10) Income Taxes 
Income tax (benefi t) expense was calculated based upon the 

following components of income from continuing operations 
before income tax: 

     2007 2006 2005

Pretax (loss) income:
 United States  $(394,104) $(223,958) $(26,071)
 Outside the United States  37,712 (214,179) 71,205

Total pretax (loss) income  $(356,392) $ (438,137) $ 45,134

The components of income tax expense (benefi t) are as follows: 

     2007   2006   2005 

Current:
 Federal  $ (219) $ 819 $ –
 Foreign   15,445  23,678  32,152
 State   1,245  450  1,700

 Total current   16,471  24,947  33,852
Deferred:
 Federal   57,329  (43,890)  (11,982)
 Foreign   (16,140)  3,690  (4,128)
 State   (1,944)  (7,441)  (2,234)

 Total deferred   39,245  (47,641)  (18,344)

Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 55,716 $ (22,694) $ 15,508

The following reconciles the Federal statutory income tax rate 
with the Company’s effective tax rate: 

     2007   2006   2005 

Statutory federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Non U.S. permanent items  (3.3) (0.7) 3.0
Revaluation of Deferred Taxes 7.9 (0.3) 1.5
Foreign statutory rate vs. 
 U.S. statutory rate  1.2 0.5 (1.4)
State income taxes, 
 net of federal benefit  2.7 1.5 (1.8)
Net nondeductible (deductible) 
 interest expense  1.8 1.5 (4.3)
SFAS 142 Impairment  (14.6) (23.7) –
Valuation allowance  (46.0) (6.5) 2.3
Other  (0.4) (2.1) 0.1

      (15.7)% 5.2% 34.4%
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The tax effects of temporary differences, which give rise to 
signifi cant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities, are as follows: 

  September 30, 

      2007 2006

Current deferred tax assets:
 Employee benefits   $ 2,774 $ 4,270
 Restructuring    9,847  18,606
 Inventories and receivables    16,870  17,503
 Marketing and promotional accruals   3,776  3,192
 Net operating loss and capital loss 
  carryforwards    –    1,710
 Other    14,689  9,455
 Valuation allowance    (24,315)  (1,163)

Total current deferred tax assets   23,641  53,573

Current deferred tax liabilities:
 Inventory    (1,433)  (1,839)
 Other    0  (1,333)

Total current deferred tax liabilities   (1,433)  (3,172)

Net current deferred tax assets  $ 22,208 $ 50,401

Noncurrent deferred tax assets:
 Employee benefits   $ 18,920 $ 21,533
 Net operating loss and 
  credit carryforwards    354,506  237,922
 Other    41,363  31,482
 Valuation allowance    (283,062)  (65,692)

Total noncurrent deferred tax assets   131,727  225,245

Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities:
 Property, plant, and equipment   (30,080)  (20,809)
 Unrealized (gains)/losses    (4,631)  (7,966)
 Intangibles    (169,704)  (299,428)
 Other    (96,400)  (53,620)

Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities   (300,815)  (381,823)

Net noncurrent deferred tax liabilities  $ (169,088) $ (156,578)

Net current and noncurrent 
 deferred tax (liabilities) assets  $ (146,880) $ (106,177)

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign operations 
amounting to approximately $329,952 and $272,072 at Septem-
ber 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are intended to remain per-
manently invested. Accordingly, no U.S. income taxes have been 
provided on those earnings at September 30, 2007 and 2006. The 
tax liability that would result from the distribution of these earn-
ings via a dividend distribution is not practicable to determine. 

The Company, as of September 30, 2007, has U.S. federal and 
state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $763,308 
and $1,141,205, respectively, which will expire between 2008 
and 2027. The Company has foreign net operating loss carryfor-
wards of approximately $117,116 which will expire beginning in 
2008. Certain of the foreign net operating losses have indefi nite 
carryforward periods. As of September 30, 2006, the Company 
has U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of 

approximately $463,644 and $851,621, respectively. The Com-
pany has had a change of ownership, as defi ned under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 382, that subjects the Company’s U.S. net 
operating losses to certain limitations. These limitations include 
an overall annual limitation and a limitation related to gains 
generated upon the divestiture of certain assets. 

A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be 
realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets 
depends on the ability to generate suffi cient taxable income of the 
appropriate character in the future and in the appropriate taxing 
jurisdictions. As of September 30, 2007 and September 30, 
2006, the Company’s valuation allowance, established for the tax 
benefi t that may not be realized, totaled approximately $307,376 
and $66,855, respectively. As of September 30, 2007 and Sep-
tember 30, 2006, approximately $235,181 and $20,413, respec-
tively, related to U.S. net deferred tax assets, and approximately 
$72,195 and $46,442, respectively, related to foreign net deferred 
tax assets. The increase in the allowance during 2007 totaled 
approximately $240,521, of which approximately $214,768 
related to an increase in the valuation allowance against U.S. net 
deferred tax assets, and approximately $25,753 related to an 
increase in the valuation allowance against foreign net deferred 
tax assets. Included in the total change in the valuation allowance 
related to foreign net deferred tax assets, approximately $4,600 
was recorded as a reduction in other identifi ed intangible assets. 
As of September 30, 2007, the remaining portion of the Brazil 
valuation allowance that, upon reversal, would reduce other 
identifi ed intangible assets was approximately $16,200. 

The Company is continuously undergoing examination by vari-
ous taxing authorities. The IRS and other state and foreign taxing 
authorities routinely challenge certain deductions and credits 
reported by the Company on its income tax returns. In accordance 
with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” and SFAS No. 5, 
“Accounting for Contingencies,” the Company establishes reserves 
for tax contingencies that refl ect its best estimate of the deductions 
and credits that it may be unable to sustain, or that it could be 
willing to concede as part of a broader tax settlement. As of Septem-
ber 30, 2007 and 2006 the Company has recorded tax contin-
gency reserves of approximately $8,786 and $10,927, respectively. 
The decrease of approximately $2,141 was primarily due to the 
closure of the IRS examination for the periods ended Septem-
ber 30, 2001 through September 30, 2004 in the fourth quarter 
of Fiscal 2007 and settlement of certain foreign examinations. 

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 
142), requires companies to test goodwill and indefi nite-lived 
intangible assets for impairment annually, or more often if an 
event or circumstance indicates that an impairment loss may 
have been incurred. During 2007 and 2006, the Company, as a 
result of its testing, recorded non-cash pretax impairment 
charges of $238,439 and $432,978, respectively. The tax impact, 
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prior to consideration of the current year valuation allowance, of 
the impairment charges was limited to a deferred tax benefi t of 
$29,597 and $43,424 in Fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively, as 
a result of a signifi cant portion of the impaired assets not being 
deductible for tax purposes. 

(11) Discontinued Operations 
In the third quarter of the Company’s fi scal year ended Sep-

tember 30, 2006, the Company engaged advisors to assist in 
exploring possible strategic options, including a potential sale of 
various assets in order to reduce its outstanding indebtedness. 
In connection with this undertaking, during the fi rst quarter of 
Fiscal 2007, the Company approved and initiated a plan to sell 
the assets related to its Home and Garden Business. (See Note 5, 
Assets Held for Sale, where the specifi c assets and liabilities to 
be sold are further discussed.) 

As a result, effective October 1, 2006, the Company refl ected 
the operations of its Home and Garden Business as discontinued 
operations. Therefore, the presentation herein of the results of 
continuing operations has been changed to exclude the Home 
and Garden Business for all periods presented. The following 
amounts have been segregated from continuing operations and 
are refl ected as discontinued operations for the years ended 
September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively: 

     2007 2006 2005

Net sales  $ 658,888 $ 657,011 $ 544,975

(Loss) income from 
 discontinued operations 
 before income taxes  $ (190,752) $ (17,949) $ 17,742
Provision for income tax 
 (benefit) expense   (6,147)  (4,940)  6,005

(Loss) income from 
 discontinued operations, 
 net of tax  $ (184,605) $ (13,009) $ 11,737

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144), requires that long-lived assets to 
be disposed of by sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying 
value or fair value less costs to sell. Accordingly, the Fiscal 2007 
loss from discontinued operations before income taxes includes a 
non-cash pretax charge of $168,520 to reduce the carrying value 
of certain assets, principally consisting of goodwill and intangible 
assets, related to the Home and Garden Business in order to 
refl ect the estimated fair value of this business. Such estimated 
fair value was based on a range of estimated sales values, taking 
into account current market conditions, provided by indepen-
dent third-party advisors. If and when a sale is consummated, 
the actual fair value at that time may vary from the estimated fair 
value as refl ected herein. The Home and Garden Business (loss) 
income from discontinued operations before income taxes 
includes the allocation of interest expense, where such allocation

is based on the amount of the Company’s debt that would be 
reduced as a result of any such sale. The income tax benefi t of 
$6,147 in Fiscal 2007 includes a $54,154 non-cash deferred 
income tax charge related to increasing the valuation allowance 
against U.S. deferred tax assets related to the Home and Garden 
Business. In addition, an income tax benefi t of $52,699, prior to 
consideration of the current year valuation allowance, was 
recorded related to the SFAS 144 impairment charge (See Note 5, 
Assets Held for Sale, for additional information on this impair-
ment charge). 

On September 28, 2007, the Company signed a defi nitive 
agreement to sell the Canadian division of its Home and Garden 
Business, which operates under the name Nu-Gro, to a new com-
pany formed by RoyCap Merchant Banking Group and Clarke 
Inc. The transaction closed November 1, 2007. (See Note 18, 
Subsequent Events, for additional information regarding this 
divestiture). 

On January 25, 2006, the Company sold its fertilizer technol-
ogy and Canadian professional fertilizer products businesses of 
Nu-Gro to Agrium Inc. Proceeds from the sale were used to 
reduce outstanding debt. Nu-Gro Pro and Tech Fiscal 2005 
revenue approximated $80,000 from sales of high-end specialty 
controlled-release nitrogen fertilizer and other products to pro-
fessional turf markets and specialty wholesale fertilizer custom-
ers. As part of the transaction, the Company signed strategic 
multi-year reciprocal supply agreements with Agrium. Proceeds 
from the sale totaled approximately $83,000 after selling 
expenses and contractual working capital adjustments which 
were fi nalized on October 30, 2006. 

Effective October 1, 2005, the Company refl ected the opera-
tions of Nu-Gro Pro and Tech as discontinued operations. 
Therefore, the presentation herein of the results of continuing 
operations has been changed to exclude Nu-Gro Pro and Tech 
for all periods presented. The Company discontinued these 
operations as part of the United integration initiatives. (See also 
Note 16, Restructuring and Related Charges, for additional dis-
cussion of United integration initiatives). The following amounts 
have been segregated from continuing operations and are 
refl ected as discontinued operations for the years ended Septem-
ber 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively: 

      2006(1) 2005

Net sales   $ 16,314 $ 52,293

(Loss) income from discontinued 
 operations before income taxes  $ (6,388) $ 8,407
Provision for income tax (benefit) expense   (868)  2,938

(Loss) income from discontinued 
 operations (including loss on disposal 
 of $3,901 in 2006), net of tax  $ (5,520) $ 5,469

(1)  Represents results for the discontinued operations for October 2005 through January 2006. 
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(12) Employee Benefit Plans 

Pension Benefits 
The Company has various defi ned benefi t pension plans 

covering some of its employees in the United States and certain 
employees in other countries, primarily the United Kingdom and 
Germany. Plans generally provide benefi ts of stated amounts for 
each year of service. The Company funds its U.S. pension plans at 
a level to maintain, within established guidelines, the IRS-
defi ned 90% current liability funded status. At January 1, 2007, 
the date of the most recent calculation, all U.S. funded defi ned 
benefi t pension plans refl ected a current liability funded status 
equal to or greater than 90%. Additionally, in compliance with 
the Company’s funding policy, annual contributions to non-U.S. 
defi ned benefi t plans are equal to the actuarial recommendations 
or statutory requirements in their respective countries. 

The Company also sponsors or participates in a number of 
other non-U.S. pension arrangements, including various retire-
ment and termination benefi t plans, some of which are covered 
by local law or coordinated with government-sponsored plans, 
which are not signifi cant in the aggregate and therefore are not 
included in the information presented below. The Company also 
has various nonqualifi ed deferred compensation agreements 
with certain of its employees. Under certain of these agreements, 
the Company has agreed to pay certain amounts annually for the 
fi rst 15 years subsequent to retirement or to a designated benefi -
ciary upon death. It is management’s intent that life insurance 
contracts owned by the Company will fund these agreements. 
Under the remaining agreements, the Company has agreed to 
pay such deferred amounts in up to 15 annual installments begin-
ning on a date specifi ed by the employee, subsequent to retire-
ment or disability, or to a designated benefi ciary upon death. 

Other Benefits 
Under the Rayovac postretirement plan the Company provides 

certain health care and life insurance benefi ts to eligible retired 
employees. Participants earn retiree health care benefi ts after 
reaching age 45 over the next 10 succeeding years of service and 
remain eligible until reaching age 65. The plan is contributory; 
retiree contributions have been established as a fl at dollar amount 
with contribution rates expected to increase at the active medical 
trend rate. The plan is unfunded. The Company is amortizing the 
transition obligation over a 20-year period. During Fiscal 2007, 
the Company recognized a curtailment gain of approximately 
$2,417 associated with this plan as retirees now pay the full actu-
arial cost for health care benefi ts offered under this plan. 

Under the Tetra U.S. postretirement plan, the Company provides 
postretirement medical benefi ts to full-time employees who meet 
minimum age and service requirements. The plan is contributory 

with retiree contributions adjusted annually and contains other 
cost-sharing features such as deductibles, coinsurance and copay-
ments. During Fiscal 2007 the Company terminated this plan, 
which resulted in a gain of approximately $2,730. 

For measurement purposes, the Rayovac and Tetra U.S. post-
retirement plans assumed annual rates of increase of 10.0% in 
the per capita costs of covered health care benefi ts for Fiscal 2006 
and 2005. The projected annual rates of increase were assumed 
to decline incrementally in future years from 11.0% to 4.0% in 
Fiscal 2006 and 10.0% to 3.5% in Fiscal 2005. 

Effective September 30, 2007, the Company adopted SFAS 
No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and 
Other Postretirement Plans–an amendment of FASB Statements 
No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”). The recognition and 
disclosure provisions of this statement requires recognition of 
the overfunded or underfunded status of defi ned benefi t pension 
and postretirement plans as an asset or liability in the statement 
of fi nancial position, and to recognize changes in that funded 
status in AOCI in the year in which the adoption occurs. The 
Company measures plan assets and obligations of its domestic 
pension plans as of June 30 each year and September 30 each 
year for its foreign pension plans and its domestic other postre-
tirement plans. The measurement date provisions of SFAS 158, 
which for the Company become effective Fiscal 2009, will 
require the Company to measure all of its defi ned benefi t pen-
sion and postretirement plan assets and obligations as of Sep-
tember 30, its fi scal yearend. 

The adoption of SFAS 158 had no impact on the Company’s 
results of operations or its cash fl ows. SFAS 158 did have an 
incremental effect on individual line items in the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2007, as 
refl ected in the following table. Had the Company not been 
required to adopt SFAS 158 at September, 30, 2007, an addi-
tional minimum liability would have been recognized pursuant 
to the provisions SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pen-
sions.” The effect of recognizing the additional minimum liabil-
ity is included in the table below in the column labeled “Prior to 
Adopting SFAS 158.”

  At September 30, 2007 

  Prior to Effect of As Reported
 Adopting  Adopting at Sept 30,
 SFAS 158 SFAS 158 2007 

Deferred Tax Asset-Long-term $ 431 $ (431) $ –
Intangible Assets   831,122  (1,824)  829,297
Other Assets   1,967,986  319  1,968,305
Total Employee 
 Benefit Obligation   (58,306)  3,836  (54,469)
AOCI   (62,764)  (1,900)  (64,664)
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The following tables provide additional information on the Company’s pension and other postretirement benefi t plans: 

 Pension and Deferred
  Compensation Benefits   Other Benefits 

    2007   2006   2007 2006 

Change in benefit obligation 
 Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 113,391 $ 116,140 $ 5,298 $ 5,823
 Liabilities assumed with acquisitions  –    –    –    – 
 Service cost  3,197  4,686  223  614
 Interest cost  6,294  5,215  163  299
 Other events  –    (571)  –    – 
 Actuarial loss (gain)  (8,975)  (11,855)  157  (1,204)
 Gain on curtailment  694  –    (5,147)  – 
 Participant contributions  119  115  –    – 
 Benefits paid  (4,414)  (4,410)  (236)  (234)
 Foreign currency exchange rate changes  8,283  4,071  –    – 

 Benefit obligation, end of year $ 118,589 $ 113,391 $ 458 $ 5,298

Change in plan assets 
 Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 63,133 $ 54,884 $ –   $ – 
 Assets acquired with acquisitions  –    –    –    – 
 Actual return on plan assets  5,864  3,974  –    – 
 Employer contributions  4,882  6,886  236  233
 Employee contributions  119  115  –    1
 Benefits paid  (4,414)  (4,410)  (236)  (234)
 Assets transferred out  (216)  (156)  –    – 
 Plan expenses paid  (198)  (75)  –    – 
 Foreign currency exchange rate changes  4,252  1,915  –    – 

 Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 73,422 $ 63,133 $ –   $ – 

Funded status before fourth quarter contributions $ (45,167) $ (50,258) $ (458) $ (5,298)
 Fourth quarter contributions  4,352  –    –    – 

Funded status after fourth quarter contributions  (40,815)  (50,258)  (458)  (5,298)
 Unrecognized net transition obligation  –    –    –    161
 Unrecognized prior service cost  –    2,773  –    – 
 Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain)  –    15,999  –    (1,320)
 Adjustment for minimum liability  –    (19,409)  –    – 

 Accrued benefit cost $ (40,815) $ (50,895) $ (458) $ (6,457)

Weighted average assumptions:
 Discount rate 4.50%-6.25% 4.55%-6.25%  6.25%  6.25%
 Expected return on plan assets 4.5%-8.0% 4.0%-8.0%  N/A  N/A
 Rate of compensation increase 0%-4.4% 0%-4.1%  N/A  N/A
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The net underfunded status of $40,815 is recognized in the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as $1,157 within 
Other Assets for our overfunded plans and $41,972 within Total 
Employee Benefi t Obligations for our underfunded plans. 
Included in AOCI as of September 30, 2007 are the following 
amounts that have not yet been recognized as components of net 
periodic pension cost: unrecognized net losses of $6,580 and 
unrecognized net prior service costs of $1,799. The net loss, and 
net prior services costs in AOCI expected to be recognized dur-
ing Fiscal 2008 are $275 and $249, respectively. 

At September 30, 2007, the Company’s total pension and 
deferred compensation benefi t obligation of $118,589 consisted 
of $38,069 associated with U.S. plans and $80,520 associated 
with international plans. The fair value of the Company’s assets 
of $73,422 consisted of $28,012 associated with U.S. plans and 
$45,410 associated with international plans. The weighted aver-

age discount rate used for the Company’s domestic plans was 
approximately 6.3% and approximately 5.6% for its interna-
tional plans. The weighted average expected return on plan 
assets used for the Company’s domestic plans was approximately 
8.0% and approximately 5.4% for its international plans. 

At September 30, 2006, the Company’s total pension and 
deferred compensation benefi t obligation of $113,391 consisted 
of $37,223 associated with U.S. plans and $76,168 associated 
with international plans. The fair value of the Company’s assets 
of $63,133 consisted of $25,197 associated with U.S. plans and 
$37,936 associated with international plans. The weighted 
average discount rate used for the Company’s domestic plans 
was approximately 6.3% and approximately 4.6% for its inter-
national plans. The weighted average expected return on plan 
assets used for the Company’s domestic plans was approximately 
8.0% and approximately 5.5% for its international plans. 

 Pension and Deferred Compensation Benefits   Other Benefits 

    2007   2006   2005   2007   2006   2005 

Components of net periodic benefit cost
 Service cost $ 3,197 $ 4,686 $ 2,319 $ 223 $ 614 $ 293
 Interest cost  6,294  5,215  4,695  163  299  186
 Expected return on assets  (4,146)  (3,838)  (2,724)  –    –    –
 Amortization of prior service cost  703  404  319  –    22  28
 Amortization of transition obligation  –    34  –    –    –    –
 (Gain) loss on curtailments  –    –    (92)  –    –    – 
 Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)  208  1,607  501  (58)  –    – 

 Net periodic benefit cost $ 6,256 $ 8,108 $ 5,018 $ 328 $ 935 $ 507

The contributions to the domestic pension plans between July 1 
and September 30 were $2,153 in 2007, and $839 in 2006. All 
of the Company’s plans individually have accrued benefi t costs. 

The discount rate is used to calculate the projected benefi t 
obligation. The discount rate used is based on the rate of return 
on government bonds of the respective countries as well as current 
market conditions. 

Below is a summary allocation of all pension plan assets along 
with expected long-term rates of return by asset category as of 
the measurement date. 

 Weighted Average Allocation 

  Target   Actual 
Asset Category  2008   2007   2006 

Equity Securities  25-60% 32% 27%
Fixed Income Securities  40% 15% 15%
Other  75-100% 53% 58%

Total  100% 100% 100%

The weighted average expected long-term rate of return on 
total assets is 6.4%. 

The Company has established formal investment policies for 
the assets associated with these plans. Policy objectives include 
maximizing long-term return at acceptable risk levels, diversify-
ing among asset classes, if appropriate, and among investment 
managers, as well as establishing relevant risk parameters within 
each asset class. Specifi c asset class targets are based on the 
results of periodic asset liability studies. The investment policies 
permit variances from the targets within certain parameters. 
The weighted average expected long-term rate of return is based 
on a Fiscal 2007 review of such rates. The plan assets currently 
do not include holdings of Spectrum common stock. 

The Company’s Fixed Income Securities portfolio is invested 
primarily in commingled funds and managed for overall return 
expectations rather than matching duration against plan lia-
bilities; therefore, debt maturities are not signifi cant to the 
plan performance. 
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The Company’s Other portfolio consists of all pension assets 
in the United Kingdom, Germany and the Netherlands. 

The Company expects to make minimal contributions to its pen-
sion plans in 2008. The Company’s expected future pension benefi t 
payments for Fiscal 2008 through Fiscal 2017 are as follows: 

2008    $ 3,949
2009    3,845
2010    4,040
2011     4,279
2012    4,466
2013 to 2017    $27,986

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 158 “Employers’ Accounting 
for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Postretirement Plans – an 
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)” 
(SFAS 158), the Company recorded an additional minimum 
pension liability of $19,409 at September 30, 2006 to recog-
nize the underfunded position of its benefi t plans. An intangible 
asset of $2,773 at September 30, 2006 equal to the unrecog-
nized prior service cost and net transition obligation of these 
plans had also been recorded. The excess of the additional mini-
mum liability over the unrecognized prior service cost, net of 
tax, of $9,668 at September 30, 2006 was recorded as a com-
ponent of AOCI. 

The Company sponsors a supplemental executive retirement 
plan for eligible employees. Each October 1, the account of each 
participant is credited by an amount equal to 15% of the partici-
pant’s salary. In addition, each quarter each account is credited by 
an amount equal to 2% of the participant’s account value. Each 
participant vests 20% per year in his account, with immediate full 
vesting occurring upon death, disability or a change in control of 
the Company. During Fiscal 2007, the Company began funding 
this plan; however, prior to Fiscal 2007 the plan was unfunded. As 
of September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company had recorded an 
obligation of $468 and $3,848, respectively, related to the plan. 

The Company sponsors a defi ned contribution pension plan for 
its domestic salaried employees, which allows participants to make 
contributions by salary reduction pursuant to Section 401(k) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. The Company contributes annually 
from 3% to 6% of participants’ compensation based on age or ser-
vice, and may make additional discretionary contributions. The 
Company also sponsors defi ned contribution pension plans for 
employees of certain foreign subsidiaries. Company contributions 
charged to operations, including discretionary amounts, for 2007, 
2006 and 2005 were $4,109, $5,900 and $4,193, respectively. 

(13) Segment Information 
In Fiscal 2007, the Company began managing its business in 

three operating segments: (i) Global Batteries & Personal Care, 
(ii) Global Pet Supplies; and (iii) the Home and Garden Busi-
ness. The presentation of all historical segment reporting herein 
has been reclassifi ed to conform to this segment structure. 

Global strategic initiatives and fi nancial objectives for each 
reportable segment are determined at the corporate level. Each 
reportable segment is responsible for implementing defi ned stra-
tegic initiatives and achieving certain fi nancial objectives and has 
a general manager responsible for the sales and marketing initia-
tives and fi nancial results for product lines within that segment. 

Net sales and Cost of goods sold to other business segments 
have been eliminated. The gross contribution of intersegment 
sales is included in the segment selling the product to the exter-
nal customer. Segment net sales are based upon the segment 
from which the product is shipped. 

The operating segment profi ts do not include restructuring 
and related charges, interest expense, interest income, impair-
ment charges and income tax expense. In connection with the 
realignment of operating segments discussed above in Fiscal 
2007 expenses associated with the Company’s global operations 
group, which consisted of research and development, manufac-
turing management, global purchasing, quality operations and 
inbound supply chain, which were previously refl ected in corpo-
rate expenses, are now included in the determination of operating 
segment profi ts. In addition, certain general and administrative 
expenses necessary to refl ect the operating segments on a stand-
alone basis and which were previously refl ected as corporate 
expenses, have been included in the determination of operating 
segment profi ts. Accordingly, corporate expenses include primar-
ily general and administrative expenses associated with corporate 
overhead and global long-term incentive compensation plans. 
Segment reporting results for Fiscal 2006 and 2005 have been 
reclassifi ed to conform to the changes described above. All depre-
ciation and amortization included in income from operations is 
related to operating segments or corporate expense. Costs are 
identifi ed to operating segments or corporate expense according 
to the function of each cost center. 

All capital expenditures are related to operating segments. 
Variable allocations of assets are not made for segment reporting. 

Segment information for Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as 
follows: 

Net Sales to External Customers 

     2007 2006 2005

Global Batteries & 
 Personal Care $ 1,431,475 $ 1,351,518 $ 1,476,536
Global Pet Supplies  563,047  543,223  285,643

Total segments $ 1,994,522 $ 1,894,741 $ 1,762,179
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Depreciation and Amortization 

     2007 2006 2005

Global Batteries & 
 Personal Care $ 33,660 $ 34,462 $ 36,183
Global Pet Supplies  22,269  21,709  11,589

Total segments  55,929  56,171  47,772
Corporate  21,496  14,341  9,509

Total Depreciation 
 and amortization $ 77,425 $ 70,512 $ 57,281

Segment Profi t 

     2007 2006 2005

Global Batteries & 
 Personal Care(1) $ 143,850 $ 117,409 $ 176,376
Global Pet Supplies(1)(2)  71,038  72,471  22,613

Total segments  214,888  189,880  198,989
Corporate expenses(1)  46,902  41,315  28,142
Restructuring and 
 related charges  91,040  34,670  16,739
Goodwill and 
 intangibles impairment  238,439  432,978  –
Interest expense(3)  195,230  122,988  107,624
Other income, net  (331)  (3,934)  1,350

(Loss) income from 
 continuing operations 
 before income taxes $ (356,392) $ (438,137) $ 45,134

(1)  In connection with the realignment of operating segments in Fiscal 2007, certain expenses 
previously refl ected in corporate expenses are now included in the determination of operat-
ing segment profi t. Segment reporting results for Fiscal 2006 and 2005 have been reclassi-
fi ed to conform to this change. Accordingly, previously reported Global Batteries & Personal 
Care segment profi t for Fiscal 2006 and 2005 has been decreased by approximately $46,914 
and $50,404, respectively, and previously reported Global Pet Supplies segment profi t for 
Fiscal 2006 and 2005 has been decreased by approximately $11,140 and $6,097, respec-
tively. As a result of these reclassifi cations, previously reported Corporate expenses for Fiscal 
2006 and 2005 has been reduced by approximately $58,054 and $56,501, respectively. 

(2)  Fiscal 2006 and 2005 include a non-cash charge to Cost of goods sold of $204 and $14,398, 
respectively, related to the fair value adjustment that was applied to acquired inventory. 

(3)  Fiscal 2007 includes $24,576 in debt issuance costs and $11,649 in prepayment penalties 
in connection with the refi nancing of the Company’s previously existing senior credit 
facilities and the exchange of the Company’s 8½% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 for 
Variable Rate Toggle Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 pursuant to the terms of an 
exchange offer, both of which occurred on March 30, 2007. Fiscal 2005 includes $12,033 
in debt issuance costs written off in connection with the debt refi nancing that occurred at 
the time of the United Acquisition. 

Segment Total Assets 

  September 30, 

      2007   2006 

Global Batteries & Personal Care  $ 1,328,802 $ 1,549,197
Global Pet Supplies    1,202,263  1,170,841
Home & Garden    564,188  745,363

Total segments    3,095,253  3,465,401
Corporate    116,133  83,919

Total assets at yearend   $ 3,211,386 $ 3,549,320

Segment Long-lived Assets 

  September 30, 

      2007   2006 

Global Batteries & Personal Care  $ 685,326 $ 955,004
Global Pet Supplies    1,033,133  1,000,897
Home & Garden    –    566,212

Total segments    1,718,459  2,522,113
Corporate    107,359  67,392

Long-lived assets at yearend   $ 1,825,818 $ 2,589,505

Capital Expenditures for Segment 

     2007   2006   2005 

Global Batteries & Personal Care $ 13,137 $ 41,764 $ 48,497
Global Pet Supplies   8,964  13,181  8,245

Total segments  $ 22,101 $ 54,945 $ 56,742

Geographic Disclosures – Net Sales to External Customers 

     2007   2006   2005 

United States  $ 806,316 $ 910,607 $ 800,050
Outside the United States   1,188,206  984,134  962,129

Total net sales to 
 external customers  $ 1,994,522 $ 1,894,741 $ 1,762,179

Geographic Disclosures – Long-Lived Assets 

  September 30, 

      2007   2006 

United States   $ 864,600 $ 1,938,330
Outside the United States    961,218  651,175

Long-lived assets at yearend   $ 1,825,818 $ 2,589,505

(14) Commitments and Contingencies 
The Company has provided for the estimated costs associated 

with environmental remediation activities at some of its current 
and former manufacturing sites. The Company believes that any 
additional liability in excess of the amounts provided of approxi-
mately $3,762, which may result from resolution of these matters, 
will not have a material adverse effect on the fi nancial condition, 
results of operations or cash fl ows of the Company. 

Included in long-term liabilities assumed in connection with 
the acquisition of Microlite is a provision for “presumed” credits 
applied to the Brazilian excise tax on Manufactured Products, 
or “IPI taxes.” Although a previous ruling by the Brazilian Fed-
eral Supreme Court has been issued in favor of a specifi c Brazil-
ian taxpayer with similar tax credits, on February 15, 2007 the 
Brazilian Federal Supreme Court ruled against certain Brazil-
ian taxpayers with respect to the legality and constitutionality 
of the IPI “presumed” credits. This decision is applicable to all 
similarly-situated taxpayers. At September 30, 2007, these 
amounts totaled approximately $32,747 and are included in 
Other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
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The Company is a defendant in various other matters of litiga-
tion generally arising out of the normal course of business. Such 
litigation includes legal proceedings with Philips in Europe and 
Latin America with respect to trademark or other intellectual 
property rights. The Company does not believe that any other 
matters or proceedings presently pending will have a material 
adverse effect on the results of operations, fi nancial condition, 
liquidity or cash fl ow of the Company. 

The Company is involved in an ongoing arbitration proceeding 
with Tabriza Brasil Empreendimentos Ltda., Interelectrica 
Administração e Participações Ltda., and VARTA AG, the former 
owners of the Company’s subsidiary Microlite S.A., with respect 
to a number of matters arising out of the Company’s acquisition 
of Microlite, including the Company’s right to receive indemnifi -
cation for various alleged breaches of representations, warran-
ties, covenants and agreements made by the selling shareholders 
in the acquisition agreement and the Company’s obligation to 
pay additional amounts to Tabriza arising out of its earn-out 
rights under the acquisition agreement. The Company acquired 
Microlite in Fiscal 2004. The arbitration on this matter is sched-
uled to be heard in February 2008. In November 2007, the arbi-
tration panel resolved certain matters at the summary judgment 
stage. All other disputed matters remain open pending the Feb-
ruary 2008 hearing and the decision thereafter by the arbitration 
panel. Among the matters decided at the summary judgment 
stage, the arbitration panel found in favor of Tabriza with respect 
to the questions of whether Tabriza is entitled to receive from the 
Company interest on certain earn-out payments previously made 
and whether Tabriza is entitled to receive from the Company an 
additional amount with respect to the earn-out as a result of a 
decision issued by an independent auditor engaged by the parties 
to determine certain disputed matters submitted to it with 
respect to the earn-out calculation. The Company currently esti-
mates that the additional earn-out amounts owed to Tabriza 
arising out of the decisions on these two matters, which has been 
refl ected as additional acquisition consideration, will be at least 
$5,000. Such additional amount due Tabriza is included in 
Accrued liabilities: Other in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
of September 30, 2007. Determination of the total net amount 
owed by or payable to the Company arising out of the arbitration 
proceeding cannot be determined until the arbitration panel has 
issued its fi nal decision following the February 2008 hearing. 

Future minimum rental commitments under noncancelable 
operating leases, principally pertaining to land, buildings and 
equipment, are as follows: 

2008    $  22,085
2009     20,275
2010     17,199
2011      15,360
2012     14,497
Thereafter     53,498

Total minimum lease payments   $ 142,914

All of the leases expire during the years 2008 through 2020. 
Total rental expenses were $19,004, $19,431, and $11,656 for 
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

(15) Related Party Transactions 
On February 7, 2005, the Company acquired all of the equity 

interests of United pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger 
(as amended, the “Merger Agreement”) by and among the Com-
pany, Lindbergh Corporation and United dated as of January 3, 
2005 fi led as an exhibit to the Current Report on Form 8-K fi led 
by the Company on January 4, 2005. Pursuant to the terms of the 
Merger Agreement, Lindbergh Corporation merged with and into 
United, with United continuing as the surviving corporation (the 
“Merger”). The purchase price for the acquisition, excluding fees 
and expenses, consisted of $70,000 in cash, 13,750 shares of the 
Company’s Common Stock and the assumption of outstanding 
United indebtedness, which was $911,500 as of January 21, 2005. 
The purchase price was determined through negotiations between 
representatives of the Company, who were operating under super-
vision and direction of an acquisition committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Company, and representatives of United. 

Certain affi liates of Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. were the 
majority shareholders of United as of immediately prior to the 
consummation of the Company’s acquisition of United, and as a 
result of the Company’s acquisition of United, are signifi cant 
shareholders of the Company. In addition, two of the Company’s 
directors are members of Thomas H. Lee Advisors, LLC, which 
is the general partner of Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P., which is 
the manager of THL Equity Advisors IV, LLC, which, in turn, is 
the general partner of each of the Thomas H. Lee related funds 
that were shareholders of United immediately prior to the 
Merger and now are signifi cant shareholders of the Company. 

Mr. Jones, the Company’s former Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Offi cer, and trusts for his family members, col-
lectively owned approximately 203 shares of United common 
stock as of immediately prior to the Merger, which shares were 
converted into an aggregate of approximately 36 shares of Com-
pany Common Stock pursuant to the Merger. Mr. Jones was a 
member of the Board of Directors of United from January 20, 
1999 to December 31, 2003, and provided consulting services to 
United under an agreement that was terminated on September 28, 
2004. A member of the Company’s Board of Directors is an inves-
tor in Thomas H. Lee Equity Fund IV, L.P., a large shareholder of 
United immediately prior to the Merger, and, as a result of the 
Merger, currently is a large shareholder of the Company. 

In connection with the acquisition of United, the Company 
entered into certain agreements with UIC Holdings, L.L.C. 
(“Holdings”), the majority stockholder of United as of the date the 
Company entered into the defi nitive agreement to acquire United, 
Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. and certain of its affi liates and cer-
tain former stockholders of United. The agreements are described 
further below. 
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On February 7, 2005, the Company entered into a registration 
rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with 
certain former stockholders of United, including certain affi liates 
of Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. and an affi liate of Banc of Amer-
ica Securities LLC, pursuant to which the Company agreed to 
prepare and fi le with the SEC, not later than nine months follow-
ing the consummation of the acquisition of United on February 7, 
2005, a registration statement to permit the public offering and 
resale under the Securities Act of 1933 on a continuous basis of 
shares of Common Stock issued in connection with its acquisition 
of United (the “Shelf Registration Statement”). As of December 4, 
2007, the Company has not so registered these shares. Pursuant 
to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company also granted 
to the former stockholders of United certain rights to require the 
Company, on not more than three occasions, to amend the Shelf 
Registration Statement or prepare and fi le a new registration 
statement to permit an underwritten offering of shares of the 
Company’s stock received by them in the acquisition of United as 
well as certain rights to include those shares in any registration 
statement proposed to be fi led by the Company. 

On February 7, 2005, the Company entered into a standstill 
agreement (the “Standstill Agreement”) with Thomas H. Lee 
Equity Fund IV, L.P., THL Equity Advisors IV, LLC, Thomas H. 
Lee Partners, L.P. and Thomas H. Lee Advisors, L.L.C. (the 
“Restricted Parties”). Pursuant to the Standstill Agreement, the 
Restricted Parties are prohibited until February 7, 2010 from 
acquiring ownership in excess of 28% of the Company’s outstand-
ing voting capital stock, on a fully-diluted basis, soliciting proxies 
or consents with respect to the Company’s voting capital stock, 
soliciting or encouraging third parties to acquire or seek to 
acquire the Company, a signifi cant portion of the Company’s 
assets or more than 5% of the Company’s outstanding voting 
capital stock or joining or participating in a pooling agreement, 
syndicate, voting trust or other similar arrangement with respect 
to the Company’s voting capital stock for the purpose of acquir-
ing, holding, voting or disposing of such voting capital stock. 

The Company is the lessee of several operating facilities from 
Rex Realty, Inc., a company owned by certain of the Company’s 
stockholders and operated by a former United executive and past 
member of United’s Board of Directors. These affi liate leases 
expire at various dates through December 31, 2010. The Com-
pany has options to terminate the leases by giving advance notice 
of at least one year. The Company also leases a portion of its oper-
ating facilities from the same company under a sublease agree-
ment expiring on December 31 each year with minimum annual 
rentals of $700. The term of the sublease agreement shall auto-
matically be extended on a year-to-year basis from January 1 
through December 31 of each year through and until December 31, 
2010, unless either party elects to terminate such year-to-year 
extension by giving termination notice in which case, the term 
shall terminate at the end of the year following the year during 
which such termination notice is given. 

(16) Restructuring and Related Charges 
The Company reports restructuring and related charges associated 

with manufacturing and related initiatives in Cost of goods sold. 
Restructuring and related charges refl ected in Cost of goods sold 
include, but are not limited to, termination and related costs asso-
ciated with manufacturing employees, asset impairments relating 
to manufacturing initiatives, and other costs directly related to the 
restructuring or integration initiatives implemented. 

The Company reports restructuring and related charges relating 
to administrative functions in Operating expenses, such as initia-
tives impacting sales, marketing, distribution, or other non-manu-
facturing-related functions. Restructuring and related charges 
refl ected in Operating expenses include, but are not limited to, 
termination and related costs, any asset impairments relating to 
the functional areas described above, and other costs directly 
related to the initiatives implemented. 

The following table summarizes restructuring and related 
charges incurred by segment: 

     2007 2006 2005

Cost of goods sold:
Global Batteries & 
 Personal Care  $ 18,126 $ 16,597 $ 10,241
Global Pet Supplies   13,154  5,855  255
Corporate   35  –  –

Total restructuring and related 
 charges in cost of goods sold  31,315  22,452  10,496

Operating expense:
Global Batteries & Personal Care  29,600  9,452  6,045
Global Pet Supplies   9,292  2,766  198
Corporate   20,833  –  –

Total restructuring and related 
 charges in operating expense  59,725  12,218  6,243

Total restructuring and 
 related charges  $ 91,040 $ 34,670 $ 16,739
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The following table summarizes restructuring and related 
charges incurred by type of charge: 

     2007 2006 2005

Costs included in cost of goods sold:
Breitenbach, France facility closure:
 Termination benefits  $ 18 $ 259 $ 8,276
 Other associated costs   468  –    1,965
United & Tetra integration:
 Termination benefits   149  5,430  255
 Other associated costs   13,005  1,810  – 
European initiatives:
 Termination benefits   7,494  14,953  –
 Other associated costs   308  –    –
Latin America initiatives:
 Termination benefits   712  –    – 
 Other associated costs   9,847  –    – 
Global Realignment initiatives:
 Termination benefits   (686)  –    –

Total included in cost of goods sold  31,315  22,452  10,496

Costs included in operating expenses:
United & Tetra integration:
 Termination benefits   988  2,491  3,165
 Other associated costs   8,435  1,791  4,495
European initiatives:
 Termination benefits   (1,298)  7,936  –
 Other associated costs   –    –    – 
Latin America initiatives:
 Termination benefits   363  –    – 
Global Realignment:
 Termination benefits   47,617  –    194
 Other associated costs   3,620  –    (1,611)

Total included in 
 operating expenses   59,725  12,218  6,243

Total restructuring and 
 related charges  $ 91,040 $ 34,670 $ 16,739

2007 Restructuring Initiatives 
The Company has implemented a series of initiatives within 

the Global Batteries & Personal Care segment in Latin America 
to reduce operating costs (the “Latin American Initiatives”). 
These initiatives include the reduction of certain manufacturing 
operations in Brazil and the restructuring of management, sales, 
marketing and support functions. The Company incurred 
$10,923 of pretax restructuring and related charges during the 
year September 30, 2007 of which approximately $1,177 repre-
sent cash costs. Costs associated with the Latin America Initia-
tives are fully accrued. 

In Fiscal 2007, the Company began managing its business in 
three vertically integrated, product-focused reporting segments; 
Global Batteries & Personal Care, Global Pet Supplies and the 
Home and Garden Business. As part of this realignment, the 
Company’s Global Operations organization, previously included 
in corporate expense, consisting of research and development, 
manufacturing management, global purchasing, quality opera-
tions and inbound supply chain, is now included in each of the 
operating segments. (See also Note 13, Segment Information, 
for additional discussion on the Company’s realignment of its 
operating segments). In connection with these changes the 
Company undertook a number of cost reduction initiatives, pri-
marily headcount reductions, at the corporate and operating 
segment levels (the “Global Realignment Initiatives”). The 
Company incurred $50,550 of pretax restructuring and related 
charges in connection with these initiatives during the year 
ended September 30, 2007. Costs associated with these initia-
tives, which are expected to be incurred through December 31, 
2008, relate primarily to severance and are projected at approx-
imately $59,000, the majority of which will be cash costs. 

The following table summarizes the remaining accrual bal-
ance associated with the 2007 initiatives and activity that 
occurred during Fiscal 2007: 

2007 Restructuring Initiatives Summary 

  Termination Other
 Benefits  Costs Total

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2006  $ –   $ –   $ –
Provisions   27,884  13,645  41,529
Cash expenditures   (6,445)  (1)  (6,446)
Non-cash expenditures   6,162  (9,025)  (2,863)

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2007  $ 27,601 $ 4,619 $ 32,220

Expensed as incurred(1)  $ 20,124 $ (180) $ 19,944

(1)  Consists of amounts not impacting the accrual for restructuring and related charges. 

2006 Restructuring Initiatives 
The Company implemented a series of initiatives within the 

Global Batteries & Personal Care segment in Europe to reduce 
operating costs and rationalize the Company’s manufacturing 
structure (the “European Initiatives”). These initiatives include 
the relocation of certain operations at the Ellwangen, Germany 
packaging center to the Dischingen, Germany battery plant, 
transferring private label battery production at the Company’s 
Dischingen, Germany battery plant to the Company’s manufac-
turing facility in China and restructuring its sales, marketing and 
support functions. The Company incurred $6,504 and $21,242 
of pretax restructuring and related charges in Fiscal 2007 and 
2006, respectively, in connection with the European Initiatives. 
Costs associated with these initiatives are fully accrued. 
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The following table summarizes the remaining accrual balance 
associated with the 2006 initiatives and activity that occurred 
during Fiscal 2007: 

2006 Restructuring Initiatives Summary 

 Termination Other
 Benefits  Costs Total

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2006  $ 12,922 $ –   $ 12,922
Provisions   7,549  –    7,549
Cash expenditures   (12,793)  –    (12,793)
Non-cash expenditures   (2,454)  –    (2,454)

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2007  $ 5,224 $ –   $ 5,224

Expensed as incurred(1)  $ (1,352) $ 307 $ (1,045)

(1) Consists of amounts not impacting the accrual for restructuring and related charges. 

2005 Restructuring Initiatives 
In connection with the acquisitions of United and Tetra in 2005, 

the Company announced a series of initiatives to optimize the 
global resources of the combined companies. These initiatives 
included: integrating all of United’s home and garden administra-
tive services, sales and customer service functions into the Compa-
ny’s operations in Madison, Wisconsin; converting all information 
systems to SAP; consolidating United’s home and garden manu-
facturing and distribution locations in North America; rationalizing 
the North America supply chain; and consolidating administrative, 
manufacturing and distribution facilities of the Company’s Global 
Pet Supplies business. In addition, certain corporate fi nance func-
tions were shifted to the Company’s global headquarters in Atlanta. 

Effective October 1, 2006, the Company refl ected the operations 
of its Home and Garden Business as discontinued operations. 
(See Note 5, Assets Held for Sale, and Note 11, Discontinued 
Operations, for further details on the discontinued Home and 
Garden Business). As a result, as of October 1, 2006, initiatives 
to integrate the activities of the Home and Garden Business into 
the Company’s operations in Madison, Wisconsin were sus-
pended. In connection with the integration of the United home 
and garden business, the Company recorded $131, $2,901 and 
$6,075 in Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

Integration activities within Global Pet Supplies are substan-
tially complete as of September 30, 2007. Global Pet Supplies 
integration activities consisted primarily of the rationalization of 
manufacturing facilities and the optimization of the distribution 
network. As a result of these integration initiatives, two pet sup-
plies facilities were closed in 2005, one in Brea, California and 
the other in Hazleton, Pennsylvania; one pet supply facility was 
closed in 2006, in Hauppauge, New York; and one pet supply 
facility was closed in 2007, in Moorpark, California. The Company 
recorded $22,446, $8,622 and $453 of pretax restructuring and 
related charges during Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, 
primarily in connection with its integration activities within the 
Global Pet Supplies business. 

In Fiscal 2005, the Company also announced the closure of a 
zinc carbon manufacturing facility in France. The Company 
incurred $485, $259 and $10,211 in Fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. Costs associated with this initiative totaled $10,955. 

The following table summarizes the remaining accrual balance 
associated with the 2005 initiatives and activity that occurred 
during Fiscal 2007: 

2005 Restructuring Initiatives Summary 

 Termination Other
 Benefits  Costs Total

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2006  $ 8,945 $ 2,735 $ 11,680
Provisions   405  597  1,002
Cash expenditures   (6,004)  (911)  (6,915)
Non-cash expenditures   (729)  (153)  (882)

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2007  $ 2,617 $ 2,268 $ 4,885

Expensed as incurred(1)  $ 750 $ 21,310 $ 22,060

(1) Consists of amounts not impacting the accrual for restructuring and related charges. 

2005 Restructuring Initiatives Summary –
Pursuant to Acquisitions(1) 

 Termination Other
 Benefits  Costs Total

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2006  $ 4,515 $ 15,278 $ 19,793
Cash expenditures   (3,437)  (4,666)  (8,103)
Non-cash expenditures   (978)  1,158  180

Accrual balance at 
 September 30, 2007  $ 100 $ 11,770 $ 11,870

(1)  Represents costs to exit activities of the acquired United and Tetra businesses. These costs, 
which include severance, lease termination costs, inventory disposal costs and other asso-
ciated costs, relate to the closure of certain acquired Global Pet Supplies and home and 
garden manufacturing and distribution facilities. Such amounts are recognized as liabili-
ties assumed as part of the United acquisition and included in the allocation of the acqui-
sition cost in accordance with the provisions of EITF 95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities 
Assumed in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination.” 

(17) Acquisitions 

Acquisition of Jungle Labs 
On September 1, 2005, the Company acquired Jungle Labs 

for approximately $29,000, which included $26,000 cash con-
sideration at closing, $1,280 paid after closing and $2,000 of 
non-compete arrangements which were earned and paid 
through August 31, 2007. The aggregate purchase price included 
acquisition-related expenditures of approximately $200. Such 
amounts paid were recorded as additional acquisition consider-
ation. Cash acquired totaled approximately $600. Based in San 
Antonio, Texas, Jungle Labs is a leading manufacturer and mar-
keter of premium water and fi sh care products, including water 
conditioners, plant and fi sh foods, fi sh medications and other 
products designed to maintain an optimal environment in 
aquariums or ponds. Jungle Labs generates annual revenues of 
approximately $14,000. The fi nancial results of Jungle Labs are 
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included in the Global Pet Supplies business segment within the 
Company’s consolidated results. 

  As of September 1, 2005 

Current assets   $ 3,000
Property, plant, and equipment   1,000
Intangible assets    10,000
Goodwill    19,000

 Total assets acquired    33,000
Current liabilities    3,000
Long-term liabilities    3,000

 Total liabilities assumed    6,000

Net assets acquired   $ 27,000
 Less: Cash acquired    (600)

Payments for acquisitions   $ 26,400

None of the goodwill acquired in this transaction is deductible 
for tax purposes. (See Note 6, Intangible Assets, for additional 
information on the intangible assets acquired in the Jungle Labs 
acquisition). 

Acquisition of Tetra 
On April 29, 2005, the Company acquired all of the outstand-

ing equity interests of Tetra for a purchase price of approximately 
$550,000, net of cash acquired of approximately $13,000 and 
inclusive of a fi nal working capital payment of $2,400, made in 
July 2005. The aggregate purchase price also included acquisition-
related expenditures of approximately $16,100. Tetra manufac-
tures, distributes and markets a comprehensive line of foods, 
equipment and care products for fi sh and reptiles, along with 
accessories for home aquariums and ponds. Tetra operates in over 
90 countries and holds leading market positions in Europe, North 
America and Japan. The fi nancial results of Tetra are included in 
the Global Pet Supplies business segment within the Company’s 
consolidated results. The following table summarizes the fair 
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date 
of the acquisition using the exchange rates in effect as of that date. 

  As of April 29, 2005 

Current assets   $ 89,000
Property, plant, and equipment   35,000
Intangible assets    234,000
Goodwill    326,000
Other assets    9,000

 Total assets acquired    693,000
Current liabilities    34,000
Long-term liabilities    96,000

 Total liabilities assumed    130,000

Net assets acquired   $ 563,000
 Less: Cash acquired    (13,000)

Payments for acquisitions   $ 550,000

None of the goodwill acquired in this transaction is deductible in 
the determination of income taxes. (See Note 6, Intangible Assets, 
for additional information on the intangible assets acquired in the 
Tetra acquisition). 

Acquisition of United 
On February 7, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition 

of all of the outstanding equity interests of United, a leading 
manufacturer and marketer of products for the consumer lawn 
and garden care and household insect control markets in North 
America and a leading supplier of specialty pet products to the 
pet supply industry in the United States. The acquisition of 
United allows the Company to gain signifi cant presence in several 
new consumer products markets, including categories that sig-
nifi cantly diversify the Company’s revenue base. Subsequent to 
the acquisition, the fi nancial results of the lawn and garden and 
household insect control business of United are included in the 
Home and Garden Business, which has been designated as dis-
continued operations, and the fi nancial results of the pet business 
of United are included in the Global Pet Supplies business seg-
ment within the Company’s consolidated results. 

The aggregate purchase price was approximately $1,490,000, 
net of cash acquired of approximately $14,000. The purchase 
price consisted of cash consideration of approximately $1,051,000 
and common stock totaling approximately $439,000. The aggre-
gate purchase price included acquisition-related expenditures of 
approximately $22,000. The value of common stock was deter-
mined based on 13,750 shares at $31.94 per share. 

The share price of $31.94 used in the calculation of the pur-
chase price is based on a fi ve-day average beginning on Decem-
ber 30, 2004. The following table summarizes the fair value of 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the 
acquisition using the exchange rates in effect as of that date. 

  As of February 7, 2005 

Current assets   $ 401,000
Property, plant, and equipment   91,000
Intangible assets    500,000
Goodwill    780,000
Other assets    61,000

 Total assets acquired    1,833,000
Current liabilities    149,000
Short-term debt    14,000
Long-term liabilities    166,000

 Total liabilities assumed    329,000

Net assets acquired   $ 1,504,000
 Less: Cash acquired    (14,000)

Payments for acquisitions   $ 1,490,000

Approximately $433,000 of the total goodwill acquired in 
this transaction is expected to be deductible in the determina-
tion of income taxes. (See also Note 6, Intangible Assets, for 
additional information on the intangible assets acquired in the 
United acquisition). 
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Supplemental Pro Forma Information (unaudited): The following refl ects the Company’s pro forma results had the results of the Tetra 
and United businesses been included for all periods beginning after September 30, 2004. The results of Jungle Labs are not included in the 
pro forma results as they are not signifi cant. Adjustments to the number of shares used to calculate earnings per share have also been made 
to present shares as if the 13,750 treasury shares issued in connection with the United acquisition were outstanding on October 1, 2004. 

      2007 2006 2005

Net sales
Reported net sales $ 1,994,522 $ 1,894,741 $ 1,762,179
United pro forma adjustments  –    –    109,732
Tetra pro forma adjustments  –    –    137,003

Pro forma net sales $ 1,994,522 $ 1,894,741 $ 2,008,914

Income from continuing operations
Reported (loss) income from continuing operations $ (412,108) $ (415,443) $ 4,774(1)

United pro forma adjustments  –    –    6,437(2)

Tetra pro forma adjustments  –    –    6,460

Pro forma (loss) income from continuing operations $ (412,108) $ (415,443) $ 17,671

Pro forma basic earnings per share
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (8.09) $ (8.40) $ 0.11
United pro forma adjustments  –    –    0.15
Tetra pro forma adjustments  –    –    0.13

Pro forma (loss) income from continuing operations $ (8.09) $ (8.40) $ 0.41

Pro forma diluted earnings per share
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (8.09) $ (8.40) $ 0.10
United pro forma adjustments  –    –    0.13
Tetra pro forma adjustments  –    –    0.13

Pro forma (loss) income from continuing operations $ (8.09) $ (8.66) $ 0.37

(1)  Reported income from continuing operations includes certain charges and other items related to the Tetra and United acquisitions that are not expected to recur. For 2005, these charges include 
approximately $14,400 charged to Cost of goods sold related to the fair value adjustment applied to acquired inventory for United and Tetra and the write-off of approximately $12,000 of debt 
issuance costs charged to interest expense related to the debt refi nancing that occurred in connection with the acquisition. 

(2)  United pro forma adjustments in 2005 represent the United Pet Group division of United’s income from continuing operations in Fiscal 2005 in the period prior to the Company’s ownership, 
from October 1, 2004 through February 6, 2005. 
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(18) Subsequent Events 
On September 28, 2007, the Company signed a defi nitive agreement to sell the Canadian division of its discontinued Home and Garden 

Business, which operates under the name Nu-Gro, to a new company formed by RoyCap Merchant Bank Group and Clarke Inc. The 
transaction closed on November 1, 2007. 

(19) Quarterly Results (unaudited) 
  Quarter Ended 

    September 30, July 1, April 1, December 31,
   2007 2007 2007 2006

Net sales $ 548,237 $ 442,000 $ 439,734 $ 564,551
Gross profit  198,551  164,166  164,616  208,924
Net (loss) income  (333,001)  (7,388)  (237,515)  (18,809)
Basic net (loss) income per common share $ (6.60) $ (0.15) $ (4.77) $ (0.38)
Diluted net (loss) income per common share $ (6.60) $ (0.15) $ (4.77) $ (0.38)

  Quarter Ended 

     September 30, July 2, April 2, January 1,
   2006 2006 2006 2006

Net sales $ 486,282 $ 427,517 $ 414,690 $ 566,252
Gross profit  168,043  156,357  158,895  223,940
Net (loss) income  (439,397)  2,545  563  2,317
Basic net (loss) income per common share $ (8.88) $ 0.05 $ 0.01 $ 0.05
Diluted net (loss) income per common share $ (8.88) $ 0.05 $ 0.01 $ 0.05

(20) Consolidating Financial Statements 
In connection with the acquisitions of Remington, United and Tetra, the Company completed debt offerings of Senior Subordinated 

Notes. Payment obligations of the Senior Subordinated Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by 
all of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries. 

The following consolidating fi nancial data illustrates the components of the consolidated fi nancial statements. Investments in subsidiaries 
are accounted for using the equity method for purposes of illustrating the consolidating presentation. Earnings of subsidiaries are 
therefore refl ected in the Company’s and Guarantor Subsidiaries’ investment accounts and earnings. The elimination entries presented 
herein eliminate investments in subsidiaries and intercompany balances and transactions. Separate consolidated fi nancial statements 
of the Guarantor Subsidiaries are not presented because management has determined that such fi nancial statements would not be 
material to investors. 
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Consolidating Balance Sheet 
September 30, 2007 

    Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,602 $ 1,473 $ 56,778 $ –   $ 69,853
 Receivables:
  Trade accounts receivables, net of allowances  207,068  290,833  209,766  (396,624)  311,043
  Other  15,675  1,665  (72,440)  100,202  45,102
 Inventories  66,990  74,832  176,601  (954)  317,469
 Deferred income taxes  9,680  6,923  4,137  1,468  22,208
 Assets held for sale  516,816  47,688  8,355  –    572,859
 Prepaid expenses and other  24,087  2,382  20,565  –    47,034

  Total current assets  851,918  425,796  403,762  (295,908)  1,385,568
Property, plant and equipment, net  33,661  64,351  151,790  –    249,802
Deferred charges and other  699,358  426,867  23,446  (1,112,507)  37,164
Goodwill  (152,780)  435,603  379,502  2,324  664,649
Intangible assets, net  8,768  433,842  386,874  (187)  829,297
Debt issuance costs  44,906  –    –    –    44,906
Investments in subsidiaries  5,097,465  4,326,785  3,559,881  (12,984,131)  –

  Total assets $ 6,583,296 $ 6,113,244 $ 4,905,255 $ (14,390,409) $ 3,211,386

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
 Current maturities of long-term debt $ 72,134 $ 30 $ 29,628 $ (58,354) $ 43,438
 Accounts payable  414,678  236,438  191,634  (589,270)  253,480
 Accrued liabilities:
  Wages and benefits  21,177  6,820  34,123  –    62,120
  Income taxes payable  7,537  1,218  9,590  –    18,345
  Restructuring and related charges  30,537  4,924  20,332  –    55,793
  Accrued interest  50,778  –    344  –    51,122
  Liabilities held for sale  –    47,688  –    –    47,688
  Other  10,767  7,972  55,431  –    74,170

  Total current liabilities  607,608  305,090  341,082  (647,624)  606,156
Long-term debt, net of current maturities  2,403,531  609,706  66,730  (663,051)  2,416,916
Employee benefit obligations, net of current portion  10,531  (513)  44,451  –    54,469
Deferred income taxes  4,973  101,496  62,618  1  169,088
Other   4,997  –    63,589  (1)  68,585

  Total liabilities  3,031,640  1,015,779  578,470  (1,310,675)  3,315,214
 Shareholders’ equity:
  Common stock  690  547  537,944  (538,491)  690
  Additional paid-in capital  669,156  1,438,763  4,303,169  (5,741,814)  669,274
  (Accumulated deficit) Retained earnings  (721,829)  57,938  (597,425)  497,946  (763,370)
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  3,679,725  3,600,217  83,097  (7,297,375)  65,664

       3,627,742  5,097,465  4,326,785  (13,079,734)  (27,742)
  Less treasury stock, at cost  (76,086)  –    –    –    (76,086)

  Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)  3,551,656  5,097,465  4,326,785  (13,079,734)  (103,828)

  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit) $ 6,583,296 $ 6,113,244 $ 4,905,255 $ (14,390,409) $ 3,211,386
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Consolidating Statement of Operations 
Year Ended September 30, 2007 

    Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Net sales $ 398,474 $ 578,971 $ 1,145,238 $ (128,161) $ 1,994,522
Cost of goods sold  252,715  427,338  675,200  (128,303)  1,226,950
Restructuring and related charges  540  12,941  17,834  –    31,315

 Gross profit  145,219  138,692  452,204  142  736,257
Operating expenses: 
 Selling  70,296  80,176  270,256  (434)  420,294
 General and administrative  (371,865)  151,332  374,703  –    154,170
 Research and development  16,031  4,654  4,437  –    25,122
 Restructuring and related charges  30,352  8,018  21,355  –    59,725
 Goodwill and intangibles impairment  214,039  1,000  23,400  –    238,439

       (41,147)  245,180  694,151  (434)  897,750
Operating income (loss)  186,366  (106,488)  (241,947)  576  (161,493)
Interest expense  139,124  (18,744)  24,785  50,065  195,230
Other expense (income), net  377,889  214,490  (5,753)  (586,957)  (331)
(Loss) income from continuing operations 
 before income taxes  (330,647)  (302,234)  (260,979)  537,468  (356,392)
Income tax expense (benefit)  88,086  23,403  (16,894)  (38,879)  55,716

(Loss) income from continuing operations  (418,733)  (325,637)  (244,085)  576,347  (412,108)
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax  (167,684)  (1,400)  (15,521)  –    (184,605)

Net (loss) income $ (586,417) $ (327,037) $ (259,606) $ 576,347 $ (596,713)

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended September 30, 2007 

   Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 339,184 $ (99,685) $ (121,297) $ (151,183) $ (32,981)
Cash flows from investing activities:
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (7,806)  (3,010)  (11,285)  –    (22,101)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment  –    –    1,572  –    1,572
 Intercompany investments  (27,758)  22,758  5,000  –    –

Net cash (used) provided by investing activities 
 of continuing operations   (35,564)  19,748  (4,713)  –    (20,529)
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities 
 of discontinued operations   –    (2,200)  –    –    (2,200)

Net cash (used) provided by investing activities  (35,564)  17,548  (4,713)  –    (22,729)
Cash flows from financing activities:
 Reduction of debt  (1,181,027)  –    (847,522)  –    (2,028,549)
 Proceeds from debt financing  1,547,500  –    629,123  –    2,176,623
 Debt issuance costs  (43,969)  –    –    –    (43,969)
 Payments of capital lease obligations  –    –    (8,730)  –    (8,730)
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options  655  –    –    –    655
 Stock option income tax benefit  37  –    –    –    37
 Treasury stock purchases  (3,003)  –    –    –    (3,003)
 (Advances related to) proceeds from intercompany transactions (614,887)  82,234  381,470  151,183  –

Net cash (used) provided by financing activities  (294,694)  82,234  154,341  151,183  93,064
Effect of exchange rate changes on 
 cash and cash equivalents  –    –    4,069  –    4,069

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  8,926  97  32,400  –    41,423
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  2,676  1,376  24,378  –    28,430

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 11,602 $ 1,473 $ 56,778 $ –   $ 69,853
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Consolidating Balance Sheet 
September 30, 2006 

   Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,676 $ 1,376 $ 24,378 $ –   $ 28,430
 Receivables:
  Trade accounts receivables, net of allowances  99,605  42,360  187,315  –  329,280
  Other  40,203  201,810  23,847  (229,608)  36,252
 Inventories  221,545  53,633  192,688  (7,194)  460,672
 Deferred income taxes  33,787  10,565  4,294  1,755  50,401
 Assets held for sale  337  –  3,162  –  3,499
 Prepaid expenses and other  25,601  3,288  22,392  –  51,281

 Total current assets  423,754  313,032  458,076  (235,047)  959,815
Property, plant and equipment, net  80,809  63,506  167,524  –  311,839
Deferred charges and other  782,811  (307,735)  (115,389)  (310,659)  49,028
Goodwill  306,639  452,526  368,695  2,324  1,130,184
Intangible assets, net  167,755  676,236  217,284  (188)  1,061,087
Debt issuance costs  37,367  –  –  –  37,367
Investments in subsidiaries  5,170,220  4,399,464  3,763,656  (13,333,340)  –

  Total assets $ 6,969,355 $ 5,597,029 $ 4,859,846 $ (13,876,910) $ 3,549,320

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
 Current maturities of long-term debt $ 29,715 $ – $ 36,082 $ (23,084) $ 42,713
 Accounts payable  401,385  186,406  173,280  (451,960)  309,111
 Accrued liabilities:
  Wages and benefits  7,641  7,028  26,282  –  40,951
  Income taxes payable  10,797  2,753  8,948  –  22,498
  Restructuring and related charges  17,258  14,435  13,833  –  45,526
  Accrued interest  36,333  –  641  –  36,974
  Liabilities held for sale  –  –  –    –  –
  Other  18,241  4,882  41,717  –  64,840

  Total current liabilities  521,370  215,504  300,783  (475,044)  562,613
Long-term debt, net of current maturities  2,214,332  (13,215)  70,232  (36,891)  2,234,458
Employee benefit obligations, net of current portion  26,556  5,386  44,951  –  76,893
Deferred income taxes  (41,143)  219,134  (21,413)  –  156,578
Other   732  –    65,829  –  66,561

  Total liabilities  2,721,847  426,809  460,382  (511,935)  3,097,103
Shareholders’ equity:
  Common stock  674  547  537,237  (537,784)  674
  Additional paid-in capital  651,526  1,488,337  4,413,930  (5,902,149)  651,644
  (Accumulated deficit) Retained earnings  (126,084)  35,527  (115,942)  39,842  (166,657)
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  3,794,475  3,645,809  (435,761)  (6,964,884)  39,639

       4,320,591  5,170,220  4,399,464  (13,364,975)  525,300
  Less treasury stock, at cost  (73,083)  –  –  –  (73,083)

  Total shareholders’ equity  4,247,508  5,170,220  4,399,464  (13,364,975)  452,217

  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 6,969,355 $ 5,597,029 $ 4,859,846 $ (13,876,910) $ 3,549,320
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Consolidating Statement of Operations
Year Ended September 30, 2006

   Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Net sales $ 410,697 $ 522,960 $ 1,106,467 $ (145,383) $ 1,894,741
Cost of goods sold  251,982  372,198  685,413  (144,538)  1,165,055
Restructuring and related charges  –    4,682  17,770  –    22,452

 Gross profit  158,715  146,080  403,284  (845)  707,234
Operating expenses:
 Selling  77,183  70,444  246,505  (112)  394,020
 General and administrative  159,753  (62,378)  60,517  –    157,892
 Research and development  19,610  5,252  4,347  –    29,209
 Restructuring and related charges  1,369  2,766  8,083  –    12,218
 Goodwill and intangibles impairment  –    142,919  290,059  –    432,978

       257,915  159,003  609,511  (112)  1,026,317

Operating (loss) income  (99,200)  (12,923)  (206,227)  (733)  (319,083)
Interest expense  58,883  40,028  23,409  668  122,988
Other expense (income), net  330,053  246,844  (1,274)  (579,557)  (3,934)

(Loss) income from continuing operations 
 before income taxes  (488,136)  (299,795)  (228,362)  578,156  (438,137)
Income tax (benefit) expense  (39,239)  22,032  (6,068)  581  (22,694)

(Loss) income from continuing operations  (448,897)  (321,827)  (222,294)  577,575  (415,443)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax  16,186  11,100  (45,815)  –    (18,529)

Net (loss) income $ (432,711) $ (310,727) $ (268,109) $ 577,575 $ (433,972)

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended September 30, 2006 

   Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities $ (512,077) $ 198,632 $ 291,172 $ 69,066 $ 46,793
Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (17,465)  (5,427)  (32,053)  –    (54,945)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment  4,831  –    608  –    5,439
 Proceeds from sale of assets held for sale  10,641  –    –    –    10,641
 Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired  (7,363)  (1,728)  (9,410)  –    (18,501)
 Intercompany investments  (337,386)  178,635  158,751  –    –

Net cash (used) provided by investing activities 
 of continuing operations   (346,742)  171,480  117,896  –    (57,366)
Net cash provided by investing activities 
 of discontinued operations  (5,424)  –    83,430  –    78,007

Net cash (used) provided by investing activities  (352,165)  171,480  201,326  –    20,641
Cash flows from financing activities:
 Reduction of debt  (817,498)  –    (138,570)  –    (956,068)
 Proceeds from debt financing  817,719  –    80,801  –    898,520
 Debt issuance costs  (5,236)  –    –    –    (5,236)
 Payments of capital lease obligations  –    –    (4,131)  –    (4,131)
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options  365  –    –    –    365
 Stock option income tax benefit  80  –    –    –    80
 Treasury stock purchases  (2,263)  –    –    –    (2,263)
 Proceeds from (advances related to) intercompany transactions  857,996  (371,393)  (417,537)  (69,066)  –  

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities  851,163  (371,393)  (479,437)  (69,066)  (68,733)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  –   –  (122)  –  (122)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (13,079)  (1,281)  12,939  –    (1,422)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  15,756  2,657  11,439  –    29,852

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 2,677 $ 1,376 $ 24,378 $ –   $ 28,430
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Consolidating Statement of Operations 
Year Ended September 30, 2005 

   Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Net sales $ 565,707 $ 276,431 $ 1,031,320 $ (111,279) $ 1,762,179
Cost of goods sold  339,367  219,133  628,210  (110,345)  1,076,365
Restructuring and related charges  –    255  10,241  –    10,496

 Gross profit  226,340  57,043  392,869  (934)  675,318
Operating expenses:
 Selling  114,850  29,109  221,924  (430)  365,453
 General and administrative  57,224  810  62,141  –    120,175
 Research and development  22,760  3,507  3,072  –    29,339
 Restructuring and related charges  6,074  (337)  506  –    6,243

       200,908  33,089  287,643  (430)  521,210

Operating income  25,432  23,954  105,226  (504)  154,108
Interest expense  103,019  177  4,428  –    107,624
Other (income) expense, net  (143,484)  20,116  24,172  100,546  1,350

Income from continuing operations before income taxes  65,897  3,661  76,626  (101,050)  45,134
Income tax expense  (14,447)  (1,132)  31,175  (88)  15,508

Income from continuing operations  80,344  4,793  45,451  (100,962)  29,626
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax  (32,434)  44,171  5,469  –    17,206

Net income $ 47,910 $ 48,964 $ 50,920 $ (100,962) $ 46,832

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended September 30, 2005 

   Guarantor Nonguarantor  Consolidated
 Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 168,838 $ (21,391) $ 70,254 $ –   $ 217,701
Cash flows from investing activities:
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (16,795)  (3,645)  (36,302)  –    (56,742)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment  15  9  153  –    177
 Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired  (1,152,283)  (26,000)  (451,872)  –    (1,630,155)
 Intercompany investments  (523,789)  332,358  191,431  –    –

Net cash used by investing activities 
 of continuing operations  (1,692,852)  302,722  (296,590)  –    (1,686,720)
Net cash used by investing activities 
 of discontinued operations  –    (6,008)  (1,100)  –    (7,108)

Net cash used by investing activities  (1,692,852)  296,714  (297,690)  –    (1,693,828)
Cash flows from financing activities:
 Reduction of debt  (1,080,951)  –    –    –    (1,080,951)
 Proceeds from debt financing  2,563,132  –    18,246  –    2,581,378
 Debt issuance costs  (31,713)  –    –    –    (31,713)
 Payments of capital lease obligations  (1,174)  –    (7,700)  –    (8,874)
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options  18,413  –    –    –    18,413
 Stock option income tax benefit  10,732  –    –    –    10,732
 Treasury stock purchases  (1,106)  –    –    –    (1,106)
 Payments from officers/shareholders  3,605  –    –    –    3,605
 Proceeds from (advances related to) intercompany transactions 58,656  (272,719)  214,063  –    –

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities  1,539,594  (272,719)  224,609  –    1,491,484
Net used by discontinued operations  –    –    –    –    –
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
 and cash equivalents  –    –    524  –    524

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  15,580  2,604  (2,303)  –    15,881
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  176  53  13,742  –    13,971

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 15,756 $ 2,657 $ 11,439 $ –   $ 29,852
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Spectrum Brands, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of Spectrum Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) 
as of September 30, 2007 and 2006, and the related consoli-
dated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity (defi cit) 
and comprehensive income (loss) and cash fl ows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended September 30, 2007. In 
connection with our audits of the consolidated fi nancial state-
ments, we also have audited the fi nancial statement schedule as 
listed in Item 15(a)2. These consolidated fi nancial statements 
and fi nancial statement schedule are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements and fi nancial 
statement schedule based on our audits. 

 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
fi nancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements referred 
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial posi-
tion of Spectrum Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 
2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash 
fl ows for each of the years in the three-year period ended Sep-
tember 30, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related fi nancial 
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic 
consolidated fi nancial statements taken as a whole, presents 
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

Effective September 30, 2007, the Company adopted State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158 “Employers’ 
Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans.” 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the effectiveness of Spectrum Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries’ 
internal control over fi nancial reporting as of September 30, 
2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Inte-
grated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our 
report dated December 14, 2007 expressed an unqualifi ed opin-
ion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation 
of, internal control over fi nancial reporting. 

 

Atlanta, Georgia 
December 14, 2007 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

FIN_wpc.indd   76 2/25/08   11:04:19 AM



SPECTRUM BRANDS |  2007  ANNUAL  REPORT    77

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Spectrum Brands, Inc.: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the 
accompanying “Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controls 
Over Financial Reporting” as set forth in Item 9A of Spectrum 
Brands, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Sep-
tember 30, 2007, that Spectrum Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
Company) maintained effective internal control over fi nancial 
reporting as of September 30, 2007, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Com-
mittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintain-
ing effective internal control over fi nancial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial 
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on manage-
ment’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Com-
pany’s internal control over fi nancial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over fi nancial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over fi nancial reporting, evaluating manage-
ment’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operat-
ing effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a pro-
cess designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control 
over fi nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly refl ect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assur-
ance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of fi nancial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi-
tures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; 
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition 
of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
fi nancial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inade-
quate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company 
maintained effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as 
of September 30, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework issued by the COSO. Also, in our opinion, the Com-
pany maintained, in all material respects, effective internal con-
trol over fi nancial reporting as of September 30, 2007, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
issued by the COSO. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated balance sheets of Spectrum Brands, Inc. and 
subsidiaries as of September 30, 2007 and 2006, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity 
(defi cit) and comprehensive income (loss) and cash fl ows for 
each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 
2007, and our report dated December 14, 2007 expressed an 
unqualifi ed opinion on those consolidated fi nancial statements. 
Our report refers to the Company’s adoption of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 158 “Employers’ Account-
ing for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Postretirement Plans,” 
effective September 30, 2007. 

 

 

Atlanta, Georgia 
December 14, 2007 
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Spectrum Brands, Inc.: 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registra-
tion statement (No. 333-135274) on Form S-3 and (Nos. 333-
39239, 333-41815, 333-42443, 333-68250, and 333-117567) 
on Forms S-8, of Spectrum Brands, Inc. of our reports dated 
December 14, 2007, with respect to the consolidated balance 
sheets of Spectrum Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) 
as of September 30, 2007 and 2006, and the related consoli-
dated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity (defi cit) 
and comprehensive income (loss) and cash fl ows and the related 
fi nancial statement schedule for each of the years in the three-
year period ended September 30, 2007, and management’s 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial 
reporting as of September 30, 2007, and the effectiveness of 
internal control over fi nancial reporting as of September 30, 
2007, which reports appear in the annual report on Form 10-K 
of Spectrum Brands, Inc. 

 

Our report refers to the Company’s adoption of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Account-
ing for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Postretirement Plans,” 
as of September 30, 2007. 

 

 

Atlanta, Georgia 
December 14, 2007  
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CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Kent J. Hussey, Chief Executive Offi cer, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Spectrum 
Brands, Inc. (the “registrant”); 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the fi nancial statements and other fi nan-
cial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of 
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I are responsible for 
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal 
control over fi nancial reporting (as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused 
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

b)   Designed such internal control over fi nancial reporting, or 
caused such internal control over fi nancial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting and the prepara-
tion of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls 
and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, 
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal 
control over fi nancial reporting that occurred during the regis-
trant’s most recent fi scal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fi scal 
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I have disclosed, based 
on our most recent evaluation of internal control over fi nancial report-
ing, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s 
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a)  All signifi cant defi ciencies and material weaknesses in the design 
or operation of internal control over fi nancial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report fi nancial information; and 

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
other employees who have a signifi cant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting. 

Date: December 14, 2007 /s/ Kent J. Hussey

      Kent J. Hussey
    Chief Executive Offi cer

I, Anthony L. Genito, Chief Financial Offi cer, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Spectrum 
Brands, Inc. (the “registrant”); 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the fi nancial statements and other fi nan-
cial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of 
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I are responsible 
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and inter-
nal control over fi nancial reporting (as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused 
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

b)  Designed such internal control over fi nancial reporting, or 
caused such internal control over fi nancial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting and the prepara-
tion of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls 
and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, 
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal 
control over fi nancial reporting that occurred during the regis-
trant’s most recent fi scal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fi scal 
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I have disclosed, based 
on our most recent evaluation of internal control over fi nancial report-
ing, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s 
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a)  All signifi cant defi ciencies and material weaknesses in the design 
or operation of internal control over fi nancial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report fi nancial information; and 

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management 
or other employees who have a signifi cant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting. 

Date: December 14, 2007 /s/ Anthony L. Genito

     Anthony L. Genito
    Chief Financial Offi cer 
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CERTIFICATIONS 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY 
ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Spectrum 
Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fi scal year ended Septem-
ber 30, 2007 as fi led with the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kent J. Hussey, as Chief 
Executive Offi cer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the fi nancial condition and results of operations 
of the Company. 

 

  /s/ Kent J. Hussey

Name:  Kent J. Hussey
Title:  Chief Executive Offi cer
 

Date: December 14, 2007 

This certifi cation accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed 
fi led by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to liabil-
ity under that section. This certifi cation shall not be deemed 
incorporated by reference in any fi ling under the Securities Act or 
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifi cally 
incorporates it by reference. 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 
906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or other-
wise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the 
electronic version of this written statement required by Section 
906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained 
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or its staff upon request. 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY 
ACT OF 2002 

 
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Spectrum 

Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fi scal year ended Septem-
ber 30, 2007 as fi led with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Anthony L. Genito, as Chief 
Financial Offi cer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the fi nancial condition and results of operations 
of the Company. 

 

  /s/ Anthony L. Genito

Name:  Anthony L. Genito
Title:  Chief Financial Offi cer

 

Date: December 14, 2007 

This certifi cation accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed 
fi led by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to liabil-
ity under that section. This certifi cation shall not be deemed 
incorporated by reference in any fi ling under the Securities Act or 
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifi cally 
incorporates it by reference. 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 
906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or other-
wise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the 
electronic version of this written statement required by Section 
906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by 
the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or its staff upon request. 
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Financial Highlights
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Net Sales $ 1,994.5 $ 1,894.7 $ 1,762.2 $ 1,417.2 $ 922.1

Net (loss) income  (596.7)  (434.0)  46.8  55.8  15.5

Diluted (loss) EPS $ (11.72) $ (8.77) $ 1.03 $ 1.61 $ 0.48

Diluted EPS, as adjusted  0.02  0.39  1.26  1.83  1.27

Note: See page 9 for reconciliation to U.S. GAAP fi nancial results.

Spectrum Brands is a global consumer products company. 

Our portfolio of leading brands includes products in the 

battery, specialty pet supply, lawn and garden, shaving and 

grooming, personal care, household insect control and 

portable lighting categories. These products are sold by the 

world’s top 25 retailers and are available in more than one 

million retail stores in more than 120 countries around the 

world. Headquartered in Atlanta, we have approximately 

7,100 employees worldwide. Spectrum Brands’ shares trade 

on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol SPC.

Spectrum Brands

Seated (left to right): Tony Genito, Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Offi cer; Kent Hussey, Chief Executive Offi cer. 
Standing (left to right): Dave Lumley, President, Global Batteries & 
Personal Care and Co-Chief Operating Offi cer; Amy Yoder, President, 
United Industries; John Heil, President, Global Pet Supplies and 
Co-Chief Operating Offi cer. 

Corporate and Shareholder Information

Executive Offices
Six Concourse Parkway
Suite 3300
Atlanta, GA 30328
(770) 829-6200

Transfer Agent/Shareholder Services
BNY Shareowner Services is the transfer agent for the 
Company’s common stock and is responsible for maintaining 
shareholder account records. Inquiries regarding account 
records, address changes, stock transfers, lost certifi cates, 
or other related issues should be directed to:

BNY Shareowner Services
480 Washington Blvd.
Jersey City, NJ 07310
(800) 777-3694
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner

Certifications
On May 23, 2007, in accordance with Section 303A.12 
of the Listed Company Manual, our Chief Executive 
Offi cer certifi ed to the New York Stock Exchange that he 
was not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE 
corporate governance listing standards as of such date. 
In addition, on December 14, 2007, our Chief Executive 
Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer each fi led a certifi cation 
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act relating to 
the quality of the Company’s public disclosure as exhibits 
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 
year 2007. 

Forward-Looking Information
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements which 
are subject to change. Actual results could differ materially. 
Risks and uncertainties which could cause results to differ are 
detailed in Item 1A in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended September 30, 2007, and other fi lings 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

Additional Information
Financial and other information about Spectrum Brands, 
including a direct link to the Company’s fi lings with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, is available on 
Spectrum Brands’ website at www.spectrumbrands.com. 
Investors may also request information about Spectrum 
Brands or printed copies of documents at (770) 829-6200 
or at investorrelations@spectrumbrands.com.

Stock Exchange Listing
Spectrum Brands’ common stock is listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “SPC.” The following 
table sets forth the reported high and low prices per share 
of the common stock as reported on the New York Stock 
Exchange composite transactions reporting system for each 
fi scal quarter of 2007 and 2006:

Fiscal 2007   High  Low

Quarter ended September 30, 2007 $ 6.93 $ 3.77
Quarter ended July 1, 2007 $ 8.64 $ 6.26
Quarter ended April 1, 2007 $ 12.50 $ 4.62
Quarter ended December 31, 2006 $ 11.33 $ 7.59

Fiscal 2006   High  Low

Quarter ended September 30, 2006 $ 12.82 $ 6.00
Quarter ended July 2, 2006 $ 21.84 $ 11.85
Quarter ended April 2, 2006 $ 22.42 $ 17.34
Quarter ended January 1, 2006 $ 23.70 $ 16.00

We have not declared or paid, and do not anticipate paying, 
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We intend to 
retain any future earnings for reinvestment in our business. 
In addition, the terms of our credit facility and the indentures 
governing our outstanding senior subordinated notes restrict 
our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders. 

Designed and produced by Corporate Reports Inc./Atlanta     www.corporatereport.com
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